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I. Letter to Shareholders
Operating Performance in 2021
It has been a transition year for TaiMed in 2021. We have completed many milestones in
positioning the company for robust growth and value creation in the next few years. The results
from the TMB-365 phase 1 study vastly exceeded expectations and showed great promise for its
development into a long-acting agent for HIV treatment with quarterly dosing. We successfully
manufactured GMP batches of TMB-365 and TMB-380 in full scale in our own Zhubei protein
manufacturing facility, paving the way for our plan to enter contract development and
manufacturing (CDMO) business. The manufacture of Trogarzo at Samsung Biologics Laboratories
has been officially approved by the US FDA, ensuring long-term stability of commercial supply at a
substantially higher profit margin. We have completed the IV Push phase 3 study of Trogarzo with
result fully meeting our expectation. A sBLA for its marketing approval is currently under review
by the FDA. In addition, the phase 3 PK bridging study of Trogarzo IM (intramuscular injection),
fully funded by our marketing partner Theratechnologies and managed by TaiMed, is well
underway and scheduled to complete in 2022.
Despite the continued COVID pandemic throughout 2021, our internal clinical and manufacturing
programs forged ahead thanks in large part to the Taiwan government’s superior management of
public health and the full cooperation by the citizens, which kept infection at an incredibly low level
for the most part of the year. This enabled TaiMed to operate at essentially full capacity in 2021.
The main thrust in our R&D pipeline is the development of TMB-365/TMB-380 as a combination
treatment for first line HIV maintenance. TMB-365 is a second generation Trogarzo, licensed from
Rockefeller University. TMB-380, on the other hand, is a second generation, broadly neutralizing
human monoclonal antibody, licensed from US NIH. TMB-365 binds to the CD4 receptor of the
immune cells while TMB-380 targets the CD4 binding site of the virus gp-120 to prevent viral
entry. Both antibodies’ safety and efficacy profiles are well established leading us to believe the
combination project has a low development risk. Both TMB-365 and TMB-380 have been
engineered to enhance their respective PK profile. In a phase 1 clinical study by TaiMed, TMB-365
showed PK characteristics consistent with bimonthly to quarterly dosing. TMB-380 has been
previously shown in clinical trials by NIH to have a similar PK profile. We see a tremendous unmet
need in the maintenance segment of fully suppressed HIV patients. There is a significant burden
with daily oral pill regimens. Because HIV infection cannot be cured, it requires life-long treatment,
daily oral pill burden present serious difficulties for drug adherence. The TMB-365/TMB-380 longacting regimen, in addition to their relatively clean safety profiles, can be co-administered in one
intravenous infusion and won’t require any other HIV drugs to maintain viral suppression.
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We believe the long-acting treatment paradigm will dominate the maintenance therapy market that
is projected to grow to USD$10 billion by 2030. Currently, there is only one product approved:
ViiV’s Cabenuva, which requires bimonthly separate intramuscular injections of two drugs. The
only other long-acting drug candidates in development that we are aware of are the combination of
Gilead’s lenacapavir and Merck’s investigational drugs, which are on clinical hold due to safety
concerns. We have already received the FDA’s acceptance of our clinical trial design of the drug
combination and the full IND is currently under the FDA review, and we anticipate starting the
phase 1b/2a trial in Spring 2022 and entering late phase pivotal clinical trials in 2024.
TaiMed’s commercial product Trogarzo is indicated for the treatment of heavily treatmentexperienced HIV-infected patients. It was approved by the US FDA in 2018 and by the EU EMA
in 2019. TaiMed licensed the drug to Theratechnologies for US and EU marketing and
commercialization. Primarily due to the COVID pandemic, the sales performance by
Theratechnologies has not met our expectations. Currently, Theratechnologies is building internal
sales forces to replace their previous contract sales approach. We believe Trogarzo sales will
resume growth as the world reopens and comes out of the pandemic. In addition, the pending
approval of the more convenient administration by I.V. push and the anticipated phase 3 study
completion of IM administration in Q3 2022 followed by its approval in 2023 should further
enhance Trogarzo’s market growth. Nevertheless, Trogarzo does generate revenues for TaiMed to
help fund our clinical development program and expansion in manufacturing capabilities, thus
helping reduce our financial risk. We see Trogarzo as a bridge towards our long-term strategy,
and TaiMed’s real value lies in TMB-365/TMB-380 and the new CDMO business.
The global biologics contract manufacturing has been growing rapidly and this trend will continue
for years to come. Our 60,000 sq. ft. Zhubei GMP manufacturing facility is fully operational with
4x2,000L bioreactors. It supports our pipeline projects and we have successfully manufactured
GMP batches of TMB-365 and TMB-380 in 2021. The US FDA has confirmed an on-site
inspection for April 2022. Our manufacturing team of over 60 experienced professionals includes
up-stream cell culture, down-stream purification, QA/QC and facility engineering. Beginning in
2022, we will launch contract manufacturing and mainly compete for projects in clinical
development and early commercial launch stages.
New drug development is a high-risk endeavor. Since the beginning, TaiMed has always carefully
managed risk and our corporate long-term strategy to maximize probability of success and return on
investment. With the global trend of controlling health care cost and drug prices and the everincreasing cost of developing new drugs, it is prudent that we take the two-pronged approach for
value creation by leveraging our existing manufacturing capabilities and venturing into the CDMO
business.
2

In the last 13 years, we have successfully developed a first-in-class HIV drug marketed in the US
and Europe and firmly established an experienced manufacturing and R&D team in Taiwan with a
fully operational, state-of-the-art GMP biologics manufacturing facility. The TMB-365/TMB-380
project remains our top priority, and we are fast tracking its clinical development to benefit HIV
patients and our shareholders. We truly appreciate your continued support as we work diligently
towards developing new medicines for patients in need around the world.

1. Budget implementation
Unit: NT$ thousands
Items

Budget

Operating revenue

Actual

Difference

723,953

413,442

(310,511)

(423,220)

(329,487)

93,733

300,733

83,955

(216,778)

42%

20%

(22%)

Operating expenses

(634,485)

(570,322)

64,163

Operating profit/loss

(333,752)

(486,367)

(152,615)

652

15,434

14,782

(333,100)

(470,933)

(137,833)

Operating costs
Gross pofit
Gross profit ratio

Non-operating proift/loss
Net loss

The main reason for the difference is that due to the COVID-19 pandemic, marketing partner
Theratechnologies continued to make inventory adjustments and orders decreased, so operating
revenue did not meet the expected budget target.
The low operating profit for the current period was mainly due to the estimated shelf life of
some SBL products in process that could not meet the minimum shelf life stipulated in the sales
contract. Therefore, the inventory allowance loss of NT$74,758 thousands was recored in 2021
as the item of "other operating cost". Gross margin on product sales was in line with the budget
target
2. Profitability analysis
Unit: NT$ thousands
Items

Financial results

2021

Operating revenue

413,422

Gross pofit

83,955

Sales expenses

(63,131)

Management expenses

(46,591)

R&D expenses

(460,600)
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Profitability

Non-operating proift/loss

15,434

Net Loss in 2021
Return on assets (%)

(470,933)
(9.48)

Return on shareholders’ equity (%)

(14.82)

Profit ratio (%)

(113.91)

Basic after-tax EPS (NT$)

(1.87)

3. Research and development status
Unit: NT$ thousands
Items

Year

2021

Consolidated R&D expenses

460,600

Paid-in capital at the end of year

2,523,270

Ratio of R&D expenses to paid-in capital (%)

18.25%

Business Plan for 2022
1. Business objectives

Major Projects

Business Development Plan and Guideline

‧Business

1. Fully cooperate with our marketing partner Theratechnologies
and continue to strengthen the sales of Trogarzo.
2. Entrust Samsung Biologics with the establishment of the second
supply system for Trogarzo approved by FDA and EMA.
3. Clinical trials drug supply and CDMO development of the
protein factory in Hsinchu Biomedical Science Park.

‧Management

Strengthen the internal management, including various management
tasks such as operation, production, sales and accounting.

‧R&D

1. sBLA to the US FDA for Trogarzo IV Push injection.
2. Clinical trial for Trogarzo IM injection
3. Clinical trial for TMB-365/380 combination

2. Sales forecast and sales policy
For the expected future sales and production and sales policies, please refer to business
operating results.
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Future company development strategy
 The new anti-HIV drug TMB-355 (Trogarzo) has been officially sold in the United States at the
end of April 2018 and has been officially sold in Europe starting from September 2020 (where
Germany is the first country). In the future, the sales area will be gradually expanded to include
other countries.
 The supplemental biologics license application (sBLA) of Trogarzo IV Push has been formally
submitted to the US FDA on December, 2021. TaiMed continue to implement the phase III
clinical trils of Trogarzo IM injection and marketing approval application afterlate.
 TaiMed R&D will focus on the clinical trials of the combination of TMB-365 and TMB-380,
targeting the market for first-line maintenance therapy, with the goal of obtaining new drug
approval in the United States and Europe in the future..
 In addition to the original commissioning of WuXi Biologics to the commercial production of
Trogarzo, Samsung Biologics will be the main supply system in the future. The company’s
Zhubei plant will prioritize the implementation of the next-generation new AIDS drugs such as
TMB-365 and TMB-380, and strive to pass the GMP inspection and verification of the US FDA,
so as to obtain the CDMO's commissioned production and development business.
 Collab with world-class biotechnology and pharmaceutical R&D institutions or companies as
well as Taiwanese and overseas scientists in the fields of research, development, clinical trials,
manufacturing, and commercialization, and, at the same time, strive for domestic and foreign
financial resources and government support.
 For long-term development, we will focus on technological innovation, development and
operational efficiency, introduce new R&D projects in a timely manner, balance the R&D
portfolio, and pursue the company's maximum value.

Impact of external competition, legal and overall business environment
(1) External Competition Environment
Biotechnology is a knowledge-intensive and capital-intensive industry that generally faces
difficulties such as capital investment, extremely high risks, difficulty in fund-raising, and
difficulty in obtaining talents. In response to the challenges of this external environment, the
company's main core strategy and value is to focus on the existing preclinical trials and clinical
trial protocols so that the milestones at each stage of the drug research and development will
create different values. Through the cooperation with the academic and R&D unit, a complete
patent portfolio and pre-clinical trial can be carried out before the clinical trial protocol, IND
application, and relevant clinical trials. At the same time, we also collaborate with international
pharmaceutical company through a strategic alliance so that the collaborative R&D and
5

collaborative marketing after drug launching can be carried out for these products with
development potential. In the future, the company will connect with the external environment
to turn competition and challenges into opportunities and creating benefits.
(2) Legal environment
On June 15, 2007, the government has passed the "Regulations on the Development of the
Biotechnology and New Drug Industry" and through tax incentives and other measures to inject
innovative energy into Taiwan biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry, leading the industry
to develop towards high value-added biotechnology and pharmaceutical products. On December
21, 2011, the Legislative Yuan passed the latest amendment. In addition to extending the
implementation period to December 31, 2031, the scope of incentives was expanded and various
investment credits were provided for the domestic biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry,
and the participation of high-level professional and technical personnel Business and other
preferential measures, the progress of these regulations has also made my country's new drug
research and development industry gradually internationalized, encouraged advanced medical
care and cross-domain cooperation, and developed high-tech threshold products, promoting
research and development and manufacturing equal emphasis, attracting private capital
investment and strengthening talent retention Talent incentives.
(3) Overall business environment
As the global population is aging and there are currently no cures for many serious diseases, the
demand for new drugs has increased. At the same time, market demand and competition have
caused changes in the industrial structure over the years. Alliances and mergers between major
pharmaceutical companies and biotech companies, strict regulatory environment, etc., are all
factors that accelerate the transformation of the entire pharmaceutical industry. Compared with
other industries facing the overall environmental impact, the pharmaceutical market has grown
year by year due to the advent of an aging society. Therefore, the overall business environment
is quite favorable for the biotech and new pharmaceuticals industry.

Thank every shareholder for your support. The company's goal is to become a world-class,
innovation-based biotechnology company dedicated to the prevention and treatment of viral diseases
that cause great harm to human health. In the future, we will continue to fulfill our goal of
internationalization and seek the best interests of all shareholders. We also hope that all shareholders
will continue to support the company and jointly create the greatest value of TaiMed Biologics

TaiMed Biologics Inc.
Chairman James Chang
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II. Company Profile
2.1 Date of Incorporation：September 5, 2007
2.2 Company History
Sep 2007

Sep
Oct
Mar
2008
May
Sep

Nov
Dec
Mar
2009
Apr
May-Dec

Nov
Mar
2010
May
Jun
Dec
Mar
2011
Apr

TaiMed Biologics Inc. established as a new drug development
company
Board of directors elected Ing-Wen Tsai, Ph.D as the first
chairperson of TaiMed
TaiMed and Genentech signed an exclusive license agreement for
anti-cd4 antibody known as Ibalizumab (TMB-355).
Invested to establish a 100% owned subsidiary TaiMed Biologics
USA
Appointed James Chang as CEO of TaiMed
Initiated the HIV second phase IIb clinical trial on Ibalizumab
(TMB-355) IV injection.
Qualified as new drug company under the “Act for the
development of Biotech and new pharmaceuticals industry” from
MOEA
Ms. Tsai Ing-wen resigned, and the board of directors re-elected
Mr. De-Cheng Tu as the new chairman.
Exclusively licensed Tamiphosphor project from Academia
Sinica to conduct a preclinical experiment.
Mr. De-Cheng Tu resigned, and the board of directors re-elected
Mr. Kung-Ming Lu as the new chairman
Company name in Chinese changed to 中裕新藥
Organize the three capital increases through the investment in
technology shares. A total of 27,060,000 shares were issued at
NT$10 per share and the paid-in capital amounted to
NT$1,240,600,000 after the capital increases.
TMB-355 prevention research subsidies from Bill & Melinda
Gates Foundation
Organize a cash capital increase by issuing new shares of
NT$690,000,000. The paid-in capital after the capital increase is
NT$1,930,600,000.
Approval for TaiMed shares retroactive handling of public
issuance procedure from Securities and Futures Bureau.
Listed on Emerging Market in Taipei Exchange Market.
The board of directors elected Hui Hong Investment Co., Ltd. as
chairman
Exclusively licensed two HIV treatment projects from Ambrilia
Biopharma Inc. One is Protease Inhibitor (PI), the other is
Integrase Inhibitor (INI)
TMB USA, 100% of TaiMed subsidiary, exclusively licensed the
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Jun
Jul 2012
Oct
Jan 2013
Feb
Jun
Jan 2014
Mar
7月

Oct
Oct

Dec

Feb 2015

Aug
Nov

Nov
Mar 2016

Aug
Nov

Fusion Proteins technology from Rockefeller University
Hui Hong Investment Co., Ltd. reappoints the corporate
representative Shiu-Nan Huang as the chairman
TaiMed and WuXi Apptec signed the CMO contract for TMB355.
Complete the Phase I human clinical trial of Ibalizumab (TMB355), a new subcutaneous injection drug for AIDS
Hui Hong Investment Co., Ltd reappoints the corporate
representative Frank Chen as the chairman
A new subcutaneous injection of Ibalizumab (TMB-355), was
approved by TFDA, and clinical Phase I/II trials started.
The board of directors elected Frank Chen as the chairman of the
company
TaiMed office and Lab relocated to Ruigang Road, Neihu
Science Park
Terminated the project of Tamiphosphor, licensing from
Academia Sinica
Terminated the project of integrase Inhibitor (INI), licensing
from Ambrilia Biopharma Inc.
Terminated the project of Fusion Proteins technology, licensing
from Rockefeller University.
The new anti-HIV drug TMB-355 was approved by the U.S.
FDA as an orphan drug after being applied to patients with
multiple drug resistance.
Transferred the new technology rights of TMB-355 Ibalizumab
second-generation (LM 52) from TMB USA licensed by
Rockefeller University to TaiMed Biologics.
The new anti-HIV drug TMB-355 was approved by the U.S. FDA
as a breakthrough therapy after it was applied to multi-drug
resistant patients.
Initiated TMB-355 IV injection Phase III clinical study for HIV
in US and Taiwan.
Handle the cash capital increase and issue 30,000,000 new
shares before the initial listing. The raised capital is
NT$3,450,000,000, and the paid-in capital after the capital
increase is NT$2,470,505,000.
Publicly listed on Taipei Exchange Market in Taiwan on 23
November, 2015
TaiMed and Theratechnologies signed an exclusive Marketing
and Distribution Agreement for Ibalizumab in U.S. and Canada
territory
Board of directors approved to build production facility in
Hsinchu Biomedical Science Park
TMB-355(ibalizumab) maintains significant reduction of viral
load in patients with multi-drug resistant HIV-1 over 24 Weeks
based on the results of the Phase III study TMB-355 trial.
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Dec
Mar 2017

Mar

Jul

Mar 2018

Apr
Apr
May
Aug
Mar 2019

Apr
Aug
Sep

Oct

Oct
Mar 2020

Aug

Sep
Mar 2021

Initiated TMB-607 Phase I study for HIV teatment in U.S.
TaiMed and Theratechnologies signed an exclusive Marketing
and Distribution Agreement for TMB-355(ibalizumab) in
Europe district.
The company and the world-renowned AIDS research center
ADARC signed a global exclusive license for the latest new
AIDS treatment drug Bispecific Antibodies.
The company received a notice from the U.S. FDA for priority
review of biologics license application (BLA) for the new antiHIV drug TMB-355
The U.S. FDA approved the biologics license application (BLA)
for the new anti-HIV drug TMB-355 (in the trade name of
Trogarzo).
The board of directors elected James Chang as chairman of the
company.
The new anti-HIV drug Trogarzo was officially launched for
sales in the United States.
The company purchased the real estate on Ruigang Road as the
company's operating office
TMB-355 Phase III pivotal trial results were published in The
New England Journal of Medicine
The company's new anti-HIV drug Trogarzo IV-push dosage
form has been approved by the U.S. FDA to conduct Phase III
clinical trials.
Bispecific Antibody, a new anti-HIV drug under development
by the company, began its Phase I clinical trial in US.
The company's new anti-HIV drug TMB-365 has been approved
by the U.S. FDA for the Phase I human clinical trials
The company's new anti-HIV drug Trogarzo IV-push officially
obtained the drug marketing license from European
Commission (EC).
The company’s subsidiary TMB USA and the National
Institutes of Health have agreed to transfer the latest patented
antibody technology VRC07-523LS for a new anti-HIV drug.
Considering the company's overall business strategy, the TMB607 new drug R&D project was terminated.
The company has reached a full agreement with American
companies Genentech and Biogen on the issue of royalties related
to the new anti-HIV drug Trogarzo
The company and Columbia University in the City of New York
signed a global exclusive license for the latest monoclonal
antibody for the prevention and treatment of COVID-19.
The new anti-HIV drug Trogarzo was officially launched for
sales in Europe and Germany.
The company adjust the COVID-19 antibody implementation
project that suspended internal development and made an equity
9

Sep
Oct
Dec
Feb 2022

Mar
Apr

Apr
Apr

investment in RenBio Inc.
The results of phase 3 study of Trogarzo IV Push successfully
met the target
TMB-365 was successfully completed the phase I study, and the
data results far exceeded the original set standards
The submission of sBLA to the U.S. FDA for the Trogarzo
intravenous (IV) push form of administration
The US FDA Approves Supplemental BLA Filing for The
Addition of Samsung Biologics in Korea for Commercial
Manufacturing of Trogarzo
TaiMed Expands Its Business Model from Biologic Drug
Innovator to CDMO
The US FDA Approves IND Applicaion for Bi-monthly and
Quarterly dosing of TMB-365/TMB-380 Combination for
Treatment of HIV Infection
Announcement of Change of the Company's CEO (President
/General Manager)
The European Medicines Agency(EMA) Approves Supplemental
BLA Filing for The Addition of Samsung Biologics in Korea for
Commercial Manufacturing of Trogarzo
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III. Corporate Governance Report
3.1

Organization

3.1.1 Organizational Chart
Shareholders
Meeting
Audit
Committee
Board of
Directors
Compensation
Committee

Internal
Audit
Chairman

CEO

Production &
Operations

R&D

Accounting
& Finance

3.1.2 Major Corporate Functions

Department
CEO
Internal Audit

R&D

Operation Contents
Strategic planning, business planning authorization and
supervision
To identify deficiencies in the internal control system, assess the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, and provide
appropriate improvement suggestions
Advanced product and technology research and development,
intellectual property development and management.。

Responsible for product manufacturing and production capacity
Production & Operations allocation、process development、Planning and execution of quality
control systems and supply chain management。

Accounting & Finance

Responsible for the summarization and supply of accounting
information, management and operation of finance and
investment, annual budget, credit control, and stocks services.
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3.2 Directors, Supervisors and Management Team
3.2.1 Directors and Supervisors
03/29/2022

96.9.3

3

Taiwan

108.6.6

993,409

0.39%

Shares

1,053,409

%

0.42%

39,932,000 15.82% 39,932,000 15.82%

Shares

%

Shares

Director

3

National
Development
Fund

3

Representive
Tai-Horng
Young
(Note1)

Taiwan

Male
59

96.9.3

108.6.6

Taiwan 109.4.20 109.4.20

2

0

0

0

0

39,932,000 15.82% 39,932,000 15.82%

0

0

0

0
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Other Position

%

2,069,355

0.82%

0

Ph.D., Chemical
Engineering, U. of
Washington, USA
Chief of Executive
0 Senior Director, Product Officer of TMB and
Development and Drug TMB USA
Delivery, Allergan Co.,
USA

0

0

0

0

－

0

0

0

0

Ph.D. in Pharmacy ,
Tokyo University of
Science, Japan
Director, The Institute of
Biochemistry and
Molecular Biology of
NTU college of
Medicine

0

0

0

0

－

0

Ph.D., Chemical
Engineering,NTU
Director, Institute
Biomedical
Engineering, NTU

Director
Representive Female
Taiwan 98.2.25 108.6.6
Lu-Ping Chou
63

Experience
（Education）

0

0

0

Relation

3

%

Spouse & Minor
Shareholding

Name

Taiwan 97.6.12 108.6.6

Shares

Current
Shareholding

Directors Who
are Spouses or
within Two
Degrees of
Kinship

Title

Terms (years)

National
Development
Fund

Date Elected

Male
63

Date First Elected

James Chang

Nationality/ Place of
Incorporatio

Chairman

Name

Gender/Age

Title

Shareholding
when Elected

Shareholding
by Nominee
Arrangement

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

Professor, The
Institute of
Biochemistry and
Molecular Biology of
NTU college of
Medicine

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

Professor, Institute of
of Biomedical
Engineering, NTU

Spouse & Minor
Shareholding

Male
64

Ruentex
Industries Co.
Ltd
Director

Representive
Tien-Chieh
Lee
(Note 3)

Male
63

Ruentex
Development
Co. Ltd.:

Taiwan 102.6.5 108.6.6

3

%

Shares

%

Shares

%

Shares

%

628,342

0.25%

628,342

0.25%

0

0

0

0

－

Taiwan 97.6.12 108.6.6

3

Taiwan 110.2.24 110.2.24

1

Taiwan 97.6.12 108.6.6

3

167,000

0.07%

167,000

0.07%

10,261,408 4.07% 10,261,408 4.07%

0

0

0

0

10,357,408 4.10% 10,357,408 4.10%

Male
63

Taiwan 107.9.7 108.6.6

3

0

0

0

0
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－

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

150,000

0.06%

0

0

Master degree from
Graduate Institute of BA,
National Taiwan U.
Deputy General Manager (Note 2)
of Investment and
Management Division,
Ruentex Group

0

0

0

0

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

4,000

0

0

0

Department of Business
Management, Datong
Institute of Technology
(Note 4)
Finance Vice President
of Ruentex Industries
Co. Ltd

0

0

0

0

－

0

Master of Laws,
University College
London
(Note 5)
Supervisor of SinoPac
Financial Holdings Co.,
Ltd

Director
Representive
Tamon Tseng

Other Position

Relation

Shares

Director
Representive
Frank Chen

Experience
（Education）

Name

3

Current
Shareholding

Directors Who
are Spouses or
within Two
Degrees of
Kinship

Title

Taiwan 102.6.5 108.6.6

Terms (years)

Date Elected

Date First Elected

Chang Chun
Investment

Nationality/ Place of
Incorporatio

Name

Gender/Age

Title

Shareholding
when Elected

Shareholding
by Nominee
Arrangement

0

0

0

－

Gwo-Fong
Lin
(Note 7)

Male
67

Taiwan 109.6.4 109.6.4

3

2

0

0

0.02%

0

0

Shares

48,000

0

0

%

0.02%

0

0

Shares

0

0

0

%

0

0

0

Shares

0

0

0

Experience
（Education）

Other Position

%

0

Ph.D. in Accounting
from Arizona State
University, USA
Director, Department of
Accounting, National
ChengChi University

Professor, Department
of Accounting,
National ChengChi
－
University
Independent Director,
Ruentex Materials Co.

0

PhD in Chemistry,
University of Southern
(Note 6)
California,
Partner, The CID Group

0

PhD in Engineering,
U. of Pittsburgh
Chairman, Department
of Civil Engineering,
NTU

－

－

－

－

－

Distinguished
Professor, NTU
Independent directors,
－
Kindom、KEDGE
and Ruentex
Construction Co..

－

－

Note 1：National Development Fund, Executive Yuan change its Director Representative of TaiMed Biologic s Inc. as to Dr. Tai-Horng Young from
April 20, 2020。
2：Chief finance officer of OBI Pharma, Inc.、Juridical Person Director Representative of OBI-Pharm Co., Ltd.、Taiwan Tai Fu Biotechnology
Co., Ltd.、Mithra Biotechnology Inc.、Diamond Biotechnology Investment Co., Ltd.、Diamond Capital Management Co., Ltd.、Mass
Solutions Technology Inc.、CHO Pharma Inc.、Tanvex Biologics, Inc、Cotton Field Organic Co., Ltd、Xin Yao Biotechnology Investment
Co., Ltd.、Hsin-Sheng Biotech Co., Ltd..; Director of Juridical Person Mr. Yi Xunnuo Memorial Education Foundation ; Director of Yi ShuTien
Medical Foundation ; Director representative of Amaran Biotechnology, Inc.; Juridical Person Director Representative of Partner of Delos
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Relation

Independent
Director

Taiwan 106.5.26 108.6.6

48,000

%

Spouse & Minor
Shareholding

Name

Male
60

3

Shares

Current
Shareholding

Directors Who
are Spouses or
within Two
Degrees of
Kinship

Title

Independent
Director

Howard S.
Lee

Taiwan 100.6.2 108.6.6

Terms (years)

Male
57

Date Elected

Ming-Ching
Chen

Date First Elected

Independent
Director

Nationality/ Place of
Incorporatio

Name

Gender/Age

Title

Shareholding
when Elected

Shareholding
by Nominee
Arrangement

Capital
3：Ruentex Industries Co. Ltd change its Director Representative of TaiMed Biologic s Inc. as to Dr. Edward Lin from July 13, 2020 and as to TienChieh Lee from February 24, 2021。
4：Chairman of Run Tai Shing Co., Ltd.; Juridical Person Director Representative of Ruentex Industries Limited.、Sunny Friend Environmental
Technology Co., Ltd.、Shing Yen Construction Development Co., Ltd、Jing Hong investment Co., Ltd.、Kompass Global Sourcing Solutions
Limited、Ruen Chen Investment Holding Co., Ltd.
5：Special Assistant of Legal Affairs Office, Ruentex Industries Ltd.、Juridical Person Director Representative of OBI-Pharm Co., Ltd、Amaran
Biotechnology, Inc.、Mithra Biotechnology Inc.、Run Hui Biotechnology Co., Ltd.、Run Cheng Investment Holding Co., Ltd.、Sunny Friend
Environmental Technology Co., Ltd.、Sheng Cheng Investment Co., Ltd.、Ruentex Construction Co., Ltd.、Hao Ke Investment Holding Co.,
Ltd.、Nan Shan Life Insurance Co., Ltd.；Juridical Person Supervisor Representative of Yi Thai Investment Co., Ltd.、Chairman of Taiwan
Transport Insurance Service Co., Ltd.、Director of China Marine Surveyors & Sworn Measurers` Corp.、Director of Juridical Person Mr. Yi
Xunnuo Memorial Education Foundation
6：Chairman of TAHO Pharmceuticals, Ltd. and Transwell Biotech Co., Ltd.；Independent Director of Sunko Inc. Co., Ltd. , OBI Pharma Co., Ltd.and
Genovate Biotechnology Co., Ltd；Director of Industrial Technology Investment Copration、Amphastar Pharmaceuticals,Inc.、Capso Vision Inc.、
Easywell Biomedicals, Inc.、Taiwan Bio Industry Organization and Taiwan Society for the Chest Care
7：Due for the resignation of independent director, Dr. Tay-Chang Wang on June 26, 2019 with her personal reason，TaiMed re-elect Dr. Gwo-Fong
Lin as new independent director on June 4, 2020.
8：The chairman and general manager of the company are the same person. In accordance with relevant regulations, the following supplementary
explanation is provided:
(1) Reason: The former chairman of the company, Frank Chen, resigned from his post as chairman on April 30, 2018, due to busy business, but
still served as a director (in the form of the corporate representative of Ruentex Group). In response, the board of directors elected director
James Chang as the chairman of the company. After the director re-election in 2019, he was elected as the chairman of the board. Since Dr.
James Chang has served as the chief executive officer and general manager of the company since March 2008, he is currently the same
person who served as the chairman and general manager of the company.
(2) Rationality: The Company’s board of directors has a total of nine board seats. In addition to three independent directors, the largest
shareholder Ruentex Group has three board seats, the National Development Fund, Executive Yuan has two board seats, and the other is the
CEO of James Chang who has one board seat. Since the largest shareholder accounts for no more than 1/3 of the total board seats and the role
of the chairman is the leader in the collegiate system of the board of directors, it is reasonable for the CEO of James Chang to act as the
15

chairman.
(3) Necessity: It is helpful to make the company's decision-making and business aspects more closely integrated and to strengthen leadership
authority and business execution.
(4) Countermeasures: Except for Chairman James Chang who is also the CEO and General Manager of the company, the other directors do not
concurrently serve as employees or managers. All directors have no kinship, corporate directors all appoint professionals as director
representatives, and the company’s internal approval authority clearly regulates the powers and responsibilities of the chairman and the board
of directors. Since the board of directors maintains considerable autonomy under the collegiate system and has the highest decision-making
power in corporate governance, there is nothing wrong with James Chang serving as chairman and general manager at the same time.
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Major shareholders of the institutional shareholders
04/22/2022
Name of juridical person
shareholder

Major shareholders of juridical person shareholder

National Development Fund ,
Executive Yuan

ROC(Taiwan) government

Changchun Investment Co. Ltd

Hui Hong Investment (48.00%)、Run Hua Dyeing Factory
(33.00%)、Ruentex Xing (19%)

Ruentex Development (11.63%)、Changchun Investment
(6.21%)、Hui Hong Investment (6.05%)、Jinghong
Investment (4.98%)、Ruentex Engineering & Construction
Ruentex Industries Co. Ltd
Co., Ltd. (3.57%)、Run Hua Dyeing Factory (2.83%)、The
Tang Prize Foundation (2.66%)、Yi Shu Tien Clinic
(2.32%)、Ruentex Xing (1.80%)、Sheng Cheng Investment
(1.57%)
Ruentex Industries (25.70%)、Hui Hong Investment
(7.40%)、Yi Tai Investment (4.38%)、Changchun
Investment (3.94%)、Run Hua Dyeing Factory (1.51%)、
Ruentex Development Co. Ltd.: Ying Jia Investment (1.22%)、Norges Bank (1.05%)、
Vanguard Emerging Markets Stock Index Fund (1.05%)、
Vanguard Total International Stock Index Fund (0.96%)、
The Tang Prize Foundation (0.93%)
Major shareholders of the Company’s major institutional shareholders
04/22/2022
Name of juridical person

Major shareholders of juridical person

Hui Hong Investment Co., Ltd

Run Hua Dyeing Factory (63.53%)、Ruentex Xing
(19.93%)、Yi Tai Investment (16.54%)

Run Hua Dyeing Factory Co.,
Ltd.

Ruentex Xing (19.55%)、Ren Ying Industrial(19.14%)、
Changchun Investment (18.44%)、Hui Hong Investment
(17.96%)、Yi Yanliang (13.7%)、Wang Qifan (6.55%)、
Juridical Person Mr. Yi Xunnuo Memorial Education
Foundation (4.4%)、Yi Chong'en (0.26%)

Ruentex Xing Co., Ltd.

Yi Yanliang (99.997%)、Wang Qifan (0.003%)

Changchun Investment Co.,
Ltd.

Hui Hong Investment (48.00%)、Run Hua Dyeing Factory
(33.00%)、Ruentex Xing (19%)

Jinghong Investment Co., Ltd.

Ruentex Industries (55%)、Ruentex Development (30%)、
Ren Ying Industrial (13.95%)、Ruentex Xing (1.05%)
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Ruentex Engineering &
Construction Co., Ltd.

The Tang Prize Foundation
Sheng Cheng Investment

Ruentex Development (39.14%)、Ruentex Industries
(9.10%)、Yi Tai Investment (7.48%)、Ying Jia Investment
(6.25%)、Ruentex Xing (3.10%)、Wei Kung Chi (2.20%)、
Run Hua Dyeing Factory (1.91%)、Sheng Cheng Investment
(1.80%)、Diamond Hosiery & Thread (1.49%)、Changchun
Investment (1.04%)
Hui Hong Investment (39.73%)、Changchun Investment
(18.69%)
Run Hua Dyeing Factory (49.98%)、Ren Ying
Industrial(23.81%)、Ying Jia Investment(17.31%)、Hui
Hong Investment (9.90%)

Yi Shu Tien Clinic

Yi Yanliang (50%)

Yi Tai Investment Co., Ltd.

Ren Ying Industrial (85.10%)、Ruentex Xing (14.90%)

Ying Jia Investment Co, Ltd

Changchun Investment (75.86%)、Run Hua Dyeing Factory
(24.14%)

Vanguard Emerging Markets
Stock Index Fund
Vanguard Total International
Stock Index Fund
Norges Bank

Not applicable
Not applicable
Not applicable
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Disclosure of Professional Qualifications and Independence of Independent Directors

Professional qualifications
and experience

Concurrently
serve as other
public offerings
numbers of
independent
directors of the
company

Independence situation

Name
Chairman
James
Chang

Expertise: Biotechnology
Not applicable
R&D, Company Operation and
Management
James Chang is currently the
chairman and CEO of the
company, leading various
major R&D projects and
successfully obtained the
approval from the US FDA and
the EU EMA for the launch of
the new AIDS drug TMB-355
biologics.
None of the provisions of
Article 30 of the Company Law
apply.
Director
Expertise: Investment and
Not applicable
Frank Chen business management
Frank is currently the deputy
general manager of the
investment management
department of Runtex Group,
and concurrently serves as the
representative director of
several companies.
None of the provisions of
Article 30 of the Company Law
apply.
Director
Expertise: Legal and Corporate Not applicable
Tamon
Governance
Tseng
Tamon is qualified as a British
barrister. He is currently a
special assistant in the legal
office of Ruentex Group.and
concurrently serves as the
representative director of
several companies.
None of the provisions of
Article 30 of the Company Law
apply.
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0

0

0

Director
Specialties: Finance and
Not applicable
Tien-Chieh Business Management
Lee
Tien-Chieh Lee is currently the
vice president of Ruentex
Industries Co. Ltd and
Chairman of Run Tai Shing
Co., Ltd and concurrently
serves as the representative
director of several companies.
None of the provisions of
Article 30 of the Company Law
apply.
Director
Expertise Biochemistry and
Not applicable
Lu-Ping
Pharmacy
Chou
Ms. Lu-Ping Chou is the
representative director of the
National Development Fund,
Executive Yuan. Dr. Chou is a
professor at the Institute of
Biochemistry and Molecular
Biology, National Taiwan
University School of Medicine.
None of the provisions of
Article 30 of the Company Law
apply.
Director
Expertise: Medical Engineering Not applicable
Tai-Horng and related fields
Young
Tai-Horng Young is the
representative director of the
National Development Fund,
Executive Yuan.Dr. Yang is
currently a professor at the
National Taiwan University
Institute of Medicine and
Engineering and a co-appointed
professor at the Institute of
Polymer Science.
None of the provisions of
Article 30 of the Company Law
apply.
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0

0

0

Independent
Director
Ming-Ching
Chen

Expertise: Accounting, Tax
Dr. Chen himself, his
Law, Corporate Governance
spouse, and relatives do not
Dr. Chen is a professor of the serve as directors,
Accounting Department of the supervisors or employees of
Business School of the
the company. He has not
National Chengchi University. served as a director,
He has taught courses at the
supervisor or employee of a
National Chengchi University company that has a specific
for more than 20 years. Dr.
relationship with the
Chen specializes in tax law, tax Company; he has not
accounting, and financial
provided the company with
accounting
business, legal, financial,
None of the provisions of
accounting and other
Article 30 of the Company Law services and received
apply.
remuneration in the past 2
years
Independent Expertise: Biotechnology and Dr. Lee himself, his spouse,
Director
Medicare Investment,
and relatives do not serve as
Howard S. Corporate Governance
directors, supervisors or
Lee
Dr. Lee is one of the senior
employees of the company.
biotech venture capital experts He has not served as a
in Taiwan. He has more than director, supervisor or
25 years of investment
employee of a company that
experience in the
has a specific relationship
pharmaceutical and biotech
with the Company; he has
industries. Dr. Lee is very
not provided the company
professional in the operation of with business, legal,
biomedical companies and
financial, accounting and
industrial strategies.
other services and received
None of the provisions of
remuneration in the past 2
Article 30 of the Company Law years
apply.
Independent Expertise: Civil Engineering, Dr. Lin himself, his spouse,
Director
Corporate Governance
and relatives do not serve as
Gwo-Fong Dr. Lin used to be the head of directors, supervisors or
Lin
the Department of Civil
employees of the company.
Engineering and the head of the He has not served as a
Hydraulic Engineering
director, supervisor or
Institute. His expertise in water employee of a company that
conservancy is also in the field has a specific relationship
of sustainable development of with the Company; he has
water resources.
not provided the company
None of the provisions of
with business, legal,
Article 30 of the Company Law financial, accounting and
apply.
other services and received
remuneration in the past 2
years
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Runtex Materials
Co., Ltd.
Bank of Taiwan
(resign in 2021)

Sunko Inc. Co.,
Ltd. Genovate
Biotechnology Co.,
Ltd
OBI Pharma Co.,
Ltd.

Kindom
Development Co. ,
Ltd.
KEDGE
Construction Co.,
Ltd.
Ruentex
Construction Co.
Ltd.

Director Diversity and Independence
(1) Director Diversity：
The company's "Director Election Method" and "Corporate Governance Code of Practice"
both clearly stipulate the diversity policy of board members and disclose them on the
company's website and public information observatory. Directors of the Company have
different professional backgrounds, and all have the knowledge, skills and qualities
necessary to perform their duties. The company has set up nine directors (including three
independent directors) in accordance with the Articles of Incrporation. The board of
directors is diversified and relevant training courses are regularly conducted. James Chang,
Lu-Ping Chou, Tai-Horng Young and Howard S. Lee are majors in medical-related majors,
Tamon Tseng is major in law, Tien-Chieh Lee is major in finance, Frank Chen is major in
investment, Ming-Ching Chen is major in accounting and Gwo-Fong Lin is major in
engineering management and other fields. The diversity goal of the board of directors of
the company is that the professional background of the directors covers the diverse aspects
of business operations. The number of directors with a background in biotechnology,
medical or pharmaceuticals shall not be less than three, and at least one shall be an
independent director; at least two other directors shall have a professional background in
finance, accounting or investment. TaiMed board of directors has now met the relevant
goals set. 11% of the Company’s directors hold concurrent positions as employee, 11% are
female employee, and 78% hold a doctorate degree, and the degree of expertise in higher
education is quite high. Relevant policies have been disclosed on the company's website
and public information observatory.
(2) Director Independence：
The company has set up three seats of independent directors, accounting for one third of
the seats of directors. The selection of independent directors is carried out in accordance
with the "Regulations Governing Appointment of Independent Directors and Compliance
Matters for Public Companies ". The three seats of independent directors are qualified for
professionalism and independence. When the three independent directors were
elected, they all issued independent director declarations, and checked that the
relevant information complied with the provisions of Items 3 and 4 of Article 26-3
of the Securities and Exchange Act. There is no spouse relationship or relatives
relationship within second degree with other directors.
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3.2.2 Management Team
03/29/2022
Shareholding
Title

Nationality

Name

Gender

Spouse & Minor
Shareholding

Date
Effective

Shareholding
by Nominee
Arrangement
Experience（Education）

％

Shares

％

Chief of
Exective
Officer

Taiwan

James
Chang

Male

97.3

1,053,409

0.42%

2,069,355

0.82%

0

0

Chief of
Operating
Officer

Taiwan

Jimmy
Chang

Male

107.3

0

0

4,409

0

0

0

Chief of
Financial
Officer

Taiwan

Jack
Chen

Male

97.6

424,006

0.17%

234,282

0.09%

0

0

Duty
manager of
Internal
Audit

Taiwan

Anna
Cheng

Female

100.12

190,614

0.08%

0

0

0

0
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Ph.D., Chemical Engineering, Chairman &
U. of Washington, USA
CEO of
Senior Director, Product
TaiMed
Development and Drug
Biologics USA
Delivery, Allergan Co., USA
Ph.D., Pharmacy, U. of Texas
at Austin, USA
Bachelor degree in Pharmacy, Director of
NTU
Biotheravision
Senior Director, Process and Pharmaceutical
Drug Development, Allergan
Co., USA
Master degree in Business, U.
of Southern Clifornuia. USA
Bachelor degree in B.A. NTU
Taiwan and US CPA license
CFO of TFB Co. Ltd.
Audit Manager of Deloiite &
Touch, Taiwan (CPA firm)
Bachelor degree in
accounting, Chung Yung U.
Taiwan CPA license
Audit In-Charge of Earst &
Young, Taiwan (CPA firm)

Relation

Shares

Name

％

Title

Shares

Other Position

Managers who
are Spouses or
Within Two
Degrees of
Kinship

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3.2.3 Remuneration of Directors, Independent Directors, Supervisors, President, and Vice Presidents
Remuneration of Directors and Independent Directors
Unit: NT$ thousands
Year of 2021
Proportion and
total amount of
A, B, C, D, E,
F and G in net
profit after tax
(%)

Title

Name
The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

Receiving remuneration from reinvestment
enterprise other than the subsidiaries or
from the parent company

Relevant remuneration received by part-time
Proportion
employee
of total
amount of A, Salary, bonus
Bonus and
Retiremen
Business
B, C and D in and special Retirement Employee remuneration
special
Salary (A) t pension
execution
net profit after disbursement pension (F)
disbursem
(G)
(B)
costs (D))
tax (%)
ent (C)
etc. (E))
Director remuneration

Chairman

James Chang

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,501

21,278

108

595

-

-

-

-

7,609
(1.62)

21,873
(4.64)

NA

Changchun
Investment

-

-

-

-

-

-

192

192

(0.04)

(0.04)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

192
(0.04)

192
(0.04)

NA

Frank Chen

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Ruentex
Industries

-

-

-

-

-

-

192

192

(0.04)

(0.04)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

192
(0.04)

192
(0.04)

NA

Tien-Chieh Lee

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

NA

Ruentex
Development

-

-

-

-

-

-

192

192

(0.04)

(0.04)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

192
(0.04)

192
(0.04)

NA

Tamon Tseng

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

NA

Director

Director
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Stock
amount
Cash
amount
Stock
amount
Cash
amount

Director

All
The
companies
Company in financial
report

NA

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

-

-

-

-

-

-

192

192

(0.04)

(0.04)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

192
(0.04)

192
(0.04)

NA

-

-

-

-

-

-

192

192

(0.04)

(0.04)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

192
(0.04)

192
(0.04)

NA

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,022 1,022

(0.22)

(0.22)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,022
(0.22)

1,022
(0.22)

NA

1,022 1,022

(0.22)

(0.22)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,022
(0.22)

1,022
(0.22)

NA

(0.21)

(0.21)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

970
(0.21)

970
(0.21)

NA

Independent
Director

Tai-Horng
Young
Ming-Ching
Chen

Independent
Director

Howard S. Lee

-

-

-

-

-

-

Independent
Director

Gwo-Fong Lin

-

-

-

-

-

-

Directo

970

970

Stock
amount
Cash
amount
Stock
amount
Cash
amount

All companies in
financial report

Lu-Ping Chou

The Company

Directo

All companies in
financial report

Name

The Company

Title

Proportion and
total amount of
A, B, C, D, E,
F and G in net
profit after tax
(%)

Receiving remuneration from reinvestment
enterprise other than the subsidiaries or from the
parent company

Relevant remuneration received by part-time
Proportion
employee
of total
Salary,
amount of A,
Bonus and
Business
bonus and
Retirement
B, C and D in
special
Retirement Employee remuneration
Salary (A) pension
execution
special
net
profit
after
disbursem
pension
(F)
(G)
(B)
costs (D))
disburseme
tax
(%)
ent (C)
nt etc. (E))
All
The
companies
Company in financial
report
Director remuneration

Note: Please state the policy, system, standard, and structure of the remuneration system for independent directors, and state the relevance to the
amount of remuneration based on their responsibilities, risks, investment period, and other factors:
The remuneration of independent directors of the company is based on the upper-middle level of the biotech and new pharmaceuticals industry.
The remuneration system does not involve individual identities, investment period, performance, and attendance and each person has the same
amount of remuneration. In 2021, a monthly fixed amount of NT$70,000 was given and each time the audit and remuneration committee
attends, an attendance fee of NT$26,000/time was added. In the future, the independent directors will not be allowed to take part in the profit
distribution of the company.
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Remuneration of Supervisors: Not applicable
Remuneration paid to the top 5 supervisors with highest remuneration in the last year (2021)
Unit: NT$ thousands

Salary (A)

Proportion and total
amount of A, B, C
Receiving
and D in net profit
remuneration
after tax (%)
from
All companies
reinvestment
The Company in financial
enterprise
report
other than
the
subsidiaries
Amount of employee's
compensation (D))

Name

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

The Company

All companies in
financial report

Cash
amount

Stock
amount

Cash
amount

Stock
amount

The Company

All companies in
financial report

Chief of
Exective
Officer
Chief of
Operating
Officer
Chief of
Financial
Officer

Bonus and special
disbursement etc. (C)
(Notes)

The Company

Title

Retirement
pension (B)

James Chang

˙2,907

16,684

108

595

4,594

4,594

-

-

-

-

7,609
(1.62)

21,873
(4.64)

NA

Jimmy Chang

8,186

8,186

108

108

2,457

2,457

-

-

-

-

10,751
(2.28)

10,751
(2.28)

NA

Jack Chen

4,115

4,115

108

108

1,301

1,301

-

-

-

-

5,524
(1.17)

5,524
(1.17)

NA

Note: 1. All of Bonus and special disbursement etc. are salary expense (non-cash charges) in 2021 recognized in "Share-based Payment" according to
IFRS 2. due for the acquisition of employee stock option certificate.
2. Managerial officers with the top five highest remuneration amounts refers to managers at the Company, in which the standard for determining
managers is the applicable regulations. Only 3 officers meet the above criteria for compensation disclosure.
3. The figures of retirement pension are the annual pension contribution.
Name of manager distributed with employee bonus and distribution circumstance: None
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3.2.4 Comparison of Remuneration for Directors, Supervisors, President and Vice Presidents
in the Most Recent Two Fiscal Years and Remuneration Policy for Directors,
Supervisors, President and Vice Presidents
A. The ratio of total remuneration paid by the Company and by all companies included in the
consolidated financial statements for the two most recent fiscal years to directors, supervisors,
president and vice presidents of the Company, to the net income.
Unit: NT$ thousands
2021
2020
Ratio of total
Ratio of total
Total
Total
remuneration to
remuneration to
remuneration
remuneration
net income (%)
net income (%)
The
Company

All
companies in
financial
report

The
Company

All
companies in
financial
report

The
Company

All
companies in
financial
report

The
Company

All
companies in
financial
report

Directors

3,974

3,974

(0.84)

(0.84)

3,694

3,694

(2.02)

(2.02)

Supervisors

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

23,884

38,148

(5.07)

(8.10)

24,958

38,882

President and
vice presidents

(13.62) (21.21)

B. The policies, standards, and portfolios for the payment of remuneration, the procedures for
determining remuneration, and the correlation with risks and business performance.
In 2021 and 2020, directors' remuneration will only receive the transportation expenses for
business execution and on other remuneration. The relevant surplus distribution is clearly set in
the article of Incorporation, and the remuneration of directors and supervisors must be paid in
accordance with the provisions of the company law.
The remuneration paid by James Chang, CEO as an employee is expressed in the column of
“President and vice president”, not in the column of “Directors”.
The remuneration of the general manager and deputy general managers is based on the
principles of corporate rank hierarchy. Due to the consideration of the risks and uncertainties of
biotech and new pharmaceuticals development and the fact that no operating income has yet
been generated, only the fixed salary payment is made according to the employment contract or
the company's overall annual salary adjustment. In principle, with the exception of the bonus
percentage of salary at the end of the year, no additional performance-related compensation
will be paid before the company has confirmed its significant performance. Since new
pharmaceuticals development is highly technology-intensive and anti-HIV drug research and
development talents are rare, it is necessary for the professionals to perform their tasks in the
27

most efficient way and achieve a salary level comparable to that of the industry. If the company
has generated profits from the business operations in the future, the remuneration will be
readjusted accordingly.
.
3.3 Implementation of Corporate Governance
3.3.1 Operations of the Board of Directors
A total of 5 (A) meetings of the Board of Directors were held in the previous period. The attendance
of director and supervisor were as follows:

Title

Chairman

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
Independent
director
Independent
director
Independent
director

Name

Attendance
in Person
(B)

By Proxy

Attendance
Rate (%)
【Ｂ/Ａ】

Remarks

5

-

100%

Reelected on 2019.6.6
Reelected as President on
2019.6.6

4

1

80%

Reelected on 2019.6.6

5

-

100%

Reelected on 2019.6.6

5

-

100%

Reelected on 2019.6.6
Changed the representative
on 2020.4.20

1

2

20%

Reelected on 2019.6.6

5

-

100%

Reelected on 2019.6.6
Changed the representative
on 2021.2.24

Ming-Ching Chen

5

-

100%

Reelected on 2019.6.6

Howard S. Lee

5

-

100%

Reelected on 2019.6.6

Gwo-Fong Lin

5

-

100%

Newly elected on 2020.6.4

James Chang
Changchun Investment
Representive：
Frank Chen
National Development
Fund Representive：LuPing Chou
National Development
Fund Representive：
Tai-Horng Young
Ruentex Development
Representive：
Tamon Tseng
Ruentex Industries
Representive：
Tien-Chieh Lee

Other mentionable items:
1. If any of the following circumstances occur, the dates of the meetings, sessions, contents of motion, all
independent directors’ opinions and the company’s response should be specified:
(1) Matters referred to in Article 14-3 of the Securities and Exchange Act.
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5th-term 12th meeting of Mar. 5,
2021

5th-term 13th meeting of May.7,
2021
5th-term 14th meeting of Jul. 29,
2021
5th-term 15th meeting of Nov. 8,
2021

5th-term 16th meeting of Dec. 13,
2021

Planning to Terminate the monoclonal antibody plan for
treatment and prevention of COVID-19 with the
exclusive license by Columbia University, USA
Establishing the internal control system "Sales and
Collection Cycle"
Appointing the CPA and evaluating its independency
Amending the internal control system "Procurement and
Payment cycle"
Participating in capital increase plan in TFBS Inc.
Replacing one of accountant from Q3 in 2021 due for
the internal rotation of the accounting firm
Establishing the advanced version of the internal control
system "Production Cycle"
Amending the internal control system "Property, Plant
and Equipment Cycle"
Authorizing the chairman to terminate the TMB-370
R&D program at an appropriate time
Establishing the Company’s “Initial Employee Stock
Option Issuance”

(2) Date, term and agenda of the board meeting, opinions of all independent directors and follow-up of
these opinions to be specified for any resolution opposed by independent directors or with qualified
opinion and that is supported by records or written statements: None
2. Director name, content of agenda, reason for conflict of interest avoidance, and resolutions to be
specified for any director’s conflict of interest avoidance in a board meeting:
(1) For the 2021.3.5 BOD meeting resolution of the lifting of non-competition restrictions for directors,
directors Frank Chen and Tien-Chieh Lee decided to lift the non-competition restriction of directors
Frank Chen, Tamon Tseng and Tien-Chieh Lee, and left the meeting and did not participate in the
discussion and resolution. Independent director Howard S. Lee and two representative directors of the
National Development Fund, Ping Chou and Tai-Horng Young, left the meeting due to conflict of
interests and avoid discussing for and participating in the resolution of the lifting the noncompetitive restrictions.
(2) For the resolution of 2021.12.13 concerning the proposal of the Remuneration Committee for the
remuneration of directors, President and independent directors left the meeting due to conflict of
interests and avoid discussing for and participating in the resolution.
3. Self-assessment (or assessment by peer) of the Board of Directors (Please refer to P.34)
Assessment
cycle
Board of
Directors of
the Company
executes
internal
performance
assessment

Assessment
period
The internal
and external
performance
assessment
results of
Board of
Directors shall

Assessment
scope
The
assessment
scope of
Board of
Directors of
the Company
includes the

Assessment
method
The assessment
methods include
Board of
Directors'
internal selfassessment,
director
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Assessment content
The measurement items of
performance assessment on
Board of Directors shall at
least cover the following
five major aspects:
1. Degree of participation in
company operation.

every year.
Once every
three years,
assessment
will be
executed by
external
professional
independent
institution or
external team
of experts and
scholars

4.

be completed
before the end
of the first
quarter in the
next year.

performance
assessment on
the entire
Board of
Directors and
individual
director
member.

member's selfassessment,
assessment by
peer, or
performance
assessment by
appointing
external
professional
institution,
experts or in
other
appropriate
ways.

2. Improvement of Board of
Directors' decision-making
quality.
3. Composition and
structure of Board of
Directors.
4. Director's appointment
and continuous further
education.
5. Internal control.
The measurement items of
performance assessment on
director members (selfassessment or assessment by
peer) shall at least cover the
following six major aspects:
1. Master of company
objective and task.
2. Cognition of director
responsibility.
3. Degree of participation in
company operation.
4. Internal relationship
management and
communication.
5. Director's profession and
continuous further
education.
6. VI. Internal control

Evaluation of achievement of the objectives (e.g. establishment of an audit committee, enhancement of
transparency, etc.) set for functions of the board of directors in the current year and the latest years:
(1) The Audit Committee held quarterly in the current year and the latest years also invited CPAs to
discuss issues in connection with financial statements.
(2) Board members have participated in training courses relevant to corporate governance and met the
requirements for course hours.
(3) The Company established the Committee on Remuneration in August 2011. The Committee is
required to hold a meeting at least twice a year.
(4) The Company has 3 independent directors, who have sufficient industrial knowledge and
professional ability and experience in accounting and financial analysis and provide advice on
relevant motions presented in board meetings as well as business operation issues. Doctor Wang
Tai-Chang resigned as Independent Director on June 26, 2019 due to personal reason. Lin KuoFeng was elected as Independent Director in the regular meeting of shareholders in 2020.
(5) Financial reports of the Company are audited and certify by Deloitte. Information required by
applicable laws to be disclosed is disclosed correctly and timely. Designated staff is responsible for
collection and disclosure of corporate information. A spokesman system is established to ensure all
important information is disclosed timely and properly. The website of the Company is linked to
the Market Observation Post System for shareholders and stakeholders to review financial
business-related information.
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3.3.2. Operations of Audit Committee
The Committee held 5 meetings as of date of the prospectus in 2021. Attendance of directors is
listed as follows:
Title

Name

Times of Personal
Attendance

Times of
attendance by
proxy

Rate of actual
attendance

Independent
Director

Ming-Ching
Chen

5

0

100%

Independent
Director

Howard S. Lee

5

0

100%

Independent
Director

Gwo-Fong Lin

5

0

100%

Remarks
Reelected on
2019.6.6
Reelected on
2019.6.6
Newly elected on
2020.6.4

Other Recorded Matters
1. If the operation of the audit committee falls under any of the following circumstances, the meeting
date of the audit committee, the period, the content of the proposals, the independent directors'
objections, reservations or major recommendations, the results of the audit committee's resolutions,
and the company's comments on the audit committee's opinions shall be stated.and deal with.
(1)Matters stated in Article 14-5 of the Securities and Exchange Act
Adoption of financial statements of 2020, declaration of
internal control system, planning to terminate the
2nd-term 11th meeting of Mar. 5, monoclonal antibody plan for treatment and prevention
2021
of COVID-19 with the exclusive license by Columbia
University, USA, and establishing the internal control
system "Sales and Collection Cycle"
Adoption of financial statements of 2021 Q1, evaluation
2nd-term 12th meeting of May. 7, of CPA’s independency, audited fee for CPA for 2021,
2021
and amending the internal control system "Procurement
and Payment cycle"
nd
th
2 -term 13 meeting of Jul. 29, Adoption of financial statements of 2021 Q2, and
2021
participating in capital increase plan in TFBS Inc.
Adoption of financial statements of 2021 Q3, replacing
one of accountant from Q3 in 2021 due for the internal
rotation of the accounting firm, establishing the
2nd-term 14th meeting of Nov. 8, advanced version of the internal control system
2021
"Production Cycle", amending the internal control
system "Property, Plant and Equipment Cycle", and
authorizing the chairman to terminate the TMB-370
R&D program at an appropriate time
Establishment of the Company’s Initial Employee Stock
2nd-term 15th meeting of Dec. 13,
Option Issuance and Subscription Plan of 2021, and
2021
granting stock option for non-manager employees
a. Independent directors' objections, reservations or major recommendations: None
b. the results of the audit committee's resolutions, and the company's comments on the audit
committee's opinions: The above-mentioned matters were passed by the Audit Committee
without objection after thorough discussion, and the proposal was submitted to the Board of
Directors for resolution. The company follows or supplements the relevant opinions of the
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audit committee, and the proposal is made in the resolution of the board of directors. The
above resolutions were passed by the board of directors without any inconsistency
(2) Except for the previously mentioned matters, other matters that have not been approved by the
Audit Committee but have been approved by more than two-thirds of all directors: None
2. Name of independent director, content of agenda, reason for conflict of interest avoidance, and
resolutions to be specified for any independent director’s conflict of interest avoidance in a board
meeting: None
3. Communication between independent directors and the internal audit director and CPA:
(1) CPAs and their audit team have attended four audit committee meetings (3/5、5/7、7/29、11/8)
in 2021, together with independent directors, internal auditor, and financial and accounting
departments of the Company. In the supervisory communication meeting, the main topics are to
discuss the results of the company's quarterly financial reports, the update of the latest financial
laws and regulations, and the discussion of the company's latest financial accounting bulletin
(detailed point 2). During the meeting, the accountant gave a briefing, and the independent
directors made inquiries and answers, and the important contents were recorded in the minutes of
the meeting. The independent directors did not disagree with the above four financial report
communication dicsussion.
(2) The key audit matters in the most recent year was addressed in the audit committee by the
accountant, including long-term asset impairment assessment and income recognition. After
communication and discussion, there was no disagreement on the identified items. The accountant
did not find any abnormalities in these two key matters audits.
(3) Communication between independent directors and the internal audit director:
a. The audit officer submits an auditor’s report to independent directors every month. Independent
directors have not specified any negative opinion for any item in an auditor’s report.
b. In addition to the monthly audit reports received by the independent directors of the company,
the audit officer also separately reported and communicated to the independent directors at the
four audit committee meetings in 2021.
c. Summary of previous communications between independent directors and internal audit officer:
Date
Mar. 5, 2021
May. 7, 2021
Jul. 29, 2021
Nov. 8, 2021

Communication Items
Q1, 2021 audit execution report
the latest financial laws and regulations
Q2, 2021 audit execution report
the latest financial laws and regulations
Q3, 2021 audit execution report
the latest financial laws and regulations
Q4, 2021 audit execution report
the latest financial laws and regulations
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Communication results
No objection
No objection
No objection
No objection

3.3.3 Corporate Governance Implementation Status and Deviations from “the Corporate Governance Best-Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx
Listed Companies”
Operation
Assessed Item
Yes No
1. Has the Company established and disclosed its 
corporate governance best practice principles in
accordance with the Corporate Governance
Best Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed
Companies?
2. Equity Structure and Shareholders’ Equity
(1)Has the Company established and implemented 
an internal operation procedure to deal with
suggestions, concerns, disputes and suits among
shareholders?
(2)Does the Company have a list of main 
shareholders controlling the Company and final
controllers of these main shareholders?

(3)Has the Company established and implemented 
a risk control and firewall mechanism among its
affiliated companies?
(4)Has the Company established its internal 
regulations to ban its personnel from using any
undisclosed information to trade negotiable
securities?

Summary
The Company has established its corporate governance best
practice principles and disclosed them on its website. The
Company has also established its rules of procedure for
shareholders meeting, regulations for election of directors,
internal control system and various management regulations
and systems to facilitate corporate governance.

Difference from the Corporate
Governance Best Practice Principles
for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies,
and reasons
No significant difference

Shareholders at a meeting of shareholders are always given an No significant difference
opportunity to speak and discuss. The Company accepts
undisputed and feasible suggestions and makes improvement.
Disputable suggestions are resolved in accordance with the rules
of procedures. When applicable, the Company authorizes Legal
to explain shareholders’ concerns, disputes and suits.
The Company has designated staff to manage stock-related
No significant difference
information and authorized the stock agency unit of a securities
firm to deal with all matters relevant to stock affairs. By doing
so, the Company is able to have a list of main shareholders
controlling the Company and final controllers of these main
shareholders.
The Company has established the Regulations Governing
No significant difference
Transactions with Group Companies, Specific Companies and
Related Parties and other regulations for relevant internal
control systems. Auditors have also supervised implementation
of these regulations.
The Company has established the Regulations for Management No significant difference
of Prevention of Insider Trading and other regulations for
relevant internal control systems. Auditors have also
supervised implementation of these regulations.
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Operation
Assessed Item
Yes No
3.Composition and Duties of the Board of Directors
(1)Has the board of directors made and
implemented the diversified guidelines based
on the composition of its members?



(2)Has the Company voluntarily established any 
other functional committee in addition to the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee, which have been established in
accordance with the law?

Summary

Difference from the Corporate
Governance Best Practice Principles
for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies,
and reasons

The guidelines for diversified composition of board members No significant difference
are expressly stated in the Regulations for Election of Directors
and the Corporate Governance Best Practice Principles of the
Company and disclosed on the website of the Company and the
Market Observation Post System. Directors of the Company
have different professional backgrounds and all knowledge,
skills and capacities required for performance of their duties.
The Company has 9 directors (including 3 independent
directors) in compliance with its articles of incorporation. The
composition of directors is diversified and directors also take
relevant training courses regularly.
James Chang, Lu-Ping Chou, and Tai-Horng Young are majors
in medical care, Tamon Tseng is major in law, Edward Lin is
major in administrative human resources, Frank Chen is major
in financial investment, Ming-Ching Chen is major in
accounting, Howard S. Lee is major in biotechnology venture
capital management, and Gwo-Fong Lin is major in
engineering management and other fields.
The company has 11% of directors with the role of employee,
11% of female employees and 78% of doctoral degree holders.
The target of directors with a biotechnology and medical
background must not be less than 30%, and at least one of
them is an independent director, all of which have met the
target. Relevant policies have been disclosed on the company's
website and public information
The Company has established the Remuneration Committee
No significant difference
according to the law and has also established the Audit
Committee. Departments are responsible for their respective
functional operations of corporate governance. Other
functional committees will be established, after evaluation, if
necessary in the future.
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Operation
Assessed Item
Yes No
(3)Has the Company established the regulations

for appraisal of performance of the board of
directors and appraisal methods, and conducted
performance appraisal regularly on an annual
basis, and report the results of the appraisal
performance to the board of directors meeting,
and use them as a reference for individual
directors’ remuneration and nomination for
renewal? ?

Summary

For regular review effect of the board of directors and
enhancement of corporate governance, the Regulations for
Appraisal of Performance of the Board of Directors and the
appraisal method were made in August 2020. The performance
of the board of directors is appraised at least once a year. The
latest internal performance of the board of directors was
appraised in December 2021. The scope of appraisal was
divided into two categories: Individual directors and the board
of directors. Each director conducted the self-appraisal by
completing a questionnaire covering 6 sections (comprising
control of objectives and tasks of the Company, recognition of
a director’s duties, participation in corporate operation, internal
relationship and communication, a director’s expertise and
continuous training, and internal control). After the appraisal,
performance of directors was found to be satisfactory. The
performance of the board of directors was appraised in the
form of self-appraisal by completing a questionnaire covering
5 sections (comprising participation in corporate operation,
enhancement of quality of the board’s decision-making,
composition and structure of the board,). After the appraisal,
performance of the board was found to be satisfactory. The
Company will review weaker sections with lower scores in
order to make improvements for next year.
The company has submitted the above internal performance
evaluation of the board of directors to the board of directors on
March 11, 2022, and approved it in the meeting. According to
the company’s current remuneration policy for directors before
profitability, all directors except the chairman have the same
remuneration, and the performance evaluation has not been
affect their individual salary, but it can be used as a reference
for future nomination and renewal.
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Difference from the Corporate
Governance Best Practice Principles
for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies,
and reasons
No significant difference

Operation
Assessed Item
Yes No
(4)Does the Company evaluate its CPA’s 
independency regularly?

4.

5.

Does the company appoint a suitable number of 
competent personnel and a supervisor
responsible for corporate governance matters
(including but not limited to providing
information for directors and supervisors to
perform their functions, assisting directors and
supervisors with compliance, handling work
related to meetings of the board of directors and
the shareholders' meetings, and producing
minutes of board meetings and shareholders'
meetings)?
Has the Company established any channel for 
communication with stakeholders (including
but not limited to shareholders, employees,
customers, suppliers, etc.) and set up the Section
of Stakeholders on its website to properly
respond to any stakeholder’s concern for any
important corporate social responsibility issue?

Summary
The Company evaluates its CPA’s independency and
capability at least once a year. The CPA and the CPA’s firm
are required to provide with relevant data and declarations with
respect to the size and reputation of the CPA’s firm, the
number of years for which audit service is provided, nature and
level of non-audit services provided, audit and certification
fees, peer review, incurrence of litigation, cases amended or
investigated by the competent authority, quality of audit
service, regular training received, interaction with the
management and internal audit officers and other indexes, all
of which are submitted to and evaluated by the board of
directors. The result of the evaluation conducted in the latest
year was obtained in April 2020.
The board of directors has not duly designated a corporate
governance officer yet, but has a board secretary responsible
for matters relevant to corporate governance and board
meetings. A person from Administration Department is serving
as board secretary now. However, some business, such as
matters concerning the agenda of a shareholders’ meeting, is
still under supervision of Chief Financial Officer.

Difference from the Corporate
Governance Best Practice Principles
for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies,
and reasons
No significant difference

The secretary of the board does not
meet the requirements provided by the
Corporate Governance Best Practice
Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed
Companies. The Company will,
depending on situation and timing,
designate a corporate governance
officer to meet applicable
requirements.

The Company has a spokesman and deputy spokesman system No significant difference
and releases financial information regularly for stakeholders to
easily understand business operation of the Company in order
to protect their interests. A specific section will be installed on
the website of the Company or in any other manner to respond
to the feedback of stakeholders in the future if needed.
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Difference from the Corporate
Governance Best Practice Principles
Assessed Item
for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies,
Yes No
Summary
and reasons
6. Has the Company appointed a professional stock 
The Company has authorized MasterLink Securities as the stock No significant difference
Operation

affairs agency to deal with the matters relevant
to shareholders’ meetings?
7.Disclosure of Information
(1)Has the Company installed a website to

disclose its financial business and corporate
governance information?

affairs agency to deal with the matters relevant to shareholders’
meetings.

(2)Has the Company used any other method to 
disclose information (e.g. installing an English
website, designating an officer responsible for
collation and disclosure of corporate
information, implementing a spokesman
system, posting the process of the investor
conference on the website of the Company,
etc.)?
(3) Does the company announce and report annual
financial statements within two months after
the end of each fiscal year, and announce and
report Q1, Q2, and Q3 financial statements, as
well as monthly operation results, before the
prescribed time limit?
8. Does the Company have any important 
information contributing to the understanding of
the situation of corporate governance (including
but not limited to employees’ interests, care for
employees, relationship with investors,
relationship with suppliers, rights of
stakeholders, situation of directors’ and
supervisors’ training, implementation of risk
management policy and risk evaluation
standards, implementation of customer policy,

The Company has designated a person to be responsible for No significant difference
disclosing the Company’s important information and inputting
it to the Market Observation Post System. The Company also
has a spokesman and deputy spokesman system and broadcasts
the investor conference legally on the website of the Company

Information of financial business and corporate governance has No significant difference
been disclosed on the website of the Company.

This is the gaol for acheivement
 The Company announced and reported its financial statements
for Q1, Q2, and Q3 and filed monthly operating status before the
regulatory deadline and will file in advance as fast as we can.

(1) Protection and care of employees’ interests:
No significant difference
The Company makes every effort to protect employees’ legal
interests in accordance with the Labor Standards Act, the
Occupational Safety and Health Act and applicable regulations
and holds various education training courses from time to time
to build a mutual trust and reliance relationship with
employees.
(2) Relationship with investors:
To protect interests of shareholders and have the public
understand the situation of the Company’s business operation,
37

Operation
Assessed Item
Yes No
liability insurance acquired by the Company for
directors and supervisors, etc.)?

Summary
the Company discloses relevant information in the Market
Observation Post System in accordance with regulations.
(3) Relationship with suppliers:
The Company has built a mutual trust relationship with
suppliers after long-term satisfactory cooperation.
(4) Rights of stakeholders:
In addition to a designated spokesman and a deputy
spokesman, the Company also has a stock affairs unit to deal
with the issues suggestions relevant to shareholders and
stakeholders of the Company. In case of any legal issue, the
Company has retained lawyers as legal advisers to deal with
such issue in order to protect interests of stakeholders.
(5) Situation of directors’ and supervisors’ training:
The Company provides directors and managers with noticeable
information of laws and information of professional courses
held by relevant organizations from time to time if needed. For
the situation of training and the training courses taken by
directors, please see the next page.
(6) Implementation of risk management policy and risk
evaluation standards:
The Company emphasizes “prevention is better than
everything” in its risk management policy. The Company has
not only established a stringent internal control system to audit
and report regularly and from time to time, but also taken
reasonable hedging measures with respect to exchange rates to
reduce risk. The financial structure is reviewed from time to
time to avoid a high financial risk.
(7) Implementation of customer policy:
The products launched by the Company are authorized
Theratechnologies to sell, which is also responsible for
performing relevant customer policies and providing relevant
services.
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Difference from the Corporate
Governance Best Practice Principles
for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies,
and reasons

Operation
Assessed Item
Yes No

Summary

Difference from the Corporate
Governance Best Practice Principles
for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies,
and reasons

(8) Liability insurance acquired by the Company for directors
and supervisors:
The Company acquired liability insurance for directors and
supervisors from 2013 and continued renewing such insurance
every year.
9. Please specify any improvement already made based on the corporate governance evaluation result issued by Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Center in
the latest year, and the matters and measures to be done and taken for any item not improved yet.
1. Preparation the English version of the annual report of shareholders’ meeting and the individual financial report, and enhancement of information disclosure
2. To amend relevant contents on the Company’s website in Chinese and English to meet the requirements of disclosure of the information relevant to the corporate
governance evaluation
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Situation of training and the training courses taken by directors and chief corporate governance officer in 2021 are as follows:

Name
James Chang, Frank Chen,
Tamon Tseng, Edward Lin,
Ming-Ching Chen, Howard S.
Lee, Gwo-Fong Lin, Jack Chen
Tai-Horng Young

Date of
Course
11/19/2021
11/22/2021
09/10/2021

Name of Course

Taiwan Corporate Governance
Association
Taiwan Corporate Governance
Association
Securities & Futures Institute

Quickly interpret and prepare for ESG disclosure requirements of
Corporate Governance 3.0
Insider trading prevention and countermeasures

Course
Hour
3
3

Corporate Governance and Board Operational Practice

3

Analysis and decision-making of corporate financial information

3

Securities & Futures Institute

Civil and criminal liabilities of directors of a public company

3

10/13/2021

Securities & Futures Institute

12/07/2021

Accounting Research and
Development Foundation
Financial Supervisory
Commission
Accounting Research and
Development Foundation
Taipei Exchange

Legal liability and risk control of directors and supervisors not
reporting financial reports
2021 Briefing Session on Legal Compliance of Insider Equity
Transactions
Trade Secret Protection and Corporate Governance

09/11/2021

Tien-Chieh Lee

Organizer

Gwo-Fong Lin

09/01/2021

Jack Chen (chief corporate
governance)

07/23/2021
08/31/2021
09/03/2021
09/16/2021
02/16/2022

The 13th Taipei Corporate Governance Forum
The latest "Corporate Governance 3.0 - Blueprint for Sustainable
Development"
2021 Taipei Exchange Sustainable Upgrade Online Forum

Taiwan Investor Relations
Institute
Accounting Research and
Development Foundation
Accounting Research and
Development Foundation

Practical Analysis of "Corporate Governance" to Enhance Foreign
Shareholding
Practical Analysis of "Sustainability Report" under the Corporate
Governance 3.0 Policy
Global corporate ESG sustainability trends and management
strategies

40

3
3
3
6
3
2
1
3
3

3.3.4 Composition, Responsibilities and Operations of the Compensation Committee
1. Information of Compensation Committee members
Qualification
identity
independent
directors
(Convenor)
independent
directors
Other

Name
Ming-Ching
Chen
Howard S.
Lee
Peter Kurz

Professional
qualifications and
experience

Independence
situation

Concurrently serve
as other public
offerings
numbers of
Compensation
Committee member

Please refer to page 16 for Please refer to page 16 1
information disclosure
for information
disclosure
Please refer to page 16 for Please refer to page 16 3
information disclosure
for information
disclosure
Expertise: Investment
Mr. Kurz himself, his Management and
spouse, and relatives
International Business
do not serve as
Peter Kurz graduated with directors, supervisors
a master's degree in
or employees of the
International Relations
company. He has not
from Columbia University served as a director,
in the United States and is supervisor or
currently Chief Strategy
employee of a
Officer at QIC
company that has a
International. Mr. Kurz was specific relationship
the general manager of
with the Company; he
Merrill Lynch Investment has not provided the
Advisory in Taiwan, the
company with
managing director and head business, legal,
of the research department financial, accounting
of the Taipei branch of
and other services and
Citigroup
received remuneration
in the past 2 years

2. Information of operation situation of Compensation Committee
The Committee held 2 meetings as of date of the prospectus in 2021. Attendance of directors is listed
as follows:
Title
Convenor
Committee
member
Committee
member

Actual
attendance
times (B)

Delegated
attendance
times

Actual
attendance rate
(%) [B/A]

Ming-Ching
Chen

2

0

100%

Howard Lee

2

0

100%

Peter Ku

2

0

100%

Name
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Notes
Reelected on
2019.6.6
Reelected on
2019.6.6

Newly elected on
2019.8.7

Other matters should be recorded:
1. If Board of Directors refuses to adopt or revises the suggestion of Compensation Committee,
the date of board meeting, stage, proposal contents, result of board resolution and handling of
Compensation Committee's opinion (if the compensation passed by Board of Directors is
superior to the suggestion of Compensation Committee, the difference therebetween and reason
therefor shall be specified) shall be specified: NA.
The Company held the first Compensation Committee of this year on May 7, 2021, mainly to
discuss the compensation structure of chief corporate governance. On May 7, 2021, the board
of directors passed the compensation committee resolutions according to the proposal.
The Company convened the second Compensation Committee of the year on December 10,
2021. It mainly agreed on the relevant compensation of the chairman, directors, and
independent directors, cash compensation for the year 2022; year-end bonus and the employee
stock options for the manager for the year 2021. After full discussion by the Compensation
Committee, the Compensation Committee unanimously passed the resolution and sent it to the
board of directors for approval. On December 13, 2021, the board of directors passed the
compensation committee resolutions according to the proposal.
2. For the resolution of Compensation Committee, if a member opposes or has a qualified opinion
and with record or written statement, the date of Compensation Committee meeting, stage,
proposal contents, and opinions of all members and handling of members' opinion shall be
specified: NA.
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3.3.5 Results of Promoting Sustainable Development, Differences from the Sustainable Development Best Practice Principles for
TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies, and Reasons for the Differences
Promoted Items

Results

Yes
1. Has the Company established a
governance framework to promote
sustainable development, set up a unit
responsible for promoting sustainable
development, and had the board of
directors authorize a high-ranking officer
to deal with the concerned matter? How
did it go under the supervision of the
board of directors?
2. Has the Company conducted a risk
assessment, pursuant to the materiality
principle, for the environmental, social
and corporate governance issues relevant
to its business operation, and established
any relevant risk management policy or
strategy?

No
Brief Description
 The Company has not set up a unit responsible for
promoting sustainable development yet. However,
the Company has planned to set it up in the second
half of 2022 and have the board of directors
authorize a high-ranking officer to deal with the
matter under the supervision of the board of
directors. At this stage, relevant departments are
dealing with relevant matters under their
responsibility.
 The Company has not set up a sustainable
development committee and has not issued a
sustainability report yet. Therefore, it has not
conducted a written risk assessment for the
environmental, social and corporate governance
issues relevant to its business operation pursuant to
the materiality principle, and has not established a
relevant risk management policy or strategy. The
Company aims at starting to promote the above in
the second half of this year and disclose relevant
matters and information in the annual report of
2022. At this stage, the Company is not only
establishing a strict internal control system
according to the law, but also requesting internal
auditors to conduct audits from time to time or
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Differences from Sustainable
Development Best Practice
Principles and Reasons for the
Differences
To be dealt with by the
Company in the second half of
this year pursuant to Article 9
of the Sustainable
Development Best Practice
Principles for TWSE/TPEx
Listed Companies

To be dealt with gradually by
the Company in the second half
of this year pursuant to Article
3 of the Sustainable
Development Best Practice
Principles for TWSE/TPEx
Listed Companies

3. Environmental Issues
（1）Has the Company established a proper
environmental management system
based on characteristics of its business?



（2） Is the Company devoted to
enhancement of energy utilization
efficiency? Has the Company used the
recycled materials that have low impact
on environmental load?



（3） Has the Company evaluated its present
and future potential risks incurred, and
opportunities generated, by climate
change and also taken corresponding



periodically and submit audit reports. Besides,
relevant departments are conducting risk
assessments and reviews respectively to reduce the
impact of any risk.
The Company engages in biotechnology research
and development. For the need of corporate
operation based on the characteristics of business,
the Company has set up a safety and health
management team and also established the
laboratory hazardous waste management
regulations for waste clearance and collection in
compliance with the practices provided by the
competent authority in charge of environmental
protection.
The Company engages in new drug research and
development. Its Zhubei plant has obtained the
Factory Registration Certificate, but has not started
mass production for commercial purposes. It is not
a business causing high pollution. The Company
values efficiency of utilization of various resources
and promotes concepts and activities of energy
saving continuously. To enhance efficiency of
energy utilization, various measures, such as waste
classification and recycling, have been taken for
the purposes of waste reduction and resource
recycling. As for recycled materials, the Company
will evaluate feasibility. Such materials will be
used if they are proper for relevant practices and
conditions.
The Company has not set up a sustainable
development committee and has not issued a
sustainability report yet. Therefore, the Company
has not evaluated its present and future potential
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No significant difference

No significant difference

To be dealt with gradually by
the Company in the second half
of this year pursuant to Article
17 of the Sustainable

measures?

（4） Has the Company compiled statistics
for greenhouse gas emissions, water
consumption and total weight of waste
for the previous two years, and
established any policy for reduction of
greenhouse gas emission and water
consumption or management of other
wastes?



risks incurred and opportunities generated by
climate change, and has not taken corresponding
measures.
TaiMed Biologics Zhubei Plant is located in
Hsinchu Biomedical Science Park. Zhubei Plant
has not started mass production for commercial
purposes. In the non-production status, process
equipment must still remain compliant with GMP
quality requirements, including water system, airconditioning system, etc. Tap water, electricity and
gas are necessary energy for operation of TaiMed.
In 2021, tap water consumption was 20,383m3,
electricity consumption was 3,770,000kWh, and
gas consumption was 267,986m3.
In 2021, total carbon emission caused by electricity
and gas consumption was about 2,317,971kg.
Wastewater, Sewage and Waste:
TaiMed Biologics Zhubei Plant has waste water
treatment facilities to effectively treat wastewater
and sewage generated. Zhubei Plant has obtained
the consent of the Administration Office of the
Park to discharge under its management.
Discharged wastewater and sewage meets the
effluent water quality standards provided by
Hsinchu Biomedical Science Park. In 2021, the
total discharged water was 12,521 tons.
Zhubei Plant has Level A qualified personnel
responsible for overall waste-related business. In
the waste area of the Plant, wastes are divided into
general waste, general industrial waste, and
hazardous industrial waste and stored separately in
storage places in the Plant in accordance with the
Methods and Facilities Standards for Storage and
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Development Best Practice
Principles for TWSE/TPEx
Listed Companies
Based on the statistical data of
greenhouse gas emissions, the
Company will report the
situation to the board of
directors for further monitoring
and control this year and
complete necessary checks by
2026 as scheduled by the
government for TWSE/TPEx
listed companies. As for the
remaining items and the
Sustainable Development Best
Practice Principles for
TWSE/TPEx Listed
Companies, there is no
significant difference.

Clearance of Industrial Waste. Infectious waste is
stored below 0℃ in the refrigeration facility.
General waste is cleared and transported by the
Science Park. An entity qualified for clearance and
treatment of industrial waste is committed to
dispose industrial waste. In 2021, about 22 metric
tons of general domestic waste were cleared and
transported. Most of general industrial waste is
waste plastics, 0.13 metric tons of which are
cleared and transported. Hazardous industrial
waste comprises organic waste effluent and
infectious waste, 4.75 metric tons of which are
cleared and transported.
Energy Saving, Carbon Reduction and Waste
Reduction Policy:
Water Resources:
Proper measures are taken to promote water
recycling to maximize efficiency of water resource
utilization.
1. Water-saving facilities are used in Zhubei Plant
to save tap water.
2. The process water system recycles water and
steam condensate so that the cooling tower may
use it again.
3. Rainwater is recovered and stored in order for
the sprinkling system to use it again. An automated
sprinkler irrigation system is also established to
sprinkle in a fixed quantity of water for green
environment at fixed time.
4. The concept of water saving is disseminated to
encourage employees to save water.
5. Water consumption of the current month is
recorded and compared with that of the previous
- 46 -

4. Social Issues
（1） Has the Company established relevant
management policies and procedures in
accordance with applicable laws and
International Bill of Human Rights?



（2） Has the Company established and
implemented reasonable measures for
employees’ welfare (including salary,
leave and other welfare)? Is business
performance or result reflected in
employees’ wages?



month.
Electric Energy Saving:
1. A frequency converter is installed in each
engine, pump and similar rotating equipment.
2. Frequency-variable main engine is used for each
chilled water system and compressed air system to
reduce the starting frequency.
3. The air conditioner temperature in an office is
set at 26℃.
4. Lighting equipment using T5LED tubes are
gradually replaced by panel lights.
5. Automated monitoring modules are used in the
temperature and humidity controls in the clean
room to reduce consumption of energy.
6. Energy saving is disseminated and employees
are encouraged to turn off their personal computers
before getting off work.
The Company has established the employee work
rules in accordance with the Labor Standards Act
and applicable laws. A manager talks to and
discusses with employees from time to time and
periodically in a forum. A labor-management
meeting is held every quarter. Any and all timesensitive complaints may be reported to CEO
directly.
The Company has established applicable codes for
employees and other regulations on wages, leave
and other welfare and stock subscription.
Standards for wages, rewards and punishments are
provided specifically. The Company has
employees share results of our business
performance and growth in compliance with
corporate social responsibility. For further
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No significant difference

No significant difference

（3） Has the Company provided employees
with a safe and healthy working
environment, and provided employees
with safety and health education
regularly?



information, please see 5. Labor Relation under V.
Business Overview in the annual report.
As for diversity and equality, the Company
provides equal wages for equal work and equal
opportunities for promotion regardless of gender,
and maintains at least 40% female managers to
facilitate sustainability inclusion for economic
growth. In 2021, female employees are 47% of all
employees and female managers are 56% of all
managers. The Company values rights and welfare
of employees and maintains a good working
environment. It also provides physical and mental
health care for each group and effectuates a
friendly workplace to have all employees,
regardless of gender, to work comfortably. Female
employees are entitled to enjoy all welfare,
including parental leave, provided by the Labor
Standards Act to protect interests of female
employees.
TaiMed Biologics has promised to comply with
laws and improve continuously, being devoted to
provide workers with a safe and healthy working
environment. Zhubei Plant has Level A safety and
health officer to take care of safety and health
management business.
1. Arrange for workers to receive the safety and
health training, including general safety and health
education training for new/in-service employees,
training for hazardous machine and equipment
operators, training for supervisors in charge of
harmful operations, educational training on hazard
communication, emergency response drill,
educational training on fire safety, and training on
- 48 -

No significant difference

（4） Has the Company developed a training
program for employees to cultivate
effective career skills?



notification of hazards for contractors, in
accordance with the Occupational Safety and
Health Education and Training Rules.
2. Arrange for new employees to receive medical
examination and for in-service employees to
receive health examination, and provide a subsidy
for additional examination items. Examination
items and frequency are superior to those provided
in the law.
3. Commission a qualified testing institution to
conduct workplace monitoring every a half year in
accordance with the Enforcement Regulations
Governing Labor Workplace Monitoring, in order
to protect workplace safety for workers.
4. The Contractor Safety and Health Management
Regulations are established. Contractors are
required to sign a safety, health and environmental
protection commitment and comply with the
construction safety, health and environmental
protection regulations for contractors.
5. Zhubei Plant operated for 108,344 hours in
2021, without any occupational accident.
The Company cares employees’ development, and
has made a complete training program based on
individual needs in hopes that employees develop
their strengths and acquire knowledge and skills
necessary for promotion through advanced
training.
Upon annual appraisal interview, the manager and
the employee discuss and set an annual individual
ability development plan. Through regular review
and feedback, employees are assisted in
customizing their best development plans.
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No significant difference


All marketing and sales activities for Trogarzo, a
No significant difference
（5） Has the Company complied with
new
drug
for
AIDS
launched
by
the
Company,
are
applicable laws and international criteria
required to satisfy all applicable regulations
to deal with all issues concerning
provided by US Food and Drug Administration
customer health and safety relevant to
and EU European Medicines Agency. The
any product and service, customer
Company has commissioned Theratechnologies, a
privacy, marketing, and labeling? Has
Canadian company, to sell in the U.S.
the Company established any policy and
grievance procedure to protect rights of
consumers and customers?
 Most of our domestic or overseas suppliers are
To be dealt with gradually
（6）Has the Company established a supplier
original manufacturers that have a long-term
based on the situation in the
management policy to require that
business
relationship
with
the
Company.
All
future
suppliers shall comply with applicable
products meet legal requirements to ensure safety
practices for environmental protection,
of use. The Company will promote preparation of
occupational safety and health, labor,
such policy gradually.
human rights and similar issues? Has the
policy been implemented successfully?
 It is not applicable because the Company has not
5. Has the Company referred to any
To be dealt with gradually
internationally accepted guidelines or
prepared a sustainability report to disclose the non- based on the situation in the
instructions for preparation of reports
financial information of the Company.
future
when establishing a sustainability report
The Company expects to issue a sustainability
or similar report to disclose its nonreport at the beginning of 2023.
financial information? Has the a thirdparty certification institution’s assurance
opinion been obtained for the
aforementioned report
6. In case that the Company has its own principle for sustainable development that is prepared pursuant to the Sustainable Development Best
Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies, please specify how the principle is applied and any difference between such application
and the prepared principle:
There is no significant difference, except for some items to be dealt with based on the future situation.
7. Other important information helpful to understand promotion of sustainable development: None
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3.3.6 Fulfillment of Ethical Corporate Management and Deviations from the "Ethical Corporate Management Best Practice Principles
for TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies"

Operation
Assessed Item
Yes No
1. Establishment of ethical corporate management
policy and program

(1) Has the Company established its ethical
corporate management policy that has been
approved by the board of directors, and
specified, in its regulations and documents, the
ethical corporate management policy and
practice and the promise made by the board and
the management to implement the policy?
(2)Has the Company established a dishonesty risk 
evaluation mechanism to analyze and evaluate
its operating activities with higher dishonesty
risk within the scope of business periodically,
and established a scheme at least covering such
preventive measures indicated in Article 7 (2)
of the Ethical Corporate Management Best
Practice Principles for TWSE/GTSM Listed
Companies in order to prevent dishonesty?
(3)Has the Company specified operational
procedure, code of practice, punishment for
violation, and complaint system in the
dishonesty prevention scheme, and
implemented and regularly reviewed and



Difference from the Ethical
Corporate Management Best
Practice and Reasons for the
Differences

Summary
No significant difference
The Company has established the ethical corporate
management principles and the code of ethics to be
followed for internal operation. Integrity and
transparency are important core values for business
operation of the Company, so the corporate
governance and risk control mechanism has been
established for sustainable development of the
Company.
The Company has established a code of conduct for
No significant difference
employees, who are required to act with self-discipline
pursuant to the principle of honesty and uprightness,
and sincerely treat clients, investors, colleagues,
suppliers and all persons they contact and meet in the
course of business. Employees are banned to receive
improper gifts or entertainment. The Company requires
each department to conduct self-evaluation for ethical
corporate management periodically to control relevant
risks within the scope of its business effectively.
The Company has implemented its corporate
No significant difference
governance-related regulations and established
compliance, internal control and audit systems to
strengthen functions of the board, develop functions of
a supervisor and enhance transparency of information.
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Operation
Assessed Item
Yes No

Difference from the Ethical
Corporate Management Best
Practice and Reasons for the
Differences

Summary

amended the aforementioned scheme?
2. Ethical Corporate Management
(1)Has the Company evaluated integrity records of
the entities with which it does business, and
specified the integrity clause in the contract
entered into with such entities?
(2)Does the Company have a specific unit that is
responsible for developing ethical corporate
management and reports, directly to the board
of directors, the ethical corporate management
policy, the dishonesty prevention scheme, and
status of implementation and supervision
periodically (at least once a year)?
(3)Has the Company established a conflict of
interest prevention policy, provided a proper
channel for specifying such conflict, and
implemented the policy?
(4)Has the Company established an effective
accounting and internal control system for
ethical corporate management, had the internal
control unit drafted relevant audit plans based
on the dishonesty risk evaluation result, and
required the unit or appointed the CPA to audit
the compliance with the dishonesty prevention
scheme?
(5)Does the Company hold internal and external
educational training on ethical corporate

The Company has established various regulations to
implement the conflict of interest avoidance principle
and the code of ethics.





No significant difference

The Company has not set up a specific unit. It is CEO To be planned if needed in the
who is responsible for managing. The board of
future
directors supervises.



Either Corporate Audit or the board of directors is able No significant difference
to play the function.



The Company has established effective accounting and No significant difference
internal control systems. The Company develops
computerized operations and management functions
are linked with each other through computer. With the
layered process audit, abnormality is controlled and
audited regularly by the internal audit unit or the
appointed CPA.



The Company propagates and holds internal and
external educational training on integrity operation
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No significant difference

Operation
Assessed Item
Yes No
management regularly?
3.Reporting System of the Company

(1)Has the Company established a whistleblowing
and award system and convenient reporting
channels, and designated a specific officer to
deal with the reported party?
(2) Has the Company established a SOP for
investigation of reported events, and the
follow-up measures after the completion of
investigation as well as revelanted
confidentiality mechanisms?
(3) Does the Company take measures to protect the
whistleblower from being treated improperly
because of the whistleblowing?
4. Enhancement of Information Disclosure
(1) Has the Company disclosed the contents of its

ethical corporate management principles on its
website and the Market Observation Post System?

Difference from the Ethical
Corporate Management Best
Practice and Reasons for the
Differences

Summary
from time to time
The Company sets the mailbox for malfeasance
impeachment, and formulates measures for handling No significant difference
impeachment case to accept any notification on illegal
or immoral circumstances, assigns independent
dedicated unit to be responsible for the investigation,
and actually keeps the identity of whistleblower and
impeachment contents confidential; besides, the
investigation results will be submitted to members of
Board of Directors regularly.

The current status of the Company has been disclosed on
the website of the Company, and real-time information is
announced in the Market Observation Post System in
compliance with the requirements of applicable laws.

5.

No significant difference

If the Company has its own ethical corporate management principles that were established in accordance with the Ethical Corporate Management
Best Practice Principles for TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies, please specify the implementation, and the differences between its principles and the
aforementioned Best Practice Principles: There is no significant difference.
6. Other important information contributing to the understanding of the situation of ethical corporate management: None
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3.3.7 Corporate Governance Guidelines and Regulations
The Company has formulated the Code of Corporate Governance and disclosed it in the
company website, and also has formulated operation procedures such as "Code of Integrity
Operation", "Codes of Ethical Conduct", "Code of Corporate Social Responsibility", "Rules of
Procedure for Shareholders' Meetings", "Specification of Procedure for Board of Directors",
"Procedures for Election of Directors", "Interested Party Specific Company and Group
Enterprise Transaction Operation Procedure", "Measures for Supervision and Management of
Subsidiary" and "Internal Control System" etc., operating and executing corporate governance
related specifications according to the spirit of corporate governance, in the future, the Company
will amend the management measures according to relevant laws and decrees as the case may
be, so as to strengthen the corporate governance
3.3.8 Other Important Information Regarding Corporate Governance: None
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3.3.9 Internal Control Systems
A. Disclosures Required for the Implementation of the Internal Control System

TaiMed Biologics, Inc.
Internal Control System Statement
Date: March 11, 2022

For the 2020 internal control system of the Company, based on the result of self-assessment, it is
hereby made the statement as follows:
1. The Company acknowledges that the establishment, implementation and maintenance of internal
control system are the responsibilities of Board of Directors and managers of the Company, and
the Company has established such system. Its purpose is to provide a reasonable guarantee for
achieving the objectives such as operation effect and efficiency (including profit making,
performance and safeguarding assets safety etc.), report reliability, promptness, transparency and
the compliance of relevant regulations and relevant laws and decrees etc.
2. The internal control system has its own inherent limitation, no matter how perfect its design is, an
effective internal control system can only provide reasonable guarantee for achieving three
objectives mentioned above; and due to the change of environment and circumstance, the
effectiveness of internal control system might be changed accordingly. But the internal control
system of the Company has set self-supervision mechanism, once the deficiency has been
identified and confirmed, the Company will take correction action immediately.
3. The Company stipulates the determination items of internal control system effectiveness
according to the "Guidelines on Public Company to Establish Internal Control System"
(hereinafter referred to as "Guidelines"), so as to determine whether the design and execution of
internal control system are effective. The determination items of internal control system adopted
in such "Guidelines" are the processes of management control, dividing internal control system
into five elements: 1. Environment control; 2. Risk assessment; 3. Operation control; 4.
Information and communication, and 5. Supervision operation. Each element further includes
several items. Please refer to the provisions of "Guidelines" for the preceding items.
4. The Company has adopted the determination items of internal control system mentioned above to
assess the effectiveness of the design and execution of internal control system.
5. Based on the assessment result in preceding paragraph, the Company thinks that the internal
control system of the Company on December 31, 2021 (including supervision and management
of subsidiary), including that the design and execution of internal control system related to
understanding the operation effect and achievement degree of efficiency objective; reliable,
prompt and transparent report; and compliance of relevant regulations and relevant laws and
decrees etc. are effective, and it can reasonably guarantee the achievement of above objectives.
6. This Statement will become major contents of the annual report and public prospectus of the
Company, and will be disclosed externally. If the preceding disclosed contents have any false,
concealing or illegal circumstance, it will involve in the legal responsibilities as prescribed in
Article 20, Article 32, Article 171 and Article 174 etc. of Securities Exchange Act.
7. This Statement is passed by Board of Directors of the Company on March 11, 2022, among 9
attending directors, no one holds opposing opinion and all agree upon the contents of this
Statement, it is hereby declared as well.

TaiMed Biologics, Inc.
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
James Chang (Signature/Seal)
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B. Penal Provisions
If there has been any legal penalty against the company and its internal personnel, or any
disciplinary penalty by the company against its internal personnel for violation of the internal
control system, during the most recent fiscal year or during the current fiscal year up to the
publication date of the annual report, where the result of such penalty could have a material effect
on shareholder interests or securities prices, the annual report shall disclose the penalty, the main
shortcomings, and condition of improvement: None.
3.3.10 Major Resolutions of Shareholders’ Meeting and Board Meetings
Date

03/05/2021

05/07/2021

07/29/2021

Item

Major resolutions

Board
meeting

1. Approved resolutions on exercising of employee stock options in Q4, 2020.
2. Approved resolutions on 2020 consolidated financial statements and standalone financial statements.
3. Approved resolutions on FYE 2020 Annual business Plan and Appropriation
of Profit & Loss
4. Approved resolutions to issue the “Statement of Internal Control System ”
for FYE December 31, 2020
5. Approved resolutions to set up the company's "sales and collection cycle"
6. Approved resolution on the amendment to the 2021 RD & sales collaboration
with TMB USA
7. Approved resolutions on the amendment to “ Rules of Procedure for
Shareholders Meetings”
8. Approved resolutions on the adjustment of COVID-19 project development.
9. Approved resolutions on removal of restrictions on directors’noncompetition
10. Approved resolution to convene 2021 annual shareholders meeting.

Board
meeting

1. Approved resolutions on exercising of employee stock options in Q1, 2021
2. Approved resolutions on the evaluate the independence and suitability of
CPA engaged by TaiMed
3. Approved resolutions on the engagement with Deloitte & Touch for the audit
and related service fee
4. Approved resolutions on Setting up chief corporate governance
5. Approved resolutions on clinical trial expenses increase of IV Push study
6. Approved resolutions on the amendments of marketing contract with
Theratechnologies for IM study

Board
meeting

1. Approved resolutions on exercising of employee stock options in Q2, 2021
2. Approved resolution on investment in TFBS
3. The company intends to sign a one-year short-term loan agreement with the
Mega Bank in Taiwan
4. Approved resolutions on clinical trial expenses increase of TMB-365-101
5. Approved resolutions on non-clinical toxicology fee for TMB-365/TMB380 compound therapy

- 56 -

6. Approved resolution to convene 2021 annual shareholders meeting.
7. The method and schedule of the selection of the successor CEO
Items for Acknowledgment
1. Adoption of 2020 business report and financial statements
Voting Results:
Shares represented at the time of voting: 142,166,534
Voting Results*
% of the total represented
shares present
Votes in favor:
141,300,936 votes
99.39%
Votes against:
338,941 votes
0.24%
Votes invalid:
none
0%
Votes abstained:
526,657 votes
0.37%
*including votes casted electronically (numbers in brackets)
RESOLVED, that the 2020 business report and financial statements be and hereby
were accepted as summited.
2.Adoption of the Proposal for 2020 Deficit Compensation
Voting Results:
Shares represented at the time of voting: 142,166,534
Voting Results*

% of the total represented
shares present
Votes in favor:
141,299,498 votes
99.39%
Votes against:
340,378 votes
0.24%
Votes invalid:
none
0%
Votes abstained:
526,658 votes
0.37%
*including votes casted electronically (numbers in brackets)
08/26/2021 Shareholders’
meeting
RESOLVED, that the above proposal be and hereby was approved as proposed.
Item for Discussion
1. Amendment to“Rules of Procedure for Shareholders Meetings”
Voting Results:
Shares represented at the time of voting: 142,166,534
Voting Results*
% of the total represented
shares present
Votes in favor:
141,298,891 votes
99.39%
Votes against:
338,980 votes
0.24%
Votes invalid:
none
0%
Votes abstained:
528,663 votes
0.37%
*including votes casted electronically (numbers in brackets)
RESOLVED, that the above proposal be and hereby was approved as proposed.
2. On the lifting of non-competition restrictions for directors
Voting Results:
Shares represented at the time of voting: 142,166,534
Voting Results*
% of the total represented shares
present
Votes in favor:
141,298,891 votes
99.39%
Votes against:
338,980 votes
0.24%
Votes invalid:
none
0%
Votes abstained:
528,663 votes
0.37%
*including votes casted electronically (numbers in brackets)
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RESOLVED, that the above proposal be and hereby was approved as proposed.

Review on the execution of resolutions of Shareholders Meeting:：
There is no temporary motions in 2021 Shareholders Meeting. All of report
items are noted by the attending shareholders.; All of items for
Acknowledgment and discussion had been approved by 2021 Shareholders
Meeting.

11/08/2021

12/13/2021

03/11/2022

04/11/2022

Board
meeting

1. Approved resolutions on exercising of employee stock options in Q3, 2021
2. Internal rotation of accounting firm to replace accountants from the third
quarter of 2021
3. Approved resolutions on 2021 Q3 consolidated financial statements
4. Approved resolutions on the advance of "production cycle" control system
5. Approved resolutions on amendments of PP&E control system
6. Approved resolutions on terminate TMB-370 project at an appropriate time
7. The method and schedule of the selection of the successor CEO

Board
meeting

1. Approved resolution on internal Audit Plan for fiscal year of 2022
2. Approved resolution on the 2022 RD & sales collaboration with TMB USA
3. Approved resolution on annual budget & operation plans for 2022
4. Approved resolutions presented by members of compensation committee
5. Approved resolution on 1st time of year 2021 new issuance of employee stock
options.

Board
meeting

1. Approved resolutions on exercising of employee stock options in Q4, 2021.
2. Approved resolution on amendments of 1st time of year 2021 new issuance
of employee stock options.
3. Approved resolutions on 2021 consolidated financial statements and standalone financial statements.
4. Approved resolutions on FYE 2021 Annual business Plan and Appropriation
of Profit & Loss
5. Approved resolutions to issue the “Statement of Internal Control System ”
for FYE December 31, 2021
6. Approved resolutions on Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of the
Company
7. Approved resolution on the amendment to “Corporate Social Responsibility
Best Practice Principles”
8. Approved resolutions on the amendment to the Operational procedures for
Acquisition and Disposal of Assets
9. Approved resolutions on the Westat CRO contract for TMB-365/380.
10. Approved resolutions on nomination announcement for the director candidate
11. Nominate a list of candidates for the next board of directors
12. Remove of strictions on directors’non-competition
13. Approved resolution to convene 2022 annual shareholders meeting.

Board
meeting

1.
2.
3.
4.

Approved resolutions on exercising of employee stock options in Q1, 2022
Nominate a list of candidates for the next board of directors
Approved resolutions on the seclection of the successor CEO
Approved resolutions on Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of the
Company
5. Remove of strictions on directors’non-competition
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Note: In accordance with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Best Practice Principles for
TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies, the company regularly (at least once a year) assesses the
independence and competence of the appointed auditors and reports the assessment results to
the board of directors. Therefore, the company’s board of directors set "Practices Assessing the
Competence and Independence of the Auditors" on March 6, 2017, and reviewed the annual
assessment results of the 2021 auditor independence on May 7, 2021 and November 8, 2021.
Currently, the appointed certified auditors all meet the Competence and independence
requirements. The relevant assessment projects and standards are as follows:
Yes

Independence

1. Whether there are no significant direct or
indirect financial interests between the
members of the audit service team and their
families, other co-practising auditors and
their families, the firm and its affiliated
companies, and the company?
2. After reviewing the auditor's declaration of
independence, the auditor has declared that
the CPA firm to which he/she belongs has
complied with the standards of independence.
accountants, and their family members, firms,
and their affiliated firms (commercial
activities of normal lending to and borrowing
from financial institutions are not subject to
this restriction)?
3. Whether the CPA firm or members of the
audit service team have no a close business
relationship with the company or its affiliated
companies?

No

Note

Ｖ

After reviewing the auditor's declaration
of independence, the auditor has declared
that the CPA firm to which he/she
belongs has complied with the standards
of independence.

Ｖ

After reviewing the auditor's declaration
of independence, the auditor has declared
that the CPA firm to which he/she
belongs has complied with the standards
of independence.

Ｖ

After reviewing the auditor's declaration
of independence, the auditor has declared
that the CPA firm to which he/she
belongs has complied with the standards
of independence.
After reviewing the auditor's declaration
of independence, the auditor has declared
that the CPA firm to which he/she
belongs has complied with the standards
of independence.
After reviewing the list of directors and
positions within two years, the CPA has
not served as a director or taken other
important positions in TaiMed Biologics,
TMBUSA, or other affiliated companies
After reviewing the appointment letter
and the payment of public expenses in
each instalment, there is no merit or
overdue payment of public expenses.

4. Whether members of the audit service team do
not have any potential employment
relationship with the company?

Ｖ

5. Whether members of the audit service team
have not served as a director of the company
nor a person who has a significant influence
on the audit case in the past two years?

Ｖ

6. Whether the company pays the public
accountant’s audit fees in a fixed amount
instead of a contingent fee and without
overdue public expense that affects audit
independence?
7. Whether the non-audit services provided by
the CPA firms and their affiliated companies
to the company do not directly affect the
important subjects of audit cases, do not

Ｖ

Ｖ
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After reviewing the auditor's declaration
of independence, the auditor has declared
that the CPA firm to which he/she
belongs has complied with the standards

involve the management functions of the
company, do not make decisions on behalf of
the company, nor affect independence?
8. Whether the members of the audit service
team are not entrusted to be the defenders of
the company's position or opinion, nor in any
conflict with a third party on behalf of the
company's regional coordination?
9. Whether the auditor has not served more than
seven years after the appointment this year?

of independence.

Ｖ

Ｖ

10. Whether the members of the audit service
team are not related to the company’s
directors, supervisors, managers, or
personnel who have a significant influence
on the audit case?
11. Whether the directors, supervisors, and
managers of the company have not given
valuable gifts to members of the audit service
team?

Ｖ

12. Whether there are no personnel who have
retired/resigned from the accounting firm
within one year among the company’s
directors, supervisors, managers, or persons
with positions that have a significant impact
on the audit case?
13. Whether the independent directors of the
company did not work in the CPA Firm
within the first two years and during their
tenure. Whether the Compensation
committee of the company is not a
professional who provides business, legal,
financial, accounting and other services or
consulting within two years before and
during the tenure?
14. Whether the company did not make the audit
service team members bear or feel the
intimidation from the company so that they
could not maintain objectivity and have
problems making clarification in a
professional way? For instance:
(1) The management of the company has
improper requirements for the choice of

Ｖ

Ｖ

Ｖ

Ｖ
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After reviewing the auditor's declaration
of independence, the auditor has declared
that the CPA firm to which he/she
belongs has complied with the standards
of independence.
CPA Sean Chao and CPA Peter Cheng
started to implement the company's audit
service in the third quarter of 2016, and
CPA Nik Y. Chen started to implement
the company's audit service in the third
quarter of 2021. therefore have not
provided the company's audit service for
seven consecutive years.。
After reviewing the list of directors and
positions within two years, the CPA has
not served as a director or taken other
important positions in TMB, TMBUSA,
or other affiliated companies。
After reviewing the auditor's declaration
of independence, the auditor has declared
that the CPA firm to which he/she
belongs has complied with the standards
of independence.
The co-practicing accountants of the CPA
Firm to which the TaiMed Biologics
CPA belongs have not served as a
director or manager of the company or
have a significant influence on the audit
case within one year of retirement.
After reviewing the list of independent
directors, Compensation committee
members, and the list of auditors within
two years of the firm’s retirement, no
relevant personnel have served as
independent directors of the company.

After reviewing the auditor's declaration
of independence, the auditor has declared
that the CPA firm to which he/she
belongs has complied with the standards
of independence.

auditing policies or the disclosure of financial
statements.
(2) The company did not request to reduce
the audit work that should be performed on
the grounds of reducing public expenses.

Competence

Yes

No

Note

1. The official quarterly financial reports will
be completed within 45 days of the end of
the quarter, and the official annual financial
reports will be completed within three
months of the end of the year.
2. The accuracy of quarterly and annual
financial reports audit and compilation
(excluding company information changes).

Ｖ

Whether to provide a Chinese financial
reports in a timely manner.

Ｖ

3. The accountant completes the company's
first, second, third quarter and annual
financial report and accounting review time.
4. Whether the accountant interacts frequently
with the company's management personnel
(internal auditors, etc.) and keeps records.
5. Whether the accountant has appropriate
interaction with the audit committee and
keeps records before the audit plan and the
issuance of audit opinions.
6. Whether the accountant puts forward and
keeps records on the company's system and
internal control review
7. The annual tax return will be completed
before the end of May of the following year.
8. Assist company tax planning

Ｖ

The financial report issued is in
compliance with the latest financial
report preparation standards, accounting
standards bulletins and relevant
regulations of the competent authority.
Cooperate with the time of the board of
directors and complete in time

9. Provide tax problem solving

Ｖ

10. Regularly update the tax and securities
regulations and updated IFRS accounting
standards to the company.
11. The personnel stability of the main members
of the audit service team.
12. Communicate and reply to inquiries.
13. Assist in communication and coordination
with the competent authority

Ｖ

Ｖ

Whether the interaction is frequent and
smooth cooperation

Ｖ

Whether to carry out the key audit
matters and the communication of the
check completion

Ｖ

Whether to communicate current results
and suggestions with auditors and related
units
Whether to provide tax filing report and
declaration form in a timely manner
Assist the company to review tax
planning and provide advice
Assist the company in responding to tax
matters inquired by the tax authority
Provide suitable course training,
including the new application of IFRS
bulletin
Mainly check whether the members of
the team do not change frequently
Whether to respond quickly to questions
Whether to respond to the questions
asked by the competent authority in a
timely and appropriate manner

Ｖ
Ｖ

Ｖ
Ｖ
Ｖ

- 61 -

3.3.11 Major Issues of Record or Written Statements Made by Any Director or Supervisor
Dissenting to Important Resolutions Passed by the Board of Directors: None
3.3.12 Resignation or Dismissal of the Company’s Key Individuals, Including the Chairman,
CEO, and Heads of Accounting, Finance, Internal Audit, Corporate Governance and
R&D: None
CEO/President of the Company will be replaced by Jimmy Chang, Chief Operating Officer
of the Company from June 1
3.4 Information Regarding the Services Fee of Certified Public Accountants
3.4.1 Audit and Non-Audit Serice Fee for the Company
Unit: NT$ thousands
Accounting
Firm

Period Covered by
CPA’s Audit

Name of CPA

Sean Chao /
Deloitte & Peter Cheng
Touch
Nik Y. Chen /
Sean Chao

Audit Fee

2021.1.1-2021.6.30

2,680

Non-Audit
Fee
684
(Note)

Total

Remark

3,364

2021.7.1-2021.12.31

Note: internal rotation of accounting firm to replace accountants from the third quarter of 2021
Non-audit fees include certified tax service fee, ESO filing fee, company registration sercive fee
and other advance expenses.
3.4.2 In Case of Change of Accounting Firm and the Audit Fees Paid in the Year of Change Is
Reduced Comparing with That in the Year before Change, Amounts of Audit Fees Before
and After Change and Reasons Shall be Disclosed: None.
3.4.3 If the Audit Fees Is Reduced by More Than Ten Percent Comparing with That in the Last
Year, the Reduced Amount of Audit Fees, Proportion and Reason Shall Be Disclosed:
None。

3.5 Replacement of CPA: None
3.5.1 About the former Certified Public Accountants
Date of Replacement

November 8, 2021

Resons and Explanation of
Replacement

The CPAs are changed from Sean Chao and Peter Cheng to
Nik Y. Chen and Sean Chao due to the internal adjustment
from the accounting firm
Describe whether the
Party
CPA
Consignor
Company is terminated or the
Condition
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CPA did not accept the
appointment

Engagement terminated
automatically
Engagement discontinued

Not applicable

The Opinions other than
Unmodified Opinion Issued
within the last 2 years and the Not applicable
reason for the Said Opinion
- Accounting principles or practices
- Disclosure of financial report
Yes
- Scope or procedure of auditing
Any disagreement in Opinion
- Others
with the issuer
No
V
Explanation: None
Supplementary Disclosure
None
(Specific Disclosures
mentioned in Article
10.6.1.4~7 of the
Regulation)
3.5.2 About Successor Certified Public Accountants
Name of the firm

Deloitte & Touch

Name of CPA

Nik Y. Chen /Sean Chao

Date of appointment

November 8, 2021
Prior to the Formal Engagement, Any
Not applicable
Inquiry or Consultation on the
Accounting Treatment or Accounting
Principles for Specific Transactions, and
the Type of Audit Opinion that Might be
Rendered on the Financial Report
Written Opinions from the Successor
Not applicable
CPA that are Different from the Former
CPA Opinions
3.6 Audit Independence:
The Company’s Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and managers in
charge of its finance and accounting operations did not hold any positions in the Company’s
independent auditing firm or its affiliates during 2021.
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3.7 Changes in Shareholding of Directors, Supervisors, Managers and Major Shareholders
Unit: thousand shares
2021

As of Apr. 22, 2022
Pledged
Holding
Holding
Increase
Increase
(Decrease)
(Decrease)

Holding
Increase
(Decrease)

Pledged
Holding
Increase
(Decrease)

James Chang

60

－

－

－

Chang Chun Investment

－

－

－

－

Representive : Frank Chen

－

－

－

－

National Development Fund,
Executive Yuan
Representive Lu-Ping Chou、
Tai-Horng Young

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

－

Ruentex Industries Ltd.

－

－

－

－

Representive: Tien-Chieh Lee

－

6,700

－

－

Ruentex Development Co, Ltd.

－

－

－

－

Representive: Tamon Tseng

－

－

－

－

Ming-Ching Chen

－

－

－

－

Howard S. Lee

－

－

－

－

Gwo-Fong Lin

－

－

－

－

Manager

Jack Chen

－

－

(35)

－

Manager

Jimmy Chang

－

－

－

－

Title

Chairman

Name

Director

Director

Director

Director
Indepent
Director
Indepent
Director
Indepent
Director

3.7.1 Shares Transfering with Related Parties:
Name

Reason

Jack Chen

gift

Date

2022.4.15

Counterparty Relationship
with Directors, Supervisors,
Counterparty
Managers and Major
Shareholders
Grace Chen

3..7.2 Shares Pledge with Related Parties: None
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None

Thousand
shares

Transaction
price

35

-

3.8 Relationship among the Top Ten Shareholders
As of Mar 29, 2022

Shares

National Development
Fund, Executive Yuan
National Development
Fund, Executive Yuan
Representive Lu-Ping
Chou
National Development
Fund, Executive Yuan
Representive TaiHorng Young

%

39,932 15.82

Shareholding
by Nominee
Arrangement

Shares

%

Shares

%

Name

Relationship

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Ruentex Development
Ruentex Industries

Ruentex
Group

-

Huei Hong Investment
Ruentex Industries
Yi Tai Investment

Ruentex
Group

-

Huei Hong Investment
Ruentex Development
Yi Tai Investment

Ruentex
Group

-

Huei Hong Investment
Co., Ltd.

18,116

Ruentex Development
Co.,Ltd.

10,357

4.10

-

-

-

-

Ruentex Development
Representive: Tamon
Tseng

-

-

-

-

-

-

Ruentex Industries
Ltd.

Name and Relationship Between the
Company’s Top Ten Shareholders, or
Spouses or Relatives Within Two
Degrees

Spouse’s/minor’s
Shareholding

note

姓名

Current
Shareholding

7.18

-

-

-

Yi Tai Investment

10,261

4.07

-

-

-

-

Ruentex Industries
Representive: TienChieh Lee
Vanguard Emerging
Markets Stock Index
Fund
Vanguard Total
International Stock
Index Fund

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,576

1.02

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,490

0.99

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

ChiSheng Lin

2,069

0.82

1,053

0.42

Spouses

Yi Tai Investment Co.,
Ltd

1,625

0.64

-

-

-

-

James N. Chang
Huei Hong Investment
RuentexDevelopment
Ruentex Industries

Fubon Bank (Hong
Kong) Limited
Investment

1,410

0.56

-

-

-

-

James N. Chang

1,053

0.42

2,069

0.82

-

-
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Ruentex
Group

-

ChiSheng Lin

Spouses

-

3.9 Ownership of Shares in Affiliated Enterprises：
Unit: shares/ %
Affiliated
Enterprises
TaiMed USA

Ownership by the Company

Direct or Indirect Ownership by
Directors/Supervisors/Managers

Total Ownership

Shares

%

Shares

%

Shares

%

9,100,000

100%

-

-

9,100,000

100%

- 66 -

IV. Capital Overview
4.1 Capital and Shares
4.1.1 Source of Capital
A. Class of shares
As of 04/22/2022; Unit: share
Class of
shares
Ordinary
shares

Authorized share capital
Notes

Outstanding shares

Unissued shares

Total

252,356,000

47,644,000

300,000,000

OTC shares

B. Capital formation
1. Sources of share capital (in the last five years):
Unit：thousand shares；NT$ thousands
Authorized share
capital
Year Issue
Month price Number
(NT$)
of shares

Amount

Paid-up share capital

Notes

Number of
Amount
shares

Capital
Increased by
Sources of
Assets
share capital
Other
than Cash

2017
3

10
33.3
45.6
75.6

909,500
260,000 2,600,000 249,941.75 2,499,417.5 shares ESO
exercised

－

2017
4

33.3
45.6
75.6

254,000
260,000 2,600,000 250,195.75 2,501,957.5 shares ESO
exercised

－

2017
11

33.3
45.6

105,000
260,000 2,600,000 250,300.75 2,503,007.5 shares ESO
exercised

2018
4

33.3
38,000
75.6 260,000 2,600,000 250,338.75 2,503,387.5 shares ESO
139.2
exercised

45.6
44,500
2018 75.6
260,000 2,600,000 250,383.25 2,503,832.5 shares ESO
5
139.2
exercised
237
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Other

Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10601034950 Letter
on March 22, 2017.
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10601054520 Letter
on April 28, 2017.
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10601156180 Letter
on November 17,
2017.
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10701043630 Letter
on April 24, 2018.
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10701053290 Letter
on May 30, 2018.

45.6
432,000
2018 75.6
260,000 2,600,000 250,815.25 2,508,152.5 shares ESO
.9
139.2
exercised
237

2018
11

33.3
45.6
260,000 2,600,000
75.6
139.2

33.3
2019 45.6
260,000 2,600,000
4
75.6
139.2
33.3
45.6
2019
75.6 260,000 2,600,000
5
139.2
166.5

251,047

251,380

252,177

2,510,470

231,750
shares ESO
exercised

2,513,800

333,000
shares ESO
exercised

2,521,770

797,000
shares ESO
exercised

2019
11

33.3
75.6

300,000

3,000,000

252,183

2,521,830

6,000
shares ESO
exercised

2020
.4

33.3
45.6

300,000

3,000,000

252,190

2,521,900

7,000
shares ESO
exercised

2020
5

33.3

300,000

3,000,000

252,198

2,521,980

8,000
shares ESO
exercised

2020
9

33.3
75.6

300,000

3,000,000

252,219

2,522,190

21,000
shares ESO
exercised

2020
11

33.3

300,000

3,000,000

252,220

2,522,200

1,000
shares ESO
exercised

2,522,230

3,000
shares ESO
exercised

2,522,430

20,000
shares ESO
exercised

2021
3

33.3

2021
6

33.3
45.6

300,000 3,000,000

300,000 3,000,000

252,223

252,243
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Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10701110550 Letter
on September 5,
2018.
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
107011451700 Letter
on November 30,
2018.
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10801034580 Letter
on April 17, 2019.
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10801052770 Letter
on May 14, 2019.
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10801159600 Letter
on November 18,
2019.
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10901050050 Letter
on April 9, 2020.
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10901074750 Letter
on May 12, 2020
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10901159880 Letter
on September 7, 2020
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
10901222490 Letter
on November 23,
2020
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
11001043910 Letter
on March 16, 2021
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
11001091380Letter
on June 9, 2021

Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
11001143130 Letter
on August 12, 2021
Approved by ShouShang-Zi No.
11001212010 Letter
on November 24,
2021

2021
8

45.6

300,000 3,000,000

252,304

2,523,040

61,000
shares ESO
exercised

2021
11

45.6

300,000 3,000,000

252,311

2,523,110

7,000
shares ESO
exercised

2,523,270

16,000
shares ESO
exercised

Approved by ShouShang-Zi No. Letter
on April 6, 2022

29,000
shares ESO
exercised

The change
registration has not
been completed when
the annual report is
printed

2022
3

2022
4

45.6

45.6

300,000 3,000,000

252,327

300,000 3,000,000

252,356

2,523,560

2. Information for Shelf Registration：N/A

4.1.2 Status of Shareholders
As of 03/29/2022

Structure
Item
Number of
Shareholders
Shareholding
(shares)
Percentage

Government
Agencies

Financial
Institutions

Other
Juridical
Persons

Domestic
Natural
Persons

Foreign
Institutions &
Natural
Persons

Total

2

0

290

35,118

104

35,514

39,998,000

0

46,334,500

148,836,831

17,186,669

252,356,000

15.85%

0%

18.36%

58.98%

6.81%

100%

4.1.3 Shareholding Distribution Status
A. Common Shares
As of 03/29/2022
Class of Shareholding (Unit: Share)
1～
1,000～
5,001～
10,001～
15,001～

999
5,000
10,000
15,000
20,000

Number of
Shareholders
13,850
16,516
2,457
857
529
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Shareholding
(Shares)
323,853
33,718,836
19,350,616
10,992,914
9,750,699

Percentage
0.13
13.36
7.67
4.36
3.86

20,001～
30,000
30,001～
40,000
40,001～
50,000
50,001～
100,000
100,001～
200,000
200,001～
400,000
400,001～
600,000
600,001～
800,000
800,001～ 1,000,000
1,000,001 以上
合

計

495
231
134
262
107
40
15
7
2
12

12,537,343
8,248,578
6,112,030
18,024,049
15,099,807
10,747,647
7,317,208
4,883,944
1,790,000
93,458,476

4.97
3.27
2.42
7.14
5.98
4.26
2.90
1.94
0.71
37.03

35,514

252,356,000

100.00

B. Preferred Shares: N/A
4.1.4 List of Major Shareholders
List all shareholders with a stake of 5 percent or greater, and if those are fewer than 10 shareholders,
also list all shareholders who rank in the top 10 in shareholding percentage, and specify the number
of shares and stake held by each shareholder on the list.
As of 03/29/2022
Shareholding

Shares

Percentage (%)

National Development Fund, Executive Yuan

39,932,000

15.82

Huei Hong Investment Co., Ltd.

18,115,895

7.18

Ruentex Development Co.,Ltd.

10,357,408

4.10

Ruentex Industries Ltd.

10,261,408

4.07

Vanguard Emerging Markets Stock Index Fund

2,576,090

1.02

Vanguard Total International Stock Index Fund

2,490,000

0.99

ChiSheng Lin

2,069,355

0.82

Yi Tai Investment Co., Ltd.

1,625,824

0.64

1,410,000

0.56

1,053,409

0.42

Shareholder's Name

Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited Investment
James N. Chang
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4.1.5 Market Price, Net Worth, Earnings, and Dividends per Share
Unit: NT$; thousand shares

Year
Item
Market price
per share
Net value
per share
Earnings
per share
Dividend
per share

Return on
investment
analysis

2020

Maximum
128.50
Minimum
52.40
Average
93.58
Before distribution
13.54
After distribution
13.54
Weighted-average shares
128.50
Diluted
(0.73)
Earnings
per share Adjusted Diluted
(0.73)
Cash dividend
0
Diluted
0
Stock
Dividends Adjusted Diluted
0
Accumulated Undistributed
0
Dividends
Price / Earnings Ratio
(128.19)
Price / Dividend Ratio
Not applicable
Cash Dividend Yield
Not applicable
Rate(%)

2021
85.10
59.20
72.75
11.66
11.66
85.10
(1.87)
(1.87)
0
0
0
0
(38.90)
Not applicable
Not applicable

Notes: The Company did not distribute dividends in 2020 and 2021.
4.1.6 Dividend Policy and Implementation Status
A. Dividend Policy
If earnings are available for distribution at the end of a fiscal year, 10% of net earnings – that is,
after offsetting any loss from prior year(s) and paying all taxes and dues – shall be set aside as
legal reserve and appropriated in accordance with the Securities Exchange Law. The remaining
net earnings can be distributed along with prior accumulated unappropriated retained earnings.
The Board of Directors will consider the above-mentioned factors when making the dividend
distribution proposal. Dividends will be distributed in accordance with the resolution approved by
the Board of Directors and at the annual shareholders’ meeting.
B. Proposed Distribution of Dividend
The Company had no surplus in 2021, and there was no surplus distribution, hence it was not
applicable。
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4.1.7 The impact of stock grants proposed by Shareholders' Meeting this time on company
business performance and earnings per share: None
4.1.8 Compensation of Employees, Directors and Supervisors
A.Information Relating to Compensation of Employees, Directors and Supervisors in the Articles
of Incorporation
If profits are available in the year, the Corporation shall allocate no less than one percent of them
as employee compensation, which will be distributed or issued in stock or cash according to
board resolution, and the issuing objects thereof include employees of affiliated company
meeting certain conditions; based on the amounts of profits mentioned above, the Corporation
may allocate no more than two percent as the compensation for directors and supervisors. The
proposal for distributing employee compensation and director and supervisor compensation shall
be reported to the Shareholders' Meeting.
B. The basis for estimating the amount of employee, director, and supervisor compensation, for
calculating the number of shares to be distributed as employee compensation, and the accounting
treatment of the discrepancy, if any, between the actual distributed amount and the estimated
figure, for the current period:
Employee (including managerial officer), director and supervisor compensations are not
estimated due to the losses in this period.
C. Distribution of Compensation of Employees, Directors and Supervisors for 2021 Approved in
the Board of Directors Meeting
The Company had no surplus available for distribution in 2020, hence it was not applicable.
D, Information of 2020 Distribution of Compensation of Employees, Directors and Supervisors
(with an indication of the number of shares, monetary amount, and stock price, of the shares
distributed) and, if there is any discrepancy between the actual distribution and the recognized
employee, director, or supervisor compensation, additionally the discrepancy, cause, and how it
is treated.
The Company had no surplus available for distribution in the last year, hence it was not
applicable
4.1.9 Buy-back of Treasury Stock: None
4.2 Handling Situation of Corporate Bonds: None
4.3 Handling Situation of Special Shares: None
4.4 Handling Situation of Global Depository Receipts: None
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4.5 Handling Situation of Employee Stock Option Certificate
4.5.1 Issuance of Employee Stock Options
Type of employee
stock option
certificate

As of 04/22/2022
2012
2013
2014
2015
First time ESO First time ESO First time ESO First time ESO
certificate
certificate
certificate
certificate

Approval date

12/26/2012

12/31/2013

01/06/2015

12/31/2015

Issuing date

12/27/2012

01/01/2014

01/07/2015

01/04/2016

1,935,000

1,642,000

1,603,000

1,064,500

0.77%

0.65%

0.64%

0.42%

10 years

10 years

10 years

10 years

Issue new
shares for
delivery

Issue new
shares for
delivery

Issue new
shares for
delivery

Issue new
shares for
delivery

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

1,565,000

796,000

414,500

68,000

71,364,000

60,177,600

57,698,400

16,116,000

370,000

846,000

1,188,500

996,500

45.6

75.6

139.2

237

0.20%

0.34%

0.47%

0.40%

Number of issuing
unit
Proportion of total
shares issued for
subscription issued
Duration
Method of
performance

Limited subscription
period and
proportion (%)

Executed number of
shares obtained
Executed
subscription amount
Unexecuted
subscription quantity
Subscription price
per share
Unexercised shares as a
percentage of total issued
shares

Impact on
shareholders' rights
and interests

The Company's issue of employee stock option certificate aims
at attracting and retaining professional talents, and
encouraging and improving employees' centripetal force and
productivity, so as to jointly create company and shareholder
benefits, it has positive impact on the shareholders' equity
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Type of employee
stock option
certificate

2016
2017
2017
2018
First time ESO First time ESO First time ESO First time ESO
certificate
certificate
certificate
certificate

Approval date

12/29/2016

01/04/2018

01/04/2018

12/24/2018

Issuing date

12/30/2016

01/05/2018

04/30/2018

12/25/2018

859,000

883,000

164,000

995,000

0.34%

0.35%

0.07%

0.39%

10 年

10 年

10 年

10 years

Issue new
shares for
delivery

Issue new
shares for
delivery

Issue new
shares for
delivery

Issue new
shares for
delivery

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

40,000

0

0

0

6,660,000

0

0

0

819,000

883,000

164,000

995,000

166.5

186.5

310

160.5

0.32%

0.35%

0.07%

0.39%

Number of issuing
unit
Proportion of total
shares issued for
subscription issued
Duration
Method of
performance

Limited subscription
period and
proportion (%)

Executed number of
shares obtained
Executed
subscription amount
Unexecuted
subscription quantity
Subscription price
per share
Unexercised shares
as a percentage of
total issued shares

The Company's issue of employee stock option certificate aims
Impact on
at attracting and retaining professional talents, and
shareholders'
encouraging and improving employees' centripetal force and
rights and interests productivity, so as to jointly create company and shareholder
benefits, it has positive impact on the shareholders' equity
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Type of employee
stock option
certificate

2019
2019
2020
2021
First time ESO First time ESO First time ESO First time ESO
certificate
certificate
certificate
certificate

Approval date

12/27/2019

12/27/2019

01/04/2021

12/27/2021

Issuing date

12/28/2019

11/05/2020

01/05/2021

12/28/2021

830,000

17,000

759,000

625,400

0.33%

0.01%

0.30%

0.25%

10 years

10 years

10 years

10 years

Issue new
shares for
delivery

Issue new
shares for
delivery

Issue new
shares for
delivery

Issue new
shares for
delivery

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

50% subscription
right can be
exercised after 2
years. 75%
subscription right
can be exercised
after 3 years
100% subscription
right can be
exercised after 4
years.

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

830,000

17,000

759,000

625,400

120

90

85.2

70.9

0.33%

0.01%

0.30%

0.25%

Number of issuing
unit
Proportion of total
shares issued for
subscription issued
Duration
Method of
performance

Limited subscription
period and
proportion (%)

Executed number of
shares obtained
Executed
subscription amount
Unexecuted
subscription quantity
Subscription price
per share
Unexercised shares
as a percentage of
total issued shares
Impact on
shareholders' rights
and interests

The Company's issue of employee stock option certificate aims
at attracting and retaining professional talents, and
encouraging and improving employees' centripetal force and
productivity, so as to jointly create company and shareholder
benefits, it has positive impact on the shareholders' equity

Note:1 .From January to March in 2022, employees executed 29,000 stock options, and the
registration of change has not yet been completed.
2. The number of shares retrieved upon dimission and included in unexercised employee
stock option certificates are 2,108,630 shares
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3. According to the ESO issuance method, the 2014 cash capital increase adjusted the 2013 ESO
issuance subscription price, and the adjusted issuance subscription price was NT$75.6;
the 2015 cash capital increase adjusted the 2014 ESO issuance subscription price, and the
adjusted issuance subscription price was NT$139.2.
4.5.2 List of Executives Receiving Employee Stock Options and the Top Ten Employees with
Stock Options：
Executed

COO

Jmmy
Chang

CFO

Jack Chen

RD VP

M-H Chen

4,364,000 1.73%

550,000

employee

Director Jason Mo
Director Obi Wang
Director Frank Liang
Seniors W-C Chang
Director
Director YinAnLai
TMB USA

Stanley

TMB USA

Helen

TMB USA

Steve

TMB USA

LanBo

TMB USA

Jonathan

4,732,100

1.88% 1,957,000

45.6
75.6

45.6
75.6
139.2
237
166.5

Amount
(NT$)

Converted Shares as a
Percentage of Shares Issued

James
Chang

Strike Price
(NT$)

Manager

CEO

Amount
(NT$)

No. of Shares Converted

Options

Converted Shares as a
Percentage of Shares Issued

Stock

Strike Price
(NT$)

Na me

No. of Shares Converted

Title

Stock Options as a
Percentage of Shares Issue

No. of

Unexecuted

27,630,000 0.22% 3,814,000

45.6
75.6
139.2
237
166.5
186.5
310
160.5
120
85.2
70.9

541,980,000 1.51%

155,528,400 0.78% 2,775,100

45.6
75.6
139.2
237
166.5
186.5
310
160.5
120
90
85.2
70.9

417,901,730 1.10%

Note： M-H Chen, Stanley, Helen, Steve and LanBo had resigned or retired.
4.6 Handling Situation of Restricted Sock Awards: None
4.7 Handling Situation of New Shares Issuance in Connection with Mergers and Acquisitions:
None
4.8 Execution of fund application plan:
There are no previous issuances or private placements of securities that have not been completed
or completed within the last three years and the benefits of the plan have not yet materialized
- 76 -

V. Operation Overview
5.1 Business content
5.1.1 Business Scope
(1) The main content of the business
1. IG01010 Biotechnology Services
2. F401010 International Trade
3. C802080 Environmental Medicine Manufacturing
4. F208050 Retail Sale of the Second Type Medicine
5. C199990 Manufacture of Other Food Products Not Elsewhere Classified
6. IC01010 Pharmaceuticals Examining Services
7. F107080 Wholesale of Environment Medicine
8. F207080 Retail Sale of Environment Medicine
9. F108021 Wholesale of Western Pharmaceutical
10. F208021 Retail Sale of Western Pharmaceutical
11. F601010 Intellectual Property Rights
12. IG02010 Research and Development Service
13. ZZ99999 All business items that are not prohibited or restricted by law, except
those that are subject to special approval
14. C802041 Drugs and Medicines Manufacturing
(2) Operating Ratio of the Company
The company's new anti-HIV drug, Trogarzo, is now only available in Europe and the
United States, and 100% of it is sold overseas.
(3) Current product (service) projects of the Company
TMB-355 (trade name: Trogarzo) is mainly used to provide long-acting monoclonal
antibody drugs for AIDS patients with multiple drug resistance once every two weeks.
Trogarzo's intravenous dosage form was launched to be sold in the United States at the end of
April 2018 and was launched to be sold in Germany as the first country in Europe in
September 2020 before expanding to other countries.
(4) New Products (Services) Involved in the R&D Projects of the Company
A. TMB-355 (IV Push): The Company submitted a supplemental Biologics License application
(sBLA) to the U.S. FDA in December 2021. The product specifications are the same, but
Trogarzo is a dosage form easier for injection to expand the market demand.
B. TMB-355 (IM): Phase IIII clinical study is ongoing. After the trial is completed and the
primary endpoint is met, the sBLA will be applied. The product specifications are the same,
but Trogarzo is a dosage form easier for injection to expand the market demand.
C. TMB-365/380 combination: The long-acting injection therapy with complete antibody is
the most important core product portfolio of the next generation of the company. It is hoped
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to extend its use cycle to bimonthly dosing, or even quarterly dosing, targeting the first-line
maintenance therapy market for AIDS.
5.1.2 Industry Overview
(1) Status and development of the industry
A. Status and development of the global pharmaceutical industry
According to IQVIA, the scale of the global pharmaceutical market reached US$1.27
trillion in 2020. The advanced countries represented by the United States, the five European
countries (Germany, France, the United Kingdom, Italy, and Spain), Japan, South Korea,
Australia, and Canada have a pharmaceutical market of approximately US$959.5 billion in
2020, accounting for approximately 76% of the global pharmaceutical market and the
growth rate in 2021-2025 is expected to be about 1.5%~4.5%. In emerging countries such
as China, Brazil, India, and Russia, the pharmaceutical market in 2020 will be about 290.8
billion U.S. dollars, accounting for about 23% of the global pharmaceutical market. The
market share is increasing year by year, and the compound annual growth rate will be 7~10%.
The increase of both medical cost control and breakthrough medication costs will become
key factors in the development of the global pharmaceutical market. As the aging population
drives the growth of medical expenditures, it will also become the driving force for the
growth of the pharmaceutical market.
B.Current status and development of global anti-HIV drugs
The field of AIDS (Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome, AIDS) is not the same as
other drugs. The global anti-HIV drug market is dominated by Europe and the United States
with most of the markets controlled by the top five companies. Among them, the leading
company Gilead's product line is all first-line (initial) treatment drugs, including two-in-one
and three-in-one first-line drugs, with a market share of more than half. However, after years
of using the anti-HIV drug, AIDS patients gradually developed resistance to the drugs and
had to start receiving the second-line treatment drugs. Under the very different competitive
market, the market share is carved up by manufacturers such as Merck, Bristol, ViiV,
Johnson & Johnson, etc. It is estimated that, driven by new drugs, the global sales of antiHIV drugs will grow to more than US$30 billion in 2020. In addition, anti-AIDS drugs with
new mechanisms of action have been continuously discovered in the past few years. These
new drugs can bring new hope to AIDS patients and provide physicians with another option
of treatment drugs.
(2) Relevance of the industry's upstream, midstream and downstrem
Different from the general industry, the relevance of the upstream, midstream, and
downstream reaches of the biotech and new pharmaceutical industry include industryacademic institutions and R&D units, preclinical and clinical trial centers at home and
abroad, API and drug foundries, pharmaceutical companies and marketing channels, etc.
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After the biopharmaceutical products have been put through the drug exploratory stage
and confirmed by the laboratory for their research and development outcomes, they will
enter the drug development stage at a pilot factory to confirm the feasibility of the
laboratory’s products to enter the market for standardized production and set the
specifications and standards for batch production. At the same time, the analytical method
for product analysis and the cleaning method for process equipment are set to meet the
requirements of relevant laws and regulations. After cGMP-produced products enter nonclinical animal tests, including pharmacokinetics tests, drug toxicology tests and
pharmacological tests, etc., to ensure that the product can demonstrate efficacy in animals
without safety concerns, you may apply for Investigational New Drug (IND) to the health
authority and start the three phases of human clinical trial.
In the first phase of the clinical trial, healthy volunteers are enrolled as trial subjects to
evaluate the safety of the new drugs. In the second phase of clinical trials, a small number
of patients are enrolled as trial subjects, mainly to provide the basis for treatment effect and
explore possible effective doses. Only after the trial treatment effect reaches a certain degree
of reproducibility, can the third phase clinical trial be launched to confirm the treatment
effect on a large number of patients. After the third phase of the clinical trial is completed,
the trial report must be sent to the health authority for the New Drug Application (NDA).
After passing the inspection and registration, the health authority must also monitor these
new drugs and, if serious adverse reactions or poor efficacy are found, the marketing
authorization will be revoked.
Among them, the drug exploratory stage is mainly carried out by domestic and foreign
industries, academic institutions, and R&D units. The subsequent pre-clinical and clinical
trials at various stages are mostly led by biotech and new pharmaceuticals development
companies and executed in collaboration with the Contract Research Organization (CRO).
The mass production and marketing of drugs are mostly carried out by major pharmaceutical
companies and Contract Manufacturing Organization (CMO).
(3) Trend of Product Development
HIV spreads the virus through body fluids, enters the human body through the damaged
mucosal surface or skin, and attacks various immune cells. After the patient is infected,
CD4+ T cells continue to be infected by the virus and CD4+ T cells that are not infected by
the virus die through the message of apoptosis. When the number of CD4+ T cells continues
to decrease to less than 200cells/mm3, it will cause the body's immune function to decline
which will, in turn, cause the onset of AIDS.
Thousands of infected cells are replicated every day in the bodies of HIV-infected
people. In addition to a large number of replicated viruses, HIV-infected people often have
viral gene mutations in their bodies, causing the virus to develop mutant strains in the body.
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It often results in the patients developing drug resistance against anti-HIV drugs which lead
to treatment failure. In order to overcome the problem of drug resistance in viruses, Dr.
David Ho developed a mixed therapy (Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy, HAART) in
1996 by combining three drugs, commonly known as cocktail therapy. The basic principle
is to use multiple drugs at the same time. When the virus mutation becomes resistant to one
of the drugs, the other drugs can continue to suppress the virus replication and mutation.
Due to the advent of cocktail therapy, the mortality rate of HIV-infected patients and the
morbidity rate of various opportunistic infections have dropped significantly; making AIDS
a chronic disease that requires long-term medication to suppress the virus but cannot be
cured.
The HIV/AIDS market can be roughly divided into four lines based on treatment
methods. When the patients have no response to the initial therapy and begin to develop
drug resistance, they should enter the second-line therapy and uses a new HIV drug
combination. When the patients develop resistance to second-line therapy, the third-line
therapy should be applied. If the treatment fails, the final salvage therapy (i.e. fourth-line
therapy) will be performed. At present, the company’s Trogarzo drug targets the fourth-line
salvage therapy. In the future, the research and development of other dosage forms will be
extended to the second, third, and even first-line markets. Regarding the global market size
of salvage therapy, there is currently no objective information available for reference.
(4) Product Competition
Based on different mechanisms of action, different anti-AIDS drugs currently sold on the
market are explained as follows:
A. Reverse transcriptase inhibitors (RTIs): inhibit the activity of reverse transcriptase.
Reverse transcriptase is an enzyme used by HIV to replicate. Lack of this enzyme can
prevent HIV from building RNA and DNA. At present, there are two forms of Reverse
transcriptase inhibitors (RTIs):
a. Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors，NNRTIs
b. Nucleotide analog reverse transcriptase inhibitors，NtARTIs or NtRTIs
B. Protease inhibitors (PIs): Protease inhibitors, which are required to inhibit the activity of
HIV, can also be used to inhibit replication.
C. Entry and Fusion inhibitors (EIs/FIs): Inhibitor drugs that inhibit the entry of AIDS virus
into the cell by dissolving the host cell membrane.
D.Integrase Inhibitors (IIs): The enzymes destroyed by the drug will help the DNA made by
the virus integrate into the host DNA to produce new viral RNA.
Regarding the types of anti-HIV drugs, small molecule chemical drugs and protein
drugs can be distinguished. At present, all anti-HIV drugs on the market are small-molecule
chemical drugs, which are highly toxic and have many side effects, which can easily cause
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patients to not take the drugs on time. Since most drugs are taken orally on a daily basis
while the cocktail therapy uses a combination of different drugs each with different
administration frequency, the patients are likely to forget taking the drug. The failure to
follow the doctor’s advice for taking the medicine on time will cause drug resistance
problems and lead to treatment failure. Therefore, major new drug research and development
companies in the world have successively invested in the development of long-acting
injections to reduce the problem of drug resistance caused by not taking the drugs on time.
Among the projects currently developed by TaiMed Biologics, TMB-355, TMB-365,
and TMB-380 are all monoclonal antibody drugs with an advantage of using the high
specificity of the antibody to the target for connecting the antigen accurately. Therefore, it
will neither destructively or functionally hinder normal tissues nor undergo liver metabolism
with almost no adverse drug reactions or side effects to patients in clinical trials. The above
drugs are all EIs/FIs drugs. In addition to being a new mechanism, the injection form
developed by TaiMed Biologics can provide patients with a simple treatment frequency and
avoid developing drug resistance. Contrary to the traditional oral dosage form sold on the
market, the target of the current research is to develop new types of drugs with enhanced
efficacy, reduced side effects, reduced dosage, and improved frequency of administration to
lay out the future mid- and long-term treatment market for AIDS, gain a leading position,
and develop an excellent niche market.
5.1.3 Technology and R&D Overview
(1) Technical level of the business
TaiMed Biologics’ professional science & technology transfer evaluation team
conducted a comprehensive discussion on the innovation, technology, intellectual property
rights, and clinical application value of the new drug R&D project. The management team
conducts relevant research on market evaluation, economic benefits, risk factors, and return
on investment. After a complete evaluation of each new drug R&D project for the treatment
of infectious diseases, it is handed over to the R&D team to plan out the experimental
direction, schedule, manpower requirements, milestones, and experimental results acceptance,
etc., and perform relevant preclinical and clinical trials. It is also hoped that after the new drug
is launched, patients will be able to effectively improve their quality of life within the
maximum safety range.
(2) Research and development overview
A. Anti-HIV drug TMB-355 (ibalizumab)
a. IV Infusion : The new drug marketing application was approved by the US FDA in
March 2018 while the new drug marketing application was approved by the EMA in
September 2019.
b. IV Push: The phase III clinical trial completed and the data reached the primary and
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secondary endpoints. The supplemental biologics license application (sBLA) for
Trogarzo IV Push administration form had been submitted to the US FDA in the
fourth quarter of 2021 to expand the future market.
c. IM Injection : TaiMed reached an agreement with Theratechnologies on May 18, 2021
to officially start a phase III clinical trial of Trogarzo IM injection to further expand
the use of the drug in multi-drug resistant patients in the United States and Europe.
The clinical trial, regulatory application and other related costs are all borne by
Theratechnologies
B. TMB-365: The technological development of TMB-365 was published in the worldrenowned scientific journal Nature Biotechnology. In 2014, the company started various
pre-clinical developments. Consequently, the application for the Investigational New
Drug (IND) was approved by the U.S. FDA in in August 2019 and entered the Phase I
human clinical trial in the fourth quarter of 2019. The trail had been completed in October,
2021. After analysis, the test results far exceed the original set. It suggested that
bimonthly dosing, or even quarterly dosing, is likely achievable with appropriate doses.
C. TMB-370 (Bispecific Antibody): The technology transfer of TMB-370 (Bispecific
Antibody) from the world-renowned AIDS research center Aaron Diamond AIDS
Research Center (ADARC) is the company’s third-generation monoclonal antibody
biologics. According to preliminary data from the phase 1 of the ADARC clinical trial,
the pharmacokinetic data (PK) of TMB-370 is only comparable to that of Trogarzo, not
as good as TMB-365's ultra-high and long-lasting level. Based on the overall business
strategy and the concentration of R&D resources, it is planned to terminate the TMB-370
new drug development plan and return to ADARC..
D.The technology transfer of TMB-380 (VRC07-523LS) from the National Institutes of
Health (NIH) of the United States is the latest patented antibody technology for a new
anti-HIV drug. The company expects to combine TMB-365 and 380 with full antibodies
to conduct related clinical trials
E. The technology transfer of TMB-200 from Columbia University is the latest patented
antibody for the treatment and prevention of COVID-19. Since March, 2021, the
development plan suspended to develop in-house after seriously evaluation. Instead,
TaiMed will invest in RenBio of the United States to continue to develop this new
antibody drug.
(3) R&D personnel and their educational backgrounds and work experiences (including TMB
USA R&D personnel, but excluding manufacturing operations personnel)
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Name
Brian Bell

Jonathon Ho

Highest Education
Main Experience
(School & Department)
Clinical
Bachelor the Study of
Genentech
Manager
Infectious Disease,
Tanox, Inc.
TMB USA University of Texas
Bachelor in
Business
Economics,
TaiMed Biologics
developer Massachusetts Institute USA
TMB USA
of Technology
Job Title

MAO,
YU-HUNG

Director of
R&D

WANG,
CHEN-YU

Director of
Drug
Analysis

WEN,
CHU-LING

Chief
Researcher/
Pharmacist

KUO,
KUEI-LING

Chief
Researcher/
Pharmacist

CHANG,
HUA-CHI

Chief
Researcher

LAI,
YING-AN

Director of
Clinical
Research

HSIEH,
YI-HUA

Researcher

HSU,
YU-YEN

Researcher

TSOU,YU

Researcher

Major Technical Achievements

Serving as a clinical trial assistant
for TMB-355 during his tenure at
Tanox.
Coordination and business
cooperation & development of antiHIV project run by Aaron Diamond
AIDS Research Center (ADARC).
Leading a number of pre-clinical
and non-clinical research and
Development Center
Doctor of Pharmacy,
development projects on small
for Biotechnology
Kobe University
molecule drugs and
PharmaEssentia
macromolecular biotechnology
medicines
Drug concentration and metabolite
analysis for clinical trials on antiPh.D. of Pharmacy, XenoBiotic Labs,
cancer, immunomodulation,
Doctor of Pharmacy Medpace
cardiovascular, diabetes, antirheumatic, hypolipidemic, antithrombotic, and pesticides.
Development of Alpha Technology
Ph.D. of Biochemistry Proteomics & Protein
and bioplex high-throughput
and Molecular Biology, Function Core Lab,
screening platform and screening of
National Taiwan
NTU Center of
biomarkers by glycoprotein
University
Genomic Medicine
analysis.
Participated in the establishment of
College of Pharmacy, pharmacokinetic and
Ph.D. of Pharmacy,
University of
pharmacodynamic models in
University of Kentucky
Kentucky
clinical trials and related research
on protein conversion.
Management and optimization of
research projects, analysis and
Master of
verification of outsourced research
Biochemistry, National Academia Sinica
data results, analysis of physical
Yang-Ming University
and chemical properties of drugs
and implementation of stability
tests.
Management of R&D projects,
National Research
Master of Biology,
analysis of experimental results,
Institute of Chinese
Rutgers University
and coordinated management of
Medicine
clinical trials.
Master of
Purzer
R&D project of macromolecular
Neuroscience, National
Pharmaceutical
drug and laboratory work.
Yangming University
Master of
Microbiology and
YIYANG
Clinical serum immunoassay and
Immunology, National
Biotechnology
laboratory work
Defense Medical
Center
Master of Molecular
Assistant
and Cellular Biology,
R&D project of macromolecular
Researcher of UBI
National Tsing Hua
drug.
Pharma Inc.
University
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Seniority
16

11

24

16

14

9

16

12

10

20

6

Highest Education
Main Experience
(School & Department)
Bachelor of Bioscience laboratory
Laboratory
Technology, Chang
administrator of
Specialist
Jung University
GGA Corp.

Name

Job Title

CHEN,
YI-WEN

YUTING

LIN,
CHUN-RU

Associate
Researcher

Seniority

Co-organize project/project
management

5

Protech Pharma
Services
Corporation

Small Molecule Drug
Chromatography Method
Development
Calibration and sample analysis

5

Master of
TFBS
Biotechnology,
Biotechnologies
Chungyuan University Inc.

Lentivirus process development

6

Master of Fu Jen
Associate
Catholic University
Researcher
Institute of Chemistry

ZHOU,

Major Technical Achievements

(1) Research and development expenses for the last five years
Unit: NT$ thousands
Year
Project
R&D expenses
Paid-in capital at the
end of the term
The proportion of R&D
expenses to paid-in
capital (%)

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

510,737

440,390

575,832

394,449

460,600

2,503,388

2,513,800

2,521,900

2,522,230

2,523,270

20.40%

17.52%

22.83%

15.64%

18.25%

5.1.4 Long-term and short-term business development plans
(1) Long-term business development plan
A. The clinical trials of each product line will continue to be completed, with the goal of
obtaining drug permit licenses for the United States, Europe, and other major markets. In
the future, through various modes such as self-development and execution, technology
licensing, or joint development with international pharmaceutical companies, we will
accumulate valuable pharmaceutical R&D experience to launch the products for sale
successfully. At the same time, the company may collect the license fee as provided in
the cooperation agreement and the royalties after the product is launched for sale.
B. Plan and maintain the right to develop, manufacture, and sell new drugs in the main
international anti-HIV drug markets to maximize profits. In the future, the introduction
of new drug R&D projects will focus more on the evaluation of new drug technologies
or patent licensing that have completed initial development, have marketability, and have
a high success rate.
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(2) Short-term business development plan
A. The supplemental biologics license application (sBLA) of Trogarzo IV Push has been
formally submitted to the US FDA on December, 2021. TaiMed continue to implement
the phase III clinical trils of Trogarzo IM injection and marketing approval application
afterlate.
B. TaiMed R&D will focus on the clinical trials of the combination of TMB-365 and TMB380, targeting the market for first-line maintenance therapy, with the goal of obtaining
new drug approval in the United States and Europe in the future
C. The company’s Zhubei plant will prioritize the implementation of the next-generation
new AIDS drugs such as TMB-365 and TMB-380, and strive to pass the GMP inspection
and verification of the US FDA, so as to obtain the CDMO's commissioned production
and development business..
5.2 Market, Production & Sales Overview
5.2.1 Market Analysis
(1) Sales region of main products
After TMB-355 (trade name Trogarzo) was approved by the US FDA for marketing, it
has been officially sold in the United States after the end of April 2018 and sold in Germany
as the first country in Europe after the end of September 2020. The other anti-HIV drugs
TMB-365, TMB-380 are all experimental drugs in the developmental stage without any
sales records.
(2) Market Share
The company’s main business is the research and development of various new antiviral
drugs. The new HIV drugs in the current product line are all monoclonal antibody protein
drugs. Compared to the current anti-HIV market that involves small-molecule chemical
drugs, the advantage lies in the use of the highly specific characteristics of antibodies against
the target (antigen) to connect the antigen accurately and precisely. Therefore, there is no
destructive or functional hindrance to normal cell tissues. Since there is no related
monoclonal antibody drug on the market, it has considerable growth potential in the future.
The product developed by our company is aiming at a long-acting injection with a longlasting treatment effect and convenient administration frequency for the patients to use,
which also strengthens patients' compliance with doctors’ orders. Since the EIs products sold
on the market are not administered in the form of a long-acting drug, it is impossible to
calculate and analyze the company's future market share based on their sales data. In addition,
the products developed by the company are currently in the R&D stage and are not sold on
the market. Therefore, it is difficulty to analyze their market share either.
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(3) The future supply & demand and growth of the market
The global anti-HIV drug market is dominated by Europe and the United States (US$12
billion) with most of the markets controlled by the top five companies. Among them, the
leading company Gilead's product line is mostly first-line (initial) treatment drugs with a
market share of more than half. However, after years of using the anti-HIV drug, AIDS
patients gradually developed resistance to the drugs and had to start receiving the secondline treatment drugs. Under the very different competitive market, the market share is carved
up by manufacturers such as Merck, ViiV, Johnson & Johnson, etc. It is estimated that,
driven by new drugs, the global sales of anti-HIV drugs will grow to more than US$30 billion
in 2020
At present, the target range of the future application of TMB-365 and 380 combination
of the Company is not the first-line patients who received the initial drug, but the first-line
patients have already controlled their viral load, and intends to use long-acting drugs to
stably maintain the disease, no longer daily take medicine. The combination is completely
different in targeting the multi-drug resistant patient market of Trogarzo. It will target on
the first-line HIV maintenance therapy for US$10 billion in business opportunities.
(4) Competitive Niche
A. Complete planning of product line
In cooperation with domestic and foreign industry-academia research and development
institutions, the introduction of promising new drug R&D projects is evaluated and
authorized to reduce the risk of R&D failure and increase the probability of successful
clinical trials. TaiMed Biologics is currently carrying out a number of new drug R&D
projects, the progress of which is distributed in the various stages of new drug research
& development and clinical trials. Currently, new product R&D projects are under
evaluation.
B. High product safety and excellent treatment effect
Among the new drug R&D cases conducted by TaiMed Biologics, the drugs have
shown extremely high safety and better ability to inhibit viruses when compared with
other competing products. Under the strict regulations of the USFDA and TFDA, the
research and development of various new drugs were successively authorized for clinical
trials in Taiwan and the United States. The results showed that HIV in the patient was
effectively suppressed with almost no adverse effects.
(5) Advantages and disadvantages of development prospects and countermeasures
A. Favorable factors
a.Strong R&D team that masters the research & development of core technology and
product line;
b.Grasping the product line with market potential and having better product features than
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the existing competitors to increase patient acceptance when launching the products for
sale in the future
c.Under the government's active promotion of the biotechnology industry, TaiMed
Biologics has also passed the review of the Ministry of Economic Affairs and identified
as a biotech and new pharmaceuticals company. The biotech and new pharmaceuticals
company has easier access to talent and investment funds than in the past, and it should
be the best time to accelerate the research & development of new international drugs
B. Unfavorable Factors
a.The research & development of new drugs is both time-consuming and labor-intensive,
requires a considerable amount of investment in manpower, material resources, capital,
and time, and involves a wide range of scientific fields.
Countermeasures:
(a)In addition to enjoying tax concessions, the company also actively applies for
government funding and R&D subsidy.
(b)The business strategy is to adopt a joint marketing strategy with major international
pharmaceutical companies or local pharmaceutical companies before the drugs are
marketed. And rely on its special drug marketing channels to obtain investment funds
and stable working capital.
(c)According to the needs of different stages of drug research & development, suitable
cooperative units are found to carry out technical exchanges and establish cooperative
relations. In addition to helping to improve technical standards, it also reduces related
costs and expenses.
b.The research & development stage of a new drug involves uncertain factors that
determine whether the clinical trial is successful or not, all of which affect the schedule
for the new drug to be launched. Those who fail will result in the risk that the new drug
cannot be launched.
Countermeasures:
(a)Before drug selection, the company will make a cautious and conservative evaluation
of the project in order to minimize the risk of clinical trial failure. In order to confirm
the treatment objectives, human clinical trials are carried out with more practical
treatment appeals to ensure drug safety and significant improvement in patient
conditions. Through perfect preparatory work and strict testing procedures, we hope
to reduce the risk of failure in the research and development of new drugs.
(b)The company's TMB-355 qualification for orphan drugs before marketing derives a
number of benefits for TaiMed Biologics, and the qualification of the breakthrough
treatment involves the FDA's guidance for various drug R&D projects before the drug
is launched for sale. The company can reduce the risk of clinical trial failure and then
- 87 -

successfully obtain approval for the marketing of new drugs.
(c)Concentrate research and development manpower, recruit experienced experts and
scholars, set goals and strategies, and work together for the research and development
of new drug.
c. Biotech and new pharmaceutical technology is a high-tech industry, for which the
related production technologies and products are strictly protected by patent
regulations and data exclusivity.
Countermeasures:
The company has conducted a complete patent investigation on the subject matter,
confirmed the possible patent scope of the subject matter, and carried out a global
patent layout to obtain international patent protection for the research and
development results.

5.2.2. Important purposes and production processes of the main products
The AIDS treatment drug Trogarzo developed by our company is a humanized monoclonal
antibody obtained through cell culture which can bind to CD4 on the surface of immune cells in
the human body to prevent HIV from invading cells, replicating, and infecting. Currently, WuXi
Biologics of China is entrusted with the full production of Trogarzo by carrying out batch
production with the use of 2000L disposable containers. However, the unit price of the product
is high and the production capacity of the plant that has been inspected by the US FDA is limited.
From 2018 to the beginning of 2019, the yield rate of commissioned production was too low to
achieve the original scheduled output, and the production yield rate did not stabilize until mid2019. Since the company considers that Trogarzo will be sold in the EU starting in 2020, and
began to enter a stage of rapid growth in the United States, the demand for products is high and
the cost must be greatly reduced. For this, Samsung Biologics of South Korea was selected as
the second contract manufacturing organization (CMO) which adopts large stainless steel
containers for production with high input costs. However, the production cost per unit has a
considerable cost advantage, and the CMO has been commissioned by many major
pharmaceutical companies in the world. The CMO has also been inspected by the US FDA and
has sufficient ability and experience to be entrusted by the company to produce Trogarzo.
Process development and production validation operations are now underway. On February 26,
2022, the US FDA approved a supplemental BLA filing amendment for the addition of Samsung
Biologics in Korea for commercial manufacturing of Trogarzo.
The company’s other HIV product lines under development, such as TMB-365 and TMB380, are humanized monoclonal antibodies. At this stage, the company’s Zhubei Plant is
conducting research & development as well as clinical drug production.
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5.2.3. Supply status of main raw materials
Currently, the company entrusted WuXi Biologics of China with the batch production of the
new anti-HIV drug Trogarzo (including labor and material costs) and the supply of relevant raw
materials is also purchased by WuXi Biologics of China. TaiMed Biologics purchased Trogarzo
from WuXi Biologics in the form of process products and then sold it to Theratechnologies of
Canada, the United States, and Europe. Since the Zhubei plant only obtained the factory
registration certificate at the end of 2019, it is now under relevant verification and validation
processes. As there is no commercial production in 2021, no important raw materials are
purchased and put into production. Except for Trogarzo just approved for marketing, the rest of
the company’s drugs are in the research & developmental stage and have not yet been marketed.
Therefore, the purchase amount of raw materials for the research and development of clinical
drug is not significant. The supply is stable and there is no centralized transaction.

5.2.4 Major Suppliers and Clients
(1) Major Suppliers in the Last Two Calendar Years
The main reason for the decrease in purchases in 2021 was the decrease in sales of Trogarzo in
2021 and higer purchase in 2020
Unit: NT$ thousands
2020
Item Company name
1

WuXi Biologics

Amount

Relation
with
Percent
Issuer

676,510

100%

-

WuXi Biologics

-

-

Others

100%

-

Net Total Supplies

Others
Net Total Supplies

2021

676,510

Company name

Amount

Relation
with
Percent
Issuer

136,333

100%

-

136,333

100%

-

(2) Major Clients in the Last Two Calendar Years
The main reason for the decrease in sales in 2021 was Trogarzo inventory control due to the
effect of COVID-19 pandemic.
Unit: NT$ thousands
2020

2021

Item

Company name

Amount

Relatio
n
Percent
with
Issuer

1

Theratechnologies

722,485

100%

-
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Company name

Amount

Relatio
n
Percent
with
Issuer

Theratechnologies

413,442

100%

-

Others
Net sales

0

-

-

Others

722,485

100%

-

Net sales

0

-

-

413,442

100%

-

5.2.5 Production in the Last Two Years :
The company's new drug Trogarzo is currently outsourced, so it is not applicable. The Zhubei
plant is currently being developed for clinical use and there is no commercial production.
5.2.6 Sales Amount and qunantities in the Last Two Years：
Unit: vials; NT$ thousands
Year

2020
Domestic

Major product

2021
Oversers

Domestic

Oversers

Quantity Amount Quantity Amount Quantity Amount

Trogarzo (HIV drug)
Total

Quantity

Amount

0

0

48,505 722,485

0

0

24,160 413,442

0

0

48,505 722,485

0

0

24,160 413,442

5.3 Human Resources

2020

2021

As at April 22 in
current year

3

3

3

11

9

12

65

67

64

79

79

79

Average age

39.26

38.40

38.45

Average length of service

3.11

3.91

4.00

Doctor degree
Master degree
Degree
Bachelor’s Degree
distribution Senior High School

9
38
32
0

7
40
32
0

8
38
33
0

79

79

79

Year
Personnel of
director level
Number of General personnel
employees R&D and technical
personnel
Total

Total
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5.4 Environmental Protection Expenditure
Any losses suffered by the company in the most recent fiscal year and up to the annual report
publication date due to environmental pollution incidents (including any compensation paid and
any violations of environmental protection laws or regulations found in environmental inspection,
specifying the disposition dates, disposition reference numbers, the articles of law violated, and
the content of the dispositions): None
5.5 Labor Relations
5.5.1 Employee Welfare
(1) Labor insurance: handle pursuant to labor insurance laws and decrees.
(2) National health insurance: handle pursuant to provisions of National Health Insurance Act.
(3) Group insurance: all employees can enjoy the life insurance, accident insurance, hospitalization
medical insurance, cancer medical insurance etc. borne by the company in full amount.
(4) Heatlth examination: all employees can enjoy regular health examination every two years
(5) Travel allowance: all employees can enjoy fix-amount oversea or domestic travel allowance.
(6) Festival bonus / recreation: issue birthday gift, marriage or funeral allowance, issue gifts etc. for
three major festivals regularly every year, etc., and hold employee tourism regularly.
(7) Employee bonus: when surplus is available upon annual settlement, taxes shall be withheld and
losses in previous years shall be covered first, and then draft the distribution proportion of
employee bonus in current year, after passed by Board of Directors, propose it to Shareholders'
Meeting for acknowledgment.
(8) Employee subscription right: in order to attract professionals to join the work team of the
Company and retain excellent employees of development potential in the future, and further
take care of employees and improve their living standard to jointly create benefits for company
and shareholders, after approved by Board of Directors, the employee stock option certificate
will be issued pursuant to "Employee Stock Options Issuance and Exercise Provisions".
5.5.2 Further education and training measures:
(1) New employee: on the date when employee reports for duty, relevant personnel of the company
will be responsible for describing personnel regulations, company profile, working rules,
environment introduction, and introduction of supervisors and colleagues.
(2) In-service employee further education measures: in order to implement lifelong learning,
facilitate professional knowledge, skill and improve humanistic quality, and further improve
service quality and performance, after report and being approved, all in-service full-time
employees will be encouraged to participate in all kinds of in-service education and advanced
study and training courses.
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5.5.3 Retirement system
The Company implements retirement system pursuant to the provisions of Labor Standards Act,
regularly allocate the reserve for employee retirement to deposit in the special account in Bank
of Taiwan, and appoints actuary for actuarial practice to ensure sufficient preparation of
retirement pension reserve。
5.5.4.Agreement between labor and capital and maintenance measures of all kinds of
employees' rights and interests
Through mechanisms such as communication, incentive, service and education etc., the
Company duly satisfies the demand of employees, allowing employees to established a good
relationship with the company under a common goal and in the same boat, so as to improve
employees' centripetal force to the company and work satisfaction, making them willing to
spare more efforts to create greater contribution and value to the company, and the relationship
between labor and capital is harmonious
5.5.5 In the last two years and as at the date of annual report publication, the loss suffered by
the company due to labor dispute, and disclosure of estimated amount occurred currently
and likely to occur in the future and the solutions:
The Company always treats employees as the most valuable assets and attaches great
importance to the future development of employees. Therefore, both labor and capital are
always maintaining a harmonious relationship, and there is no loss caused by labor-capital
dispute.。
5.6 Information Safety Management
5.6.1 Describe the information security risk management framework, the security safety policy,
the specific management scheme, and resources put in information security management,
etc.
(1) Information Security Risk Management Framework
The Company has established a specific unit specifically responsible for preparation and
performance of information security-related policies, risk management and legal compliance,
and has authorized CEO to serve as the head of the information unit to review and resolve
information security and information protection guidelines and policies, in order to effectuate
effectiveness of information security management measures. In addition, an external audit
agency is also commissioned every year to review the information environment and important
systems of the Company and provide opinions and suggestions to ensure that all measures are
taken timely and appropriately.
(2) Security Safety Policy
To maintain security, integrity and availability of the information environment, the Company
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intends to achieve the following objectives:
A. Maintaining a safe information environment and reducing information security risk;
B. Making the information policy and business meet the requirements of applicable laws;
C. Effectuating the information policy and ensuring that the information environment of the
Company is stable and available.
(3) Specific Management Scheme
To effectuate and achieve the objectives provided in the information security policy, the
Company has established proper rules for important issues of information environment,
including network establishment and management, email and file security, system protection and
information backup, information education and training, etc. In addition, information security
technologies, such as next-generation firewall, virtual private network, webpage security filter,
intrusion detection and prevention, mail audit and endpoint protection, are also combined to
maintain stability and availability of a digital environment and reduce the risk of information
security incidents.
(4) Resources Put in Information Security Management
The Company has established an information unit responsible for information safety tasks,
regular provision of information security education, disaster recovery drill, and taking proper
measures and responding to any information-related system risk that it is aware of. In addition
to internal input, external resources have also been used to maintain stability of important
systems and enhance safety of network environment to reduce information security risk.
5.6.2 Information Security Risk and Required Measures:
The Company has established various information security protection policies and measures, but
is unable to guarantee that the Company is protected completely from all malicious activities
from any individual or unit, such as paralyzing any system, cyber attack, stealing data, etc.
Intrusions on corporate information systems through any of the aforementioned methods may
influence operation of the Company so as to impair profits of the Company. To cope with
numerous information security risks and attacks, the Company will review and update
information security rules and the response scheme continuously, and update technologies as
well, to ensure their appropriateness and effectiveness to fully prevent from being influenced by
any potential risk and attack in fast-changing threats to information security.
5.6.3 Important Information Security Events:
The Company did not suffer any loss caused by an important information security event in 2021
and as of the date of the annual report.
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5.7 Important Contracts
Agreement

Contracting
Parties

Exclusive License The Rockefeller
Contract
University
Exclusive License
Contract

ADARC

Non-exclusive
License Contract

National
Institutes of
Health

Exclusive License
Contract

Columbia
University

Royalty Settlement Genentech Inc
Agreement
and Biogen Inc.
Leasing contract

Hsinchu Science
Park Bureau

CMO Service
Agreement

WuXi
Biologics

CMO Service
Agreement

Samsung
Biologics

Westat

CRO Service
Agreement

Covance

Service
Agreement

Effective
from
2011.04Effective
from
2017.03.
Effective
from
2019.10.
Effective
from
2020.8
Effective
from
2020.3.
Effective
from
2017.5
Effective
from
2018.4
Effective
from
2018.8

Acquisition of technology licensing for TMB360/365 to research, develop and sell patented
products
Acquisition of technology licensing for
Bispecific Antibodies (TMB-370) to research,
develop and sell patented products
Acquisition of technology licensing for
VRC07-523LS (TMB-380) to research,
develop and sell patented products
Acquisition of technology licensing for
COVID-19 Antibodies (TMB-207) to
research, develop and sell patented products

Restrictions
NA

NA

NA

NA

Royalty Settlement Agreement for ibalizumab
(TMB-355) licensing contract

NA

20 years land leasing contract for Zhubei
facilty

NA

Commercial manufacturing Agreement for
Trogarzo (TMB-355)

NA

Commercial manufacturing Agreement for
Trogarzo (TMB-355)

NA

TMB-355 IV push phase III (302) Clinical
Trial Service
2018.8.17 TMB-365 Phase I Clinical Trial Service

NA

TMB-355 IV push phase III (302) Clinical
Trial Service

NA

2019.3.26

NA

PPD

2019.8.28 TMB 365 Phase I Clinical Trial Service

NA

Mongram

2019.9.23 TMB-365 Phase I Clinical Trial Service

NA

TMB USA

Distribution and
Theratechnologies,
Marketing
Inc.
Agreement

Marketing
Agreement

Major contents

2019.1.23

CRO Service
Agreement

CRO Service
Agreement
CRO Service
Agreement

Term

Meroven

2020.01.01- 2020 年 R&D and Sales Service Agreement
2021.12.31 with MB USA

Effective
from
2016.3
Effective
from
2017.3
Effective
from
2019.4

NA

12 years Trogarzo marketing licensing for
the North American Territory
NA
12 years Trogarzo marketing licensing for
the Eurpoean Territory
Trogarzo marketing licensing for the
Middle East and North Africa Territory
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NA

Borrowing
Contract

Land Bank of
Taiwan

Borrowing
Contract

Mega Bank

20-year long-term estate mortgage loan
Subject of guarantee: Zhubei Factory and
2020.3.11
its own office on the 3rd floor of No.607
Ruiguang Road, Taipei
One-year comprehensive credit contract
Subject of guarantee: Investment real
2020.11.6
estate on the 3rd floor, No. 605 Ruiguang
Road, Taipei

NA

NA

Note: Since March, 2021, the development plan suspended to develop in-house after seriously
evaluation. Instead, TaiMed will invest in RenBio of the United States to continue to develop this
new antibody drug.
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VI. Financial Information
6.1 Five-Year Financial Summary
6.1.1 Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheet and Statement of Comprehensive Income
Unit: NT$ thousand s

Financial information in the last five years

Year
Item

2017

Current assets

3,658,853

2,518,779

2,457,168

2,777,964

2,334,950

164,248

462,534

249,361

202,996

232,632

315,088

863,184

906,486

1,031,680

979,747

Right-of-use assets

-

-

33,832

32,939

30,880

Investment Properties

-

204,904

203,969

203,346

202,723

349,550

642,281

739,446

940,157

821,330

Other assets

15,223

99,357

140,498

7,241

8,468

Total assets

4,502,962

4,791,039

4,730,760

5,196,323

4,610,730

98,587

235,937

428,107

461,522

225,077

98,587

235,937

428,107

461,522

225,077

112,125

474,616

716,257

1,318,923

1,444,149

210,712

710,553

1,144,364

1,780,445

1,669,226

Financial Assets
Property, plant
equipment

and

Intangible assets

Before
Current distribution
liabilities
After
distribution

2018

2019

2020

2021

Non-current liabilities
Before
distribution
Total
liabilities
After
distribution
Equity attributable to
owners of parent

210,712

710,553

1,144,364

1,780,445

1,669,226

4,292,250

4,080,486

3,586,396

3,415,878

2,941,504

Share capital

2,503,388

2,513,800

2,521,900

2,522,230

2,523,270

Capital surplus

4,625,996

4,734,600

4,813,624

4,831,919

925,137

(2,880,856) (3,158,711) (3,737,365) (3,920,669)

(470,933)

(2,880,856) (3,158,711) (3,737,365) (3,920,669)

(470,933)

Before
Retained distribution
earnings
After
distribution
Other equity interest
Treasury share
Non-controlling
interests
Before
distribution
Total
equity
After
distribution

43,722

(9,203)

(11,763)

(17,602)

(35,970)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,292,250

4,080,486

3,586,396

3,415,878

2,941,504

4,292,250

4,080,486

3,586,396

3,415,878

2,941,504
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Unit: NT$ thousands
Financial information in the last five years

Year
Item

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Net revenue

8,436

241,041

704,504

722,485

413,442

Gross profit

8,436

(19,857)

230,011

321,241

83,955

(545,216)

(320,785)

(389,994)

(132,760)

(486,367)

20,662

(925)

(188,660)

(50,544)

15,434

(524,554)

(321,710)

(578,654)

(183,304)

(470,933)

(524,554)

(321,710)

(578,654)

(183,304)

(470,933)

-

-

-

-

-

(524,554)

(321,710)

(578,654)

(183,304)

(470,933)

48,793

3,270

(2,560)

(5,839)

(18,368)

(475,761)

(318,440)

(581,214)

(189,143)

(489,301)

(524,554)

(321,710)

(578,654)

(183,304)

(470,933)

-

-

-

-

-

(475,761)

(318,440)

(581,214)

(189,143)

(489,301)

-

-

-

-

-

(2.10)

(1.28)

(2.30)

(0.73)

(1.87)

Income from operations
(loss)
Non-operating income
and expenses
Income (loss) before tax
Income (loss) from
operations of continued
segments - after tax
Income (loss) from
discontinued operations
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive
income (after tax)
Total comprehensive
income (loss)
Net income attributable to
shareholders of the parent
Net income attributable to
non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive
income attributable to
shareholders of the parent
Total comprehensive
income attributable to
non-controlling interests
Earnings per share

Note: the above annual financial infor mation have been audited by the accountant.
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6.1.2 Individual Condensed Balance Sheet and Statement of Comprehensive Income
Unit: NT$ thousand s

Year

Financial information in the last five years

Item
2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

3,590,238

2,502,294

2,538,771

2,839,711

2,517,845

164,248

462,534

249,361

202,996

232,632

63,891

13,071

-

-

-

315,088

863,184

906,486

1,031,680

979,747

Right-of-use assets

-

-

33,832

32,939

30,880

Investment Properties

-

204,904

203,969

203,346

202,723

349,550

642,281

735,249

936,169

817,455

Other assets

15,159

99,291

140,498

7,241

8,468

Total assets

4,498,174

4,787,559

4,808,166

5,254,082

4,789,750

93,799

232,457

438,812

470.626

268.015

93,799

232,457

438,812

470,626

268,015

112,125

474,616

782,958

1,367,578

1,580,231

205,924

707,073

1,221,770

1,838,204

1,848,246

205,924

707,073

1,221,770

1,838,204

1,848,246

Share capital

2,503,388

2,513,800

2,521,900

2,522,230

2,523,270

Capital surplus

4,625,996

4,734,600

4,813,624

4,831,919

925,137

(2,880,856) (3,158,711) (3,737,365) (3,920,669)

(470,933)

(2,880,856) (3,158,711) (3,737,365) (3,920,669)

(470,933)

Current assets
Financail Assets
Investment in equity
method
Property, plant and
equipment

Intangible assets

Current
liabilitie

Before
distribution
After
distribution

Non-current liabilities
Total
liabilitie

Retained
earnings

Before
distribution
After
distribution

Before
distribution
After
distribution

43,722

(9,203)

(11,763)

(17,602)

(35,970)

Before
distribution

4,292,250

4,080,486

3,586,396

3,415,878

2,941,504

After
distribution

4,292,250

4,080,486

3,586,396

3,415,878

2,941,504

Other equity interest

Total equity
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Unit: NT$ thousand s

Financial information in the last five years

Year
Item

2017

Net revenue

8,436

367,023

859,557

667,486

541,074

Gross profit
Intercompany unrealized
sales profit (loss)

8,436

39,622

309,038

299,642

162,123

(64,444)

(106,872)

7,547

(92,852)

Operating expenses

(532,298)

(484,463)

(617,558)

(451,997)

(565,275)

Other operating income
Income from operations
(loss)
Non-operating income
and expenses

-

-

2018

2019

182,090

-

2020

2021

-

-

(523,862)

(327,195)

(415,392)

(144,808)

(496,004)

(692)

5,485

(163,262)

(38,496)

25,071

Income (loss) before tax
Income (loss) from
operations of continued
segments - after tax
Income (loss) from
discontinued operations

(524,554)

(321,710)

(578,654)

(183,304)

(470,933)

(524,554)

(321,710)

(578,654)

(183,304)

(470,933)

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive
income (after tax)
Total comprehensive
income (loss)

(524,554)

(321,710)

(578,654)

(183,304)

(470,933)

48,793

3,270

(2,560)

(5,839)

(18,368)

(475,761)

(318,440)

(581,214)

(189,143)

(489,301)

(2.10)

(1.28)

(2.30)

(0.73)

(1.87)

Earnings per share

-

-

-

-

-

Note: the above financial information have been audited by the accountant.

6.1.3 Auditors’ Opinions from 2017 to 2021

Year

Accounting Firm

2017

Deloitte & Touch Taiwan

2018

Deloitte & Touch Taiwan

2019

Deloitte & Touch Taiwan

2020

Deloitte & Touch Taiwan

2021

Deloitte & Touch Taiwan

Name of
Accountant
Sean Chao, CPA
Peter Cheng, CPA
Sean Chao, CPA
Peter Cheng, CPA
Sean Chao, CPA
Peter Cheng, CPA
Sean Chao, CPA
Peter Cheng, CPA
Nik Y. Chen, CPA
Sean Chao, CPA
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Opinion
unqualified audit opinion
unqualified audit opinion
unqualified audit opinion
unqualified audit opinion
unqualified audit opinion

6.2 Five-Year Financial Analysis
A. Consolidated Financial Analysis
Year
Item

Financial analysis in the last five years (Notes 1)

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

4.68

14.83

24.19

34.26

36.20

Ratio of long-term capital
to PP&Et

1,397.82

527.71

474.65

458.94

447.63

Current ratio

3,711.29

1,067.56

573.96

601.91

1,037.40

Quick ratio

3,709.22

904.52

351.65

323.41

512.75

Interest earned ratio (times)
Accounts receivable
turnover (times)
Average collection period

-

(53,617)

(1,624)

(44)

(62)

-

4.45

4.43

3.02

1.94

-

82

82

121

188

Inventory turnover (times)
Operating Accounts payable turnover
(times)
performance
Average days in sales
Property, plant and
equipment turnover (times)
Total assets turnover
(times)
Return on total assets (%)
Return on stockholders'
equity (%)
Profitability Pre-tax income to paid-in
capital (%)
Profit ratio (%)

-

1.37

0.76

0.38

0.27

-

3.48

3.32

5.64

5.12

-

266

480

961

1,352

-

0.41

0.80

0.75

0.41

-

0.05

0.15

0.14

0.08

(11.27)

(6.92)

(12.15)

(3.63)

(9.48)

(11.65)

(7.68)

(15.09)

(5.24)

(14.82)

(20.95)

(12.80)

(22.95)

(7.27)

(18.66)

(6,218)

(133.47)

(82.14)

(25.37)

(113.91)

Earnings per share (NT$)

(2.10)

(1.28)

(2.30)

(0.73)

(1.87)

Cash flow ratio (%)

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Cash flow adequacy ratio (%)

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Cash reinvestment ratio (%)

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

-

-

-

-

-

Financial
structure
(%)
Solvency
(%)

Cash flow

Leverage

Debt Ratio

Operating leverage

1
1
1
1
1
Financial leverage
Analysis of financial ratio differences for the last two years
TaiMed engaged with Samsung Biotechnology for Trogarzo commercial production. Therefore, the
amount of inventory at the end of the year continued to increase, and the turnover rate related to inventory
was quite different. In 2020, there was new European sales with the payment terms of for 45 days after the
actual sales. Therefore, the turnover rate of receivables in 2020 dropped sharply. In 2021, Due to the
continuous impact of the COVID-19 epidemic, marketing partners made inventory adjustments and
significantly reduced orders, so the net sales amount dropped significantly compared with 2020. The
increase in solvency was mainly attributable to the gradual improvement of the Samsung plant's
manufacturing process this year, and the decrease in the related expenses for testing and trial mass
production at the end of the period.
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B. Individual Financial Analysis
Year

Financial analysis in the last five years (Notes 1)

Item

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Debt Ratio
Financial
structure (%) Ratio of long-term capital
to PP&Et

4.58

14.77

25.41

34.99

38.59

1,397.82

527.71

482.01

463.66

461.52

Current ratio

3,827.59

1,076.45

578.56

603.39

939.44

3,826.39

943.44

397.19

356.37

563.03

-

(53,617)

(1,624)

(44)

(62)

-

2.55

2.13

1.25

0.96

-

143

171

292

380

-

2.12

1.07

0.39

0.35

-

4.37

3.85

5.17

5.89

-

172

341

936

1,043

-

0.62

0.97

0.70

0.54

-

0.08

0.18

0.13

0.11

(11.29)

(6.93)

(12.05)

(3.58)

(9.26)

(11.65)

(7.68)

(15.09)

(5.24)

(14.82)

(20.95)

(12.80)

(22.95)

(7.27)

(18.66)

(6,218)

(87.65)

(67.32)

(27.46)

(87.04)

4.58

14.77

25.41

34.99

(1.87)

Cash flow ratio (%)

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Cash flow adequacy ratio (%)

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Cash reinvestment ratio (%)

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Note 2

Operating leverage

-

-

-

-

-

Financial leverage

1

1

1

1

1

Solvency (%) Quick ratio
Interest earned ratio (times)
Accounts receivable
turnover (times)
Average collection period
Inventory turnover (times)
Accounts payable turnover
Operating
(times)
performance
Average days in sales
Property, plant and
equipment turnover (times)
Total assets turnover
(times)
Return on total assets (%)
Return on stockholders'
equity (%)
Profitability Pre-tax income to paid-in
capital (%)
Profit ratio (%)
Earnings per share (NT$)

Cash flow

Leverage

Analysis of financial ratio differences for the last two years
TaiMed engaged with Samsung Biotechnology for Trogarzo commercial production. Therefore, the amount of
inventory at the end of the year continued to increase, and the turnover rate related to inventory was quite
different. In 2020, there was new European sales with the payment terms of for 45 days after the actual sales.
Therefore, the turnover rate of receivables in 2020 dropped sharply. In 2021, Due to the continuous impact of
the COVID-19 epidemic, marketing partners made inventory adjustments and significantly reduced orders, so
the net sales amount dropped significantly compared with 2020. The increase in solvency was mainly
attributable to the gradual improvement of the Samsung plant's manufacturing process this year, and the
decrease in the related expenses for testing and trial mass production at the end of the period.
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Calculation formulas of the above financial analysis data are as follows:
1. Financial structure
(1) Proportion of liabilities in assets=total liabilities/total assets.
(2) Proportion of long-term funds in property, plant and equipment=(total equity+non-current
liabilities)/net amount of property, plant and equipment.

2. Debt paying ability
(1) Current ratio=current assets/current liabilities
(2) Liquidity ratio=(current assets-inventory-prepaid costs)/current liabilities
(3) Interest coverage ratio=income tax and net profit before interest expense/current interest expenditure.

3. Operating capacity
(1) Receivables (including accounts receivable and notes receivable arising from business) turnover
rate=net sales/balance of average receivables in each period (including accounts receivable and notes
receivable arising from business).
(2) Average cash collection days=365/receivables turnover rate.
(3) Inventory turnover rate=sales cost/average inventory.
(4) Payables (including accounts payable and notes payable arising from business) turnover rate=net
sales/balance of average payables in each period (including accounts payable and notes payable arising
from business).
(5) Average sales days=365/inventory turnover rate.
(6) Property, plant and equipment turnover rate=net sales/average net amount of property, plant and
equipment.
(7) Total assets turnover rate=net sales/average total assets amount.

4. Profitability
(1) Return on assets=[post-tax profit or loss+interest expense x (1-tax rate)]/average total assets amount.
(2) Return on equity=post-tax profit or loss/average total equity amount.
(3) Net profit ratio=post-tax profit or loss/net sales.
(4) Earnings per share=(profit and loss attributable to parent company owner-special share
dividend)/weighted average number of outstanding shares.

5. Cash flow
(1) Cash flow ratio=net cash flow in operating activity/current liabilities.
(2) Cash flow adequacy ratio=net cash flow in operating activities in the last five years/(capital
expenditure+inventory increment+cash dividend) in the last five years.
(3) Cash reinvestment ratio=(net cash flow in operating activity-cash dividend)/(gross amount of
property, plant and equipment+long-term investment+other non-current assets+working capital).

6. Degree of leverage
(1) Degree of operating leverage=(net operating income-changes in operating costs and
expenses)/operating profit.
(2) Degree of financial leverage=operating profit/(operating profit-interest expense).
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6.3 Supervisors’ /Audit Committee’s Report for the Most Recent Year

Audit Committee's Review Report
Board of Directors has prepared 2021 business report, financial statements and
deficit compensation table proposals of the Company, among them, the financial
statements have been audited by Deloitte & Touch Taiwan, and audit report has been
issued. Proposals regarding the above business report, financial statements and deficit
compensation table have been audited by Audit Committee, and those proposals are
appropriate, it is hereby proposed for supervision pursuant to relevant provisions of
Securities Exchange Act and Company Act.

Sincerely submitted to
2022 General Meeting of the Company
TaiMed Biologics Inc.
Convener of Audit Committee:
Ming-Ching Chen

March 11, 2022
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6.4 Financial Statements for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, and Independent
Auditors’ Report: Please see the last pages this annual report for details.
6.5 Financial Statements for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, and Independent
Auditors’ Report: Please see the last pages this annual report for details.
6.6 In the last year and as at the publication date of annual report, if the Company and affiliated
enterprise have difficulty in financial turnover, its impact on the financial situation of the
Company shall be listed: NA.
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VII. Review of Financial Conditions, Financial Performance, and Risk Management
7.1 Analysis of Financial Status
Unit: NT$ thousands
Year
Item

Difference
2021

2020

%

2,334,950
232,632

2,777,964
202,996

Amount
(443,014)
29,636

979,747

1,031,680

(51,933)

(5.03)

30,880

32,939

(2,059)

(6.25)

Investment Properties

202,723

203,346

(623)

(0.31)

Intangible assets

821,330

940,157

(118,827)

(12.64)

8,468

7,241

1,227

4,610,730

5,196,323

(585,593)

(11.27)

225,077

461,522

(236,445)

(51.23)

Non-current liabilities

1,444,149

1,318,923

125,226

Total liabilities

1,669,226

1,780,445

(111,219)

Share capital

2,523,270

2,522,230

1,040

925,137

4,831,919

(3,906,782)

(80.85)

Accumulated deficit

(470,933)

(3,920,669)

3,449,736

(87.99)

Other equity interest

(35,970)

(17,602)

(18,368)

104.35

Current assets
Financial assets
Property, plant and
equipment
Right-of-use assets

Other non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities

Capital surplus

(15.95)
14.60

16.95

9.49
(6.25)
0.04

2,941,504
3,415,878
(474,374)
(13.89)
Total equity
Notes:
1. The main reason for the decrease in current liabilities is that the royalties payable by
Genetech/Biogen were paid in 2021, and the balance of other payables at the end of 2021
decreased significantly.
2. The decrease in capital surplus is mainly due to the resolution of the 2021 Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders to offset against accumulated deficit by Capital surplus additional paid-in capital amounting to NT$3,920,668,941.
3. The decrease in accumulated deficit is due to the resolution of the 2021 Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders to offset for losses of NT$3,920,668,941. with capital surplus and
an additional loss of NT$ 470,933 thousands for the current period in 2021.
4. The increase and loss of other equity is mainly due to the recognition of unrealized
evaluation loss of equity instrument investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive gains and losses of NT$ 15,351 thousands.
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7.2 Analysis of Financial Performance
Unit: NT$ thousands

Year
Item
Operating revenue

2021

Difference

2020

Amount

%

413,442

722,485

(309,043)

(42.78)

83,955

321,241

(237,286)

(73.87)

Sales

(63,131)

(16,500)

(46,631)

282.61

Admininstarion

(46,591)

(43,052)

(3,539)

8.22

(460,600)

(394,449)

(66,151)

16.77

8,118

13,458

(5,340)

(39.68)

Oher gains & loss

14,760

(59,914)

74,674

(124.64)

Financial costs

(7,444)

(4,088)

(3,356)

45.08

(470,933)

(183,304)

(287,629)

156.91

-

-

Gross profit
Operating expenses

R&D
Non-operating income
and expenses
Oher income

Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit

Net loss for the year
(470,933)
(183,304)
(287,629)
156.91
Other comprehensive
(18,368)
(5,839)
(12,529)
214.57
income
Total comprehensive
(489,301)
(189,143)
(300,158)
158.69
loss for the year
Notes:
1. The company's operating revenue in 2021 was lower than that in 2020. Because of lasting
impact of COVID-19, the marketing partners had adjusted their inventory and greatly
reduced orders, so the company's sales revenue in 2021 had been greatly reduced.
2. The company's gross operating profit in 2021 was lower than that in 2020. In addition to the
decrease in gross operating profit due to the decrease in sales revenue, another reason was
that partly work in progress inventories were expected not to fulfill the minimum
requirement shelf life stipulated in sales contract after completing the work progress.
Therefore, the Company made an allowance for inventory valuation losses of $74,758
thousand.
3. The increase of the company's sales expenses in 2021 was mainly due to the payment of the
supply chain expenses related to the listing of Trogarzo in the European Union according to
the contract, and the high processing expenses related to the start of business with several
major countries in 2021.
4. The main reason for the increase in other gains & loss of the company in 2021 compared
with that in 2020 was due to the gains on the market evaluation of Theratechnologies stock
based on the IFRS 9, due to the stock prices recovery.
5. The increase of pre-tax loss of the company in 2021 compared with that in 2020 was mainly
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due to the significant decrease of gross operating profit due to the decrease of operating
revenue in 2021. In addition, the increase of operating expenses compared with that in 2020
was also one of the reasons.
6. The significant increase of the company's comprehensive loss in 2021 compared with that in
2020 was mainly due to the increase of loss in the current period.
Expected sales volume in the next year and its basis, the possible impact on the company's
future financial business and the corresponding plan:
Trogarzo sales forecasts for the next years business outlook, please detail the relevant content of the
shareholder letter; The company has not released financial forecasts to announce relevant revenue
forecast figures. As the COVID-19 epidemic in Europe and the United States has gradually been
controlled, the actual sales in the next year should increase compared with the previous year, which
will have a considerable positive impact on future finance and business.

7.3 Analysis of Cash Flow
7.3.1 Analytical statement of cash flow changes in the last year

Year

2021

2020

Variance (%)

Cash Flow Ratio (%)

註

註

NA

Cash Flow Adequacy Ratio (%)

註

註

NA

Item

註
註
Cash Reinvestment Ratio (%)
NA
Analysis of financial ratio change:
The company's new drug needs administrative support and sales promotion in the initial
stage of its launch. However, due to the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic, sales are not
growing as fast as expected, and a considerable amount of money needs to be invested in
establishing supply capacity. Therefore, 2021 and 2020 are still at a loss stage , The cash
flow from operating activities is still negative.
Note: The net cash flow from operating activities is negative, so it is not calculated.

- 107 -

7.3.3 Cash Flow Analysis for the Coming Year
Unit: NT$ thousands
Cash and Cash Net Cash Flow
Equivalents,
from Operating
Beginning of Year Activities
(1)
(2)
960,887

566,113

Cash
Outflow
(3)
1,009,615

Cash Surplus Leverage of Cash Deficit
(Deficit)
Investment
Financing
(1)+(2)-(3)
Plans
Plans
517,385

-

-

Cash flow analysis in the coming year:
Cash inflow: mainly the estimated cash receipts from operating sales, royalties, interest and
rental income.
Cash outflow: Mainly related to ongoing management, research and development (including
clinical trials), royalties, and operating cash expenditures for the operation of the
Zhubei plant and some capital expenditure activities.
Remedial measures and liquidity analysis for expected cash shortage:
The company obtained the FDA approval for new drugs in March 2018, and began sales in
April. It is expected that sales will continue to grow during the year 2022, and will gradually
generate net cash inflows. There is still considerable outsourcing of Samsung’s production
expenditure and development the first half of this year amounting NT$500 million dollars,
representing over 1/2 of cash expenditures. The company has now signed an additional credit
line of approximately NT$250 million dollars with Mega Bank, and will carry out financing
scheduling in accordance with the implementation progress of the plan and the cash level, so
there is no cash shortage.

7.4 The impact of significant capital expenditure on financial affairs in the last year：
The company’s board of directors decided to invest a total of NT$1 billion to build a 2000L
GMP protein factory in Hsinchu Biomedical Science Park, Zhubei City, Hsinchu County. The
various production processes have been validated immediately, and a supply chain system based
on Taiwan has been established. Most of this capital expenditure has been paid and several
batches of GMP production have been completed. There is no major capital expenditure in
2021..

7.5 Investment Policy in the Last Year, Main Causes for Profits or Losses, Improvement Plans
and Investment Plans for the Coming Year
7.5.1 Investment policy in the most recent year
The company reinvests in a 100%-owned subsidiary TMB USA Inc., whose main function is
to pay the company's R&D team in the United States related salary, office rent, and
administrative expenses. The company has no other major source of income other than fee
payment. Since 2011, the company has estimated its cash flow based on its annual expenses
and has used the fixed payment of commissioned research project as its source of income,
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thus greatly reducing its accounting losses. Since 2018, as the new anti-HIV drug Trogarzo
has been launched for sale, TMB USA acted as an intermediate salesman and charges a
certain percentage of service fees in accordance with the contract. In addition, it also includes
other R&D activities to which the parent company adds a certain percentage of subsidies.
Therefore, the net profit of TMB USA in 2020 was US$431,049, and the net profit margin
was about 2%.
7.5.2 Improvement plan and investment plan in the coming year:
Except that TMB USA is expected to have a certain profit under the above-mentioned mode
of operation, no additional capital increase is required. The company has no other
reinvestment plans in the coming year.
7.6 Analysis of Risk Management
7.6.1 Effects of Changes in Interest Rates, Foreign Exchange Rates and Inflation on Corporate
Finance, and Future Response Measures
A. The impact of recent annual interest rate, exchange rate fluctuation, and inflation on the
company’s profit and loss
(1) Interest rate
In 2021, due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the poor economic environment,
the interest rate level remained low and fluctuating. The company’s long-term bank loan
interest rate is only 1.24%, which has little impact on the company’s finances. Since it will take
some time for interest rates to rise in the future, the changes in interest rates this year have little
impact on the company's profit and loss.
(2) Foreign exchange rates
Although the new drug Trogarzo will begin to be officially launched for sale and collected in
US dollars, the relevant funds are still in the initial growth stage and are still insufficient to pay
the monthly US dollar payables. In the business activities of the company, those who may be
affected by exchange rates denominated in foreign currencies in the future include the monthly
clinical trial fees, the consulting fees that need to be paid to foreign manufacturers (such as
CRO companies), and the technology licensing fees and royalties paid to foreign countries for
technology licenses obtained from abroad. No exchange rate hedging activities were actively
carried out in 2021.
(3) Inflation
The company specializes in the research and development of new drugs. The cGMP production
of preclinical drugs, clinical trial drugs, and the mass production of post-market drugs are all
commissioned to domestic and foreign manufacturers. Since the company has not purchased a
large amount of raw materials, the inflation has little impact on the company's operations.
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B. The company's measures in response to changes in exchange rates and interest rates:
The company always pays attention to the trends and changes of major currencies in the
international foreign exchange market to learn about the trend of the exchange rate and respond
in time. If the Taiwan dollar tends to depreciate, the company will open a foreign currency
deposit account with the correspondent bank, and reserve some foreign currency positions to
meet the needs of foreign exchange funding. The company maintains a good interactive
relationship with the bank so that a wider range of foreign exchange, interest rate information,
and more favorable quotations can be obtained.
7.6.2 Policies, Main Causes of Gain or Loss and Future Response Measures with Respect to
High-risk, High-leveraged Investments, Lending or Endorsement Guarantees, and
Derivatives Transactions
The company has formulated "Regulations Governing the Acquisition and Disposal of Assets",
"Regulations Governing the Making of Endorsements/Guarantees", "Regulations Governing
Loaning of Funds", all of which are approved by the shareholders meeting. In the future, the
company will follow relevant procedures when engaging in relevant operations. In 2020 and as
of the publication date of the annual report, the company did not engage in high-risk, highly
leveraged investments, fund loans to others, and endorsements.。
7.6.3 Future Research & Development Projects and Corresponding Budget：
The current new drug R&D projects of the company are provided as follow:
TMB-355: The Company’s technology was licensed from Genentech Inc., an internationally
renowned pharmaceutical company. It is a monoclonal antibody protein drug against
HIV and the new drug application for the dosage form of IV has been approved by
Europe and the United States. Our company submitted the sBLA to the US FDA for
the marketing of IV Push administration form in the US in the form of a label
extension in the December, 2021 to expand the market consumption.
TMB-365: The Company’s technology of anti-HIV treatment drugs was licensed from
Rockefeller University in the United States. It is a monoclonal antibody biological
preparation, which is the second-generation improved product of the drug TMB-355
(ibalizumab) developed by our company. TMB-365 completed the US phase I
clinical study, and is currently conducting phase 1b/2 clinical study in the US with
TMB-380
TMB-380: The Company's technology is licensed from the US National Institutes of Health
(NIH), which is the latest patented antibody technology VRC07-523L for a new antiHIV drug. The company expects to combine the TMB-365s with TMB-380 to form a
long-acting injection therapy for full antibody and conduct related clinical trials.
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According to the company's operating budget in 2022, the total amount of new drug R&D
expenses is approximately NT$300 million. If there are major changes in new drug
development, appropriate planning and adjustments will be made according to the company's
operating conditions and the progress of new drug R&D clinical trials.
7.6.4 Effects of and Response to Changes in Policies and Regulations Relating to Corporate
Finance and Sales
Currently, the biotechnology industry is one of the industries vigorously promoted by the
government. In order to encourage the development of the biotech and new pharmaceutical
industry by the private sector, various government units have established tax incentives and
provided various research and development funding subsidies. The company strives to apply
for various tax incentives and funding subsidies to reduce the company's outflow of funds. In
addition, the management of the company also observes and pays attention to the changes in
important domestic and foreign policies and laws at any time, and proactively proposes
corresponding measures in a timely manner. In the most recent year and as of the publication
date of the annual report, the company has not had a significant impact on its finances and
business due to important domestic and foreign policy and legal changes.
7.6.5 Effects of and Response to Changes in Technology and the Industry Relating to Corporate
Finance and Sales
Since the biotechnology industry has high barriers to entry, a long product development period,
and high added value, it is not easy to change much in the short run. The company pays attention
to the technological development and changes in the biotechnology industry at any time and
starts to evaluate the possible impact, which is in line with the market trend. In the most recent
year and as of the publication date of the annual report, the company has no major technological
changes that have a significant impact on the company's financial operation.
7.6.6 The Impact of Changes in Corporate Image on Corporate Risk Management, and the
Company’s Response Measures
Since its establishment, the company has acted in accordance with the law, has a good
corporate image, has continued to strengthen its internal management, actively marching
towards the international market, and improving its quality management capabilities. In the
most recent year and as of the publication date of the annual report, the company has not yet
caused any crisis in the company due to changes in its corporate image.
7.6.7 Expected Benefits from, Risks Relating to and Response to Merger and Acquisition Plans
Currently, the company has no plans for mergers and acquisitions.
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7.6.8 Expected Benefits from, Risks Relating to and Response to Factory Expansion Plans
The company’s board of directors resolved to invest NT$1 billion to build a 2000L GMP
protein factory in Hsinchu Biomedical Science Park, Zhubei City, Hsinchu County. The
factory has obtained the factory registration certificate at the end of 2019 and started validating
various production processes in 2020. In the future, various clinical drug development and
production will be carried out to reduce the risk of entrusting a single manufacturer.
The possible risks in this case mainly come from the schedule for the construction of the
factory, the budget control of the capital expenditure, and the FDA approval for the verification
of the manufacturing process. The company will actively evaluate the introduction of various
professional consultants to assist and recruit experienced factory personnel so that various
operational goals such as building a factory and completing the process can be achieved.
7.6.9 Risks Relating to and Response to Excessive Concentration of Purchasing Sources and
Excessive Customer Concentration
TaiMed Biologics and Canada Theratechnology (Company listed on the Toronto Stock
Exchange) signed an exclusive marketing contract for Trogarzo in the United States and
Canada. In order to strengthen business cooperation with each other, integrate regional
marketing resources, and accelerate the schedule for Trogarzo to be launched for sale in the
European region, the sales territory was further expanded to include the European region in
March 2017. Since our company is a drug R&D company, we usually need to entrust
professional drug marketing companies with the selling of our drugs after they are launched for
sale on the market. Therefore, there is a phenomenon of concentrated sales which is a normal
state of the industry. In response, the company will ensure the collection of the payment and
the launching of Trogarzo in other markets around the world to disperse the risk of
concentrated sales.
For the purchase of Trogarzo products, the company is actively engaged in the second
biological agent outsourcing operation (Samsung Biologics of South Korea), and the self-built
2000L GMP protein factory in "Hsinchu Biomedical Science Park" in Zhubei City, Hsinchu
County to reduce the risk of concentrating on a single manufacturer.

7.6.10 Effects of, Risks Relating to and Response to Large Share Transfers or Changes in
Shareholdings by Directors, Supervisors, or Shareholders with Shareholdings of over
10%
The impact, risks, and countermeasures of a large number of share equity transfers or
replacements of directors, supervisors, or shareholders holding more than 10% of the shares of
the company: In the most recent year and as of the publication date of the annual report, the
company’s directors, supervisors, or major shareholders holding more than 10% of the shares
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did not have a mass transfer of share equity. Therefore, there is no significant impact on the
company's operations due to a large number of share equity transfers or replacements.

7.6.11 Effects of, Risks Relating to and Response to the Changes in Management Rights
In the most recent year and as of the publication date of the annual report, the company’s
directors, supervisors, or major shareholders holding more than 10% of the shares have not
affected the company’s operations due to changes in management rights. And the company has
formulated a complete internal control system and related management regulations. Therefore,
any change in the management rights will reduce the impact and risks on the company's
operations
7.6.12 Litigation or Non-litigation Matters
(1) The company’s litigation, non-litigation, or administrative litigation that has been determined
in the last two years and as of the date of publication of the annual report or is currently in the
court pending review, the results of which may have a significant impact on shareholders’
equity or securities prices, relevant information should be disclosed: No cases with significant
impact to be revealed.
(2) For company directors, supervisors, general managers, substantive persons in charge, major
shareholders with more than 10% shareholding, and affiliated companies, the litigation, nonlitigation or administrative litigation that has been determined in the last two years and up to
the date of publication of the annual report or is currently in the court pending review, the
outcome of which may have a significant impact on the company’s shareholders’ equity or
securities prices: No cases with significant impact to be revealed.
.
7.6.13 Other Major Risks
Foreseeable risk analysis and the ability to respond to it are particularly important for biotech
companies. The development of new drugs is time-consuming, fund-intensive, and mandates
legal compliance with various requirements of medical regulations. Only after obtaining the
drug permit license can it be marketed and only with a good marketing plan can it be
profitable. Therefore, the company has to bear the risk of enormous investment and
development failure. The company takes the development of new drugs as its main business
project, and it may encounter varying degrees of challenges in the developmental phase and
subsequent clinical trials at various stages. Therefore, the risk analysis and countermeasures for
various new drug R&D projects are as follows:
（1）If the development of a new drug cannot be continued due to the risk of failure in the
development of a new drug, the delay in human clinical trials, or if the results are not as
expected, the subsequent development of the new drug will be suspended which inevitably
results in the risk that the new drug canno
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Countermeasures:
In order to confirm the treatment effect, extensive and in-depth pharmacological tests,
toxicity tests, multiple safety tests, and even animal drug tests have been completed to
ensure drug safety and symptom improvement for patients. By conducting a clinical trial
with an aim to achieve the pragmatic treatment effect, we hope to reduce the risk of failure
in the development of new drugs through complete preparatory work and rigorous test
procedures.
The key to successful clinical trials includes the R&D team with rich experience in
executing clinical trials, the full cooperation of the CRO Company and the medical
center, and many other factors. With a strong R&D capability and foundation, as well as
a medical environment with rich experience in performing clinical trials, TaiMed
Biologics can increase the success rate of clinical trials and speed up the schedule in
which the drugs are launched for sale on the market.
（2）Changes in the external environment or the introduction of competitive products to the
market will cause the company's new drug development risks
The company's current research and development projects are mainly anti-AIDS and
COVID-19 biological antibodies new drugs, used to treat and prevent related infectious
diseases, and provide unmet medical needs and related solutions in the market. However,
there are still other manufacturers in the field of related treatments for HIV and COVID19 that continue to launch related competitive products, or changes in the overall
environment will affect the risk of the overall benefits of new drug development.
Countermeasures:
In addition to the technical development and listing of the production and R&D
departments of the company’s new drug investment plans, it is necessary to review the
changes in the external environment in a timely manner and adjust the relevant plans.
The endless continuous investment of resources cannot input without review in order to
ensure the maximum shareholders’ equity
（3）Risks of product quality control
Since the medicine is related to human health and safety, there is a relatively strict
requirement for product quality. And relevant clinical drugs need to be confirmed as
consistent in quality and safety.
Countermeasures:
The company’s TMB-355 drugs are regularly commissioned for stability testing, and
reviewed and tracked by the R&D supervisor to ensure the quality control of clinical
drugs. The company established a quality assurance department in March 2013 to hire
professional QA/QC personnel for drug quality control. At the end of 2017, the company
continued to hire relevant QA personnel to expand the future monitoring of TMB-355
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production and Zhubei plant's production operations.
（4）Capital requirements and management risks
The R&D and marketing of a new drug are time-consuming, require high investment, have
high R&D risk, and take a long time to generate net cash inflows from operating activities.
If operating income cannot be created successfully, insufficient working capital may occur
and there will be the risk of not being able to complete the new drug R&D project.
Therefore, if the new pharmaceutical company does not have sufficient capital investment,
it will cause future operational and financial risks
Countermeasures:
TMB-355 is a new drug with high potential that can become a worldwide treatment
for AIDS. It has been approved for marketing in the United States and European Union,
and Theratechnologies has been entrusted with the marketing of the drugs. On the one
hand, it can charge license fees and sales amounts. On the other hand, it can accelerate
the learning curve of the company on the new drug clinical trial regulations in various
countries.
（5）Partnership risks
In the process of new drug development and clinical trials, in addition to its own R&D
center, the company also conducts professional cooperation with Jiasheng, Jiazheng, and
foreign companies such as PPD, Monogram, WuXi AppTec, Westat, Covance, and
Samsung Biologics. The company has always maintained a good relationship with its
partners. However, once there is a risk of delay in the research & development of new
drug products due to changes in the relationship, the company's countermeasures are as
follows.
Countermeasures:
The company usually maintains a good interactive relationship with its partners. In the
process of cooperation, we sign cooperation contracts with these cooperative professional
organizations to ensure the progress of product research & development. We assign R&D
personnel to participate in the operation to master the progress and technology related to
the Group’s products. We also regularly or irregularly discuss product developmentrelated issues with relevant organizations to avoid possible risks in the course of product
research & development.
In order to ensure that the company’s R&D progress and actual operations are in line with
the R&D plan and system, they are regularly tracked and checked. The company
implements product R&D projects from a fundamental perspective which reduce risks
caused by changes in external factors.
（6）Information security risks
Our company is a biotech & new pharmaceutical company. In the company’s various
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research and development projects, if the data and test results are damaged due to
information security issues (i.e., patents are first registered by competitors, or business
secrets are disclosed, etc.), the company will suffer huge losses. Therefore, the company's
countermeasures are as follows.
Countermeasures:
After the company has formulated its information security policy and goals, it can be
approved by senior managers to establish principles that all the company’s colleagues can
abide by. The implementation and appropriateness of the information security policy are
also checked on a regular basis. Regarding service host, network environment, and
application programs, relevant control elements such as network security, authority
control, access control, audit system, etc. are separately formulated to achieve the goal of
risk management. In order to maintain system availability, local and remote backup
mechanisms and systems are also built to preserve data and recover in a timely manner if
the service host is out of function. According to the advice of the external information
auditing unit every year, timely adjustments are made to the relevant policies so that the
goal of maintaining a stable and safe information environment can be fully achieved.

7.7 Other important matters: none

- 116 -

VIII. Special Disclosure
8.1 Relevant information of affiliated enterprise:
8.1.1 Consolidated business report of affiliated enterprise
(1). Consolidated business chart

TaiMed Biologics Inc.

100.00%

TaiMed Biologics USA Corp.

(2). Basic information of affiliated enterprises
Date: December 31, 2021

Name of enterprise
TaiMed Biologics
USA Corp.

Establishment
date

Address

Paid-up capital

Main business
or production
item

2007.10.11

4790 Irvine Blvd.
Suite 105-697
Irvine, CA 92620

USD
9,100,000

US sales and
R&D business

(3).Same shareholder information of those presumed with control and subordinate relationship: NA.
(4). Information of directors, supervisors and General Manager of each affiliated enterprise.
Date: December 31, 2021

Name of enterprise

TaiMed Bioloics
USA Corp.

Title

Chairman
CEO

Name or
representative

Shareholding
shares

ratio

9,100,000

100%

James Chang
James Chang
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(5) Operation profile of each affiliated enterprise
Date: December 31, 2021; Unit: US Dollar

Name of
enterprise

Capital

TaiMed
Biologics
USA Corp.

9,100,000

Total assets

Total
liabilities

Net Worth

21,660,607

17,305,899

4,354,708

Net revenue

Income
from
operations

Current
profit and
loss (after
tax)

14,854,489

346,221

347,559

8.1.2 Affiliated enterprise consolidated financial statement
It is the same as the companies that should be included in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements of parent and subsidiary companies in accordance with IFRS 10, and relevant information
has been disclosed, so no separate preparation is required.
8.1.3 Relationship report: NA
8.2 In the last year and as at the publication date of annual report, handling situation of

private placement of securities: NA.
8.3 In the last year and as at the publication date of annual report, subsidiary's holding or
disposal of shares of the Company: NA

8.4 Other necessary supplementary explanations: None。
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VIIII. In the last year and as at the publication date of annual report, the occurrence of matter
having significant impact on the shareholders' equity or security price as prescribed in
Subparagraph 2, Paragraph 3, Article 36 of Securities Exchange Act:：

1.

On March 5, 2021, TaiMed Biologics Inc adjust the COVID-19 antobody implementation
project that suspended internal development of 2-7 and made an equity investment in RenBio,
who will continue the antibody cocktail development of 2-7 with another antibody of their
choice for Covid-19 treatment.

2.

On September 19, 2021, TaiMed announce that the results of phase 3 study of Trogarzo IV
Push successfully met the target.

3.

On October 1, 2021, TMB-365 was successfully completed the phase I study, and the data
results far exceeded the original set standards

4.

On December 6, 2021, TaiMed submitted a supplemental biologics license application (sBLA)
to the U.S. FDA for Trogarzo intravenous (IV) push form of administration.

5.

On December 28, 2021, TaiMed Biologics Inc.issued the first employee stock option
certificate of 2021, with a total of 625,400 shares, and the subscription price was NT$70.9.

6.

On February 24, 2022, US FDA approves supplemental BLA filing for the addition of
Samsung Biologics in Korea for commercial manufacturing of Trogarzo

7.

On March 11, 2022, TaiMed exxpands its business model from biologic drug innovator to
Contract Development and Manufacturing Organization (CDMO).

8.

On April 1, 2022, US FDA approves IND applicaion for bi-monthly and quarterly dosing of
TMB-365/TMB-380 combination for treatment of HIV infection

9.

On April 11, 2022, TaiMed Board of Directors approved CEO/President and will be succeded
by Jimmy Chang, Chief Operating Officer of the Company from June 1, 2022.

10. On April 13, 2022, EMA approves supplemental BLA filing for the addition of Samsung
Biologics in Korea for commercial manufacturing of Trogarzo
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TaiMed Biologics Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements for the
Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 and
Independent Auditors’ Report

DECLARATION OF CONSOLIDATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AFFILIATES

The companies that are required to be included in the consolidated financial statements of affiliates in
accordance with the “Criteria Governing Preparation of Affiliation Reports, Consolidated Business
Reports and Consolidated Financial Statements of Affiliated Enterprises” for the year ended December 31,
2021 are all the same as the companies required to be included in the consolidated financial statements of
parent and subsidiary companies prepared in conformity with the International Financial Reporting
Standard No. 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”. Relevant information that should be disclosed in
the consolidated financial statements of affiliates has all been disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements of parent and subsidiary companies. Hence, we do not prepare a separate set of consolidated
financial statements of affiliates.

Very truly yours,
TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
By

March 11, 2022
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The descriptions of the key audit matters of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2021 are as follows:
Assessment of Impairment Loss of Long-term Assets
As shown on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021, the total carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets (long-term assets)
amounted to NT$1,831,957 thousand, which accounted for 40% of the Group’s total assets. Factors
such as economic trends, market competition, and new technologies in drug research and
development might influence the future operation of the Group. Management performed an
impairment test according to IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” to determine whether there was any
indication of impairment through evaluating the expected economic benefits and recoverable
amounts of the relevant long-term assets. Since the assessment of impairment loss involves
significant estimates and judgments, the impairment of these long-term assets was considered to be
a key audit matter.
We conducted tests of controls by taking into consideration the business environment and
reviewing the Group’s impairment evaluation process to obtain an understanding of the Group’s
asset impairment procedures and the design and implementation of related controls. The
corresponding audit procedures that we performed were as follows:
1.

We obtained the valuation model used in the impairment test of long-term assets and evaluated
the reasonableness of the assumptions and parameters (i.e., discount rates).

2.

We evaluated the key assumptions and parameters used by management in sensitivity analysis.

For a description of the estimates and judgments related to long-term assets, see Note 5 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. For other related disclosures, see Notes 13, 14
and 16.
Other Matter
We have also audited the parent company only financial statements of TaiMed Biologics Inc. as of
and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 on which we have issued an unmodified
opinion.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by
Securities Issuers and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International
Accounting Standards (IAS), IFRIC Interpretations (IFRIC), and SIC Interpretations (SIC)
endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance, including the audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the auditing standards
generally accepted in the Republic of China will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of
China, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:
1.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

2.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

3.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

4.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
6.

Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with statements that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2021 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement partners on the audits resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Yen-Chun
Chen and Yung-Hsiang Chao.

Deloitte & Touche
Taipei, Taiwan
Republic of China
March 11, 2022

Notice to Readers
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are intended only to present the consolidated
financial position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles
and practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and not those of any other jurisdictions.
The standards, procedures and practices to audit such consolidated financial statements are those
generally applied in the Republic of China.
For the convenience of readers, the independent auditors’ report and the accompanying
consolidated financial statements have been translated into English from the original Chinese
version prepared and used in the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between the English
version and the original Chinese version or any difference in the interpretation of the two versions,
the Chinese-language independent auditors’ report and consolidated financial statements shall
prevail.
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TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

2021
Amount

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4 and 6)
Financial assets at amortized cost - current (Notes 4, 9 and 31)
Trade receivables (Notes 4 and 10)
Other receivables (Notes 4 and 10)
Inventories (Notes 4 and 11)
Other current assets (Note 17)

$

%

11
12
5
24
1

51

2,777,964

53

195,700

4

168,943

3

36,932
979,747
30,880
202,723
821,330
8,468

1
21
1
4
18
-

34,053
1,031,680
32,939
203,346
940,157
7,241

1
20
1
4
18
-

2,275,780

49

2,418,359

47

$ 4,610,730

100

$ 5,196,323

100

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - non-current (Notes 4 and 7)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - non-current (Notes 4, 8
and 30)
Property, plant and equipment (Notes 4, 5, 13 and 31)
Right-of-use assets (Notes 4, 5 and 14)
Investment properties (Notes 4, 5, 15 and 31)
Intangible assets (Notes 4, 5 and 16)
Other non-current assets (Note 17)
Total non-current assets

551,618
409,269
157,779
13,186
1,168,203
34,895

12
9
4
25
1

2,334,950

$

%

572,090
631,569
268,922
1,380
1,259,567
44,436

Total current assets

TOTAL

2020
Amount

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Contract liabilities - current (Notes 4 and 23)
Trade payables (Note 19)
Other payables (Note 20)
Other payables - related parties (Note 30)
Lease liabilities - current (Notes 4 and 14)
Other current liabilities

$

37,587
6,161
386,724
6,019
1,927
23,104

1
7
1

5

461,522

9

877,904
536,000
29,377
868

19
11
1
-

750,741
536,000
31,324
858

14
10
1
-

Total non-current liabilities

1,444,149

31

1,318,923

25

Total liabilities

1,669,226

36

1,780,445

34

2,523,270
925,137
(470,933)
(35,970)

55
20
(10)
(1)

2,522,230
4,831,919
(3,920,669)
(17,602)

48
93
(75)
-

2,941,504

64

3,415,878

66

$ 4,610,730

100

$ 5,196,323

100

Total current liabilities
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Contract liabilities - non-current (Notes 4 and 23)
Long-term borrowings (Notes 18 and 31)
Lease liabilities - non-current (Notes 4 and 14)
Guarantee deposits received

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
Ordinary shares
Capital surplus
Accumulated deficit
Other equity
Total equity
TOTAL

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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24,337
122,583
69,900
4,959
1,946
1,352

1
3
1
-

225,077

$

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Loss Per Share)

2021
Amount

2020
Amount

%

%

OPERATING REVENUE (Notes 4 and 23)

$ 413,442

100

$ 722,485

100

OPERATING COSTS (Notes 4, 11 and 24)
Cost of good sold
Other operating cost

160,863
168,624

39
41

311,771
89,473

43
12

329,487

80

401,244

55

83,955

20

321,241

45

(63,131)
(46,591)
(460,600)

(15)
(11)
(112)

(16,500)
(43,052)
(394,449)

(2)
(6)
(55)

(570,322)

(138)

(454,001)

(63)

(486,367)

(118)

(132,760)

(18)

4,033
4,085
14,760
(7,444)

1
1
4
(2)

8,482
4,976
(59,914)
(4,088)

1
1
(8)
(1)

15,434

4

(50,544)

(7)

(183,304)

(25)

GROSS PROFIT
OPERATING EXPENSES (Notes 4, 11, 24 and 30)
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Total operating expenses
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS
NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES
(Notes 4 and 24)
Interest income
Other income
Other gains and losses
Finance costs
Total non-operating income and expenses
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

(470,933)

INCOME TAX BENEFIT (Notes 4, 5 and 25)

-

NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR

(470,933)
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(114)
(114)

-

-

(183,304)
(25)
(Continued)

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Loss Per Share)

2021
Amount
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments in equity
instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Notes 4 and 22)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of
income tax
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR
LOSS PER SHARE (Note 26)
Basic
Diluted

%

(3)

(3,017)

(1)

(5,989)

(1)

(18,368)

(4)

(5,839)

(1)

$ (489,301)

(118)

$ (189,143)

(26)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

$

150

%

$ (15,351)

$(1.87)
$(1.87)
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2020
Amount

-

$(0.73)
$(0.73)

(Concluded)

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

Capital Surplus
(Notes 4, 22 and 27)
Share
Employee
Premium
Share Options

Ordinary Shares (Note 22)
Share (In
Thousands)
Amount
BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2020

252,190

$ 2,521,900

$ 4,682,163

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020

-

-

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2020, net
of income tax

-

Share-based payments - vested employee share options

$ (3,737,365)

-

-

(183,304)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

16,680

-

-

-

16,680

33

330

2,150

-

-

-

1,945

252,223

2,522,230

4,684,313

147,606

(3,920,669)

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2021

-

-

-

-

(470,933)

Other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2021, net of income
tax

-

-

-

-

-

Capital surplus used to offset accumulated deficit

-

-

-

3,920,669

-

-

-

Share-based payments - vested employee share options

-

-

-

10,222

-

-

-

10,222

104

1,040

5,102

(1,437)

-

-

-

4,705

252,327

$ 2,523,270

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

Share-based payments - exercised employee share options
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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(535)

(3,920,669)

$

768,746

$

156,391

$

(470,933)

$

(10,589)

$

-

(5,989)

(16,578)

(19,595)

(183,304)

150

(5,839)

-

(3,017)

(15,351)

$

$ 3,586,396

-

(1,024)

-

$

(1,174)

Total Equity

131,461

Share-based payments - exercised employee share options

$

Accumulated
Deficit
(Note 22)

Other Equity (Notes 4 and 22)
Exchange
Unrealized
Differences on
Gain (Loss) on
Translation of Financial Assets
the Financial
at Fair Value
Statements of
Through Other
Foreign
Comprehensive
Operation
Income

(16,375)

3,415,878
(470,933)

(18,368)

$ 2,941,504

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation expense
Amortization expense
Net (gain) loss on fair value changes of financial assets designated
as at fair value through profit or loss
Finance costs
Interest income
Compensation cost of employee share options
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of intangible assets
Net loss (gain) on foreign currency exchange
Write-down of inventories
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Contract liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables
Other payables - related parties
Other current liabilities
Cash used in operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Decrease in financial assets measured at cost
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Payments for intangible assets
Decrease (increase) in prepayments for equipment
Net cash generated from (used in) investing activities
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2021

2020

$ (470,933)

$ (183,304)

58,260
98,400

47,646
92,136

(26,757)
7,444
(4,033)
10,222
(11)
24,187
24,787
76,525

63,128
4,088
(8,482)
16,680
(1,374)
9,214
(17,183)
1,457

97,942
(11,874)
14,839
9,541
113,913
116,786
(324,358)
(1,060)
(21,752)
(207,932)
4,101
(7,444)

(53,589)
10,557
(384,988)
40,197
83,163
(130,236)
200,626
5,859
(2,152)
(206,557)
8,463
(3,842)

(211,275)

(201,936)

(18,230)
222,300
(8,173)
410
(3,873)
(1,514)

(16,613)
289,977
(53,614)
2,000
(332,158)
1,245

190,920

(109,163)
(Continued)

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

2021
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Refundable Deposits
Repayment of the principal portion of lease liabilities
Exercise of employee share options
Net cash generated from financing activities

$

10
(1,928)
4,705
2,787

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON THE BALANCE
OF CASH HELD IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

(2,904)

2020

$ 536,000
(1,910)
1,945
536,035

(5,780)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

(20,472)

219,156

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE
YEAR

572,090

352,934

$ 551,618

$ 572,090

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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(Concluded)

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
TaiMed Biologics Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on September 5, 2007 as a venture capital of the
government of the Republic of China (ROC), acting through the Development Fund of the Executive Yuan
and in conjunction with certain other investors injecting initial capital amounts.
The Company is a biotechnology company committed to have the expertise and capability in developing,
manufacturing and commercializing new drugs for the treatment and prevention of infectious diseases.
Since its inception, the Company has devoted substantial efforts toward developing new drugs, collecting
capital, recruiting and training of employees, etc.
The Company’s shares were traded on the Emerging Stock Market of the Taipei Exchange (TPEx) from
June 2010 to July 2015. Subsequently, in July 2015, the Company was approved to trade and has traded its
shares on the Over-The-Counter Stock Market of the TPEx since November 2015.
The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the
“Group”, are presented in the Company’s functional currency, the New Taiwan dollar.

2. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Company’s board of directors on March 11,
2022.

3. APPLICATION OF NEW, AMENDED AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
a. Initial application of the amendments to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
International Accounting Standards (IAS), IFRIC Interpretations (IFRIC), and SIC Interpretations (SIC)
(collectively, the “IFRSs”) endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission
(FSC)
The initial application of the IFRSs endorsed and issued into effect by the FSC did not have material
impact on the Group’s accounting policies.
b. The IFRSs endorsed by the FSC for application starting from 2022
Effective Date Announced by
IASB

New IFRSs
“Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020”
Amendments to IFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual Framework”
Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use”
Amendments to IAS 37 “Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract”
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January 1, 2022 (Note 1)
January 1, 2022 (Note 2)
January 1, 2022 (Note 3)
January 1, 2022 (Note 4)

Note 1: The amendments to IFRS 9 will be applied prospectively to modifications and exchanges of
financial liabilities that occur on or after the annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2022. The amendments to IAS 41 “Agriculture” will be applied prospectively to
the fair value measurements on or after the annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2022. The amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoptions of IFRSs” will be applied
retrospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.
Note 2: The amendments are applicable to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on
or after the beginning of the annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2022.
Note 3: The amendments are applicable to property, plant and equipment that are brought to the
location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management on or after January 1, 2021.
Note 4: The amendments are applicable to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations on January 1, 2022.
As of the date the consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue, the Group has assessed
that the application of other standards and interpretations will not have a material impact on the Group’s
financial position and financial performance.
c. New IFRSs in issue but not yet endorsed and issued into effect by the FSC
Effective Date Announced by
IASB (Note 1)

New IFRSs
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution of Assets
between An Investor and Its Associate or Joint Venture”
IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”
Amendments to IFRS 17
Amendments to IFRS 17 “Initial Application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 Comparative Information”
Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current”
Amendments to IAS 1 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”
Amendments to IAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”
Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

To be determined by IASB
January 1, 2023
January 1, 2023
January 1, 2023
January 1, 2023
January 1, 2023 (Note 2)
January 1, 2023 (Note 3)
January 1, 2023 (Note 4)

Note 1: Unless stated otherwise, the above New IFRSs are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after their respective effective dates.
Note 2: The amendments will be applied prospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2023.
Note 3: The amendments are applicable to changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies that occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period beginning on or
after January 1, 2023.
Note 4: Except for deferred taxes that will be recognized on January 1, 2022 for temporary differences
associated with leases and decommissioning obligations, the amendments will be applied
prospectively to transactions that occur on or after January 1, 2022.
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1) Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
The amendments clarify that for a liability to be classified as non-current, the Group shall assess
whether it has the right at the end of the reporting period to defer settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting period. If such rights are in existence at the end of the
reporting period, the liability is classified as non-current regardless of whether the Group will
exercise that right. The amendments also clarify that, if the right to defer settlement is subject to
compliance with specified conditions, the Group must comply with those conditions at the end of
the reporting period even if the lender does not test compliance until a later date.
The amendments stipulate that, for the purpose of liability classification, the aforementioned
settlement refers to a transfer of cash, other economic resources or the Group’s own equity
instruments to the counterparty that results in the extinguishment of the liability. However, if the
terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by a transfer
of the Group’s own equity instruments, and if such option is recognized separately as equity in
accordance with IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation, the aforementioned terms would not
affect the classification of the liability.
2) Amendments to IAS 1 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”
The amendments specify that the Group should refer to the definition of material to determine its
material accounting policy information to be disclosed. Accounting policy information is material if
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments also clarify
that:
 Accounting policy information that relates to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions
is immaterial and need not be disclosed;
 The Group may consider the accounting policy information as material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial; and
 Not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material.
The amendments also illustrate that accounting policy information is likely to be considered as
material to the financial statements if that information relates to material transactions, other events
or conditions and:
a) The Group changed its accounting policy during the reporting period and this change resulted in
a material change to the information in the financial statements;
b) The Group chose the accounting policy from options permitted by the standards;
c) The accounting policy was developed in accordance with IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors” in the absence of an IFRS that specifically applies;
d) The accounting policy relates to an area for which the Group is required to make significant
judgments or assumptions in applying an accounting policy, and the Group discloses those
judgments or assumptions; or
e) The accounting is complex and users of the financial statements would otherwise not understand
those material transactions, other events or conditions.
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3) Amendments to IAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”
The amendments define that accounting estimates are monetary amounts in financial statements that
are subject to measurement uncertainty. In applying accounting policies, the Group may be required
to measure items at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead be
estimated. In such a case, the Group uses measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates to achieve the objective. The effects on an accounting estimate of a change in a
measurement technique or a change in an input are changes in accounting estimates unless they
result from the correction of prior period errors.
4) Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction”
The amendments clarify that the initial recognition exemption under IAS 12 does not apply to
transactions in which equal taxable and deductible temporary differences arise on initial
recognition. The Group will recognize a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilized)
and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with
leases and decommissioning obligations on January 1, 2022, and recognize the cumulative effect of
initial application in retained earnings at that date. The Group will apply the amendments
prospectively to transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations that occur on or
after January 1, 2022.
Except for the above impact, as of the date the consolidated financial statements were authorized for
issue, the Group is continuously assessing the possible impact that the application of other standards
and interpretations will have on the Group’s financial position and financial performance and will
disclose the relevant impact when the assessment is completed.

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a. Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Regulations
Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and IFRSs as endorsed and issued
into effect by the FSC.
b. Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for
financial instruments which are measured at fair value.
The fair value measurements, which are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the
fair value measurement inputs are observable and based on the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, are described as follows:
1) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
2) Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for an
asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and
3) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.
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c. Classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities
Current assets include:
1) Assets held primarily for the purpose of trading;
2) Assets expected to be realized within 12 months after the reporting period; and
3) Cash and cash equivalents unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Current liabilities include:
1) Liabilities held primarily for the purpose of trading;
2) Liabilities due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; and
3) Liabilities for which the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least
12 months after the reporting period.
Assets and liabilities that are not classified as current are classified as non-current.
d. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and the
entities controlled by the Company (i.e., its subsidiaries).
Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective dates of acquisitions up to the
effective dates of disposals, as appropriate.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those of the Group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full upon consolidation.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
See Note 12 and Table 5 for detailed information on subsidiaries (including percentages of ownership
and main businesses).
e. Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (i.e., foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions.
At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Exchange differences on monetary items arising from settlement or
translation are recognized in profit or loss in the period.
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Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value is determined. Exchange differences arising from
the retranslation of non-monetary items are included in profit or loss for the period except for exchange
differences arising from the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognized directly in other comprehensive income; in which cases, the exchange differences are also
recognized directly in other comprehensive income.
Non-monetary item denominated in a foreign currency and measured at historical cost is stated at the
reporting currency as originally translated from the foreign currency.
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of the
Company and its foreign operations (including subsidiaries) that are prepared using functional
currencies which are different from the currency of the Company are translated into the presentation
currency, the New Taiwan dollar, as follows: Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period; and income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period. The resulting currency translation differences are recognized in other
comprehensive income. The exchange differences accumulated in equity, which resulted from the
translation of the assets and liabilities of the entities in the Group from functional currencies to the
presentation currency, are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
f. Inventories
Inventories consist of raw materials, finished goods and work in progress and are stated at the lower of
cost or net realizable value. Inventory write-downs are made by item. The net realizable value is the
estimated selling price of inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale. Inventories are recorded at the weighted-average cost on the balance sheet date.
g. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation.
Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction are measured at cost. Cost includes
professional fees. Such assets are depreciated and classified to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for their intended use.
Except for freehold land which is not depreciated, the depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
recognized using the straight-line method. Each significant part is depreciated separately. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effects of any changes in the estimates accounted for on a prospective basis.
On derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss.
h. Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation. Investment
properties also include land held for a currently undetermined future use.
Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment loss. Depreciation is recognized using the straight-line method.
On derecognition of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset is included in profit or loss.
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i.

Intangible assets
1) Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are initially measured at cost
and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is recognized on a
straight-line basis. The estimated useful lives, residual values, and amortization methods are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in the estimates
accounted for on a prospective basis.
An intangible asset in untapped status not yet available for use is not subject to amortization. The
Group tests intangible assets for impairment under IAS 36, Impairment of Assets.
2) Derecognition of intangible assets
On derecognition of an intangible asset, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss.

j.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use asset, investment properties and intangible
assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use asset, investment properties and intangible assets, to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Corporate assets are
allocated to the individual cash-generating units on a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually and whenever there is an indication that the assets may be impaired.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. If the recoverable
amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount, with the resulting
impairment loss recognized in profit or loss.
When an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the corresponding asset,
cash-generating unit or assets related to contract costs is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but only to the extent of the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognized on the asset, cash-generating unit or assets related to contract costs
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.

k. Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
1) Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade
date basis.
a) Measurement categories
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: Financial assets at FVTPL, financial
assets at amortized cost and equity instruments at FVTOCI.
i. Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when such financial assets are mandatorily
classified or designated as at FVTPL. Financial assets mandatorily classified as at FVTPL
include investments in equity instruments which are not designated as at FVTOCI and debt
instruments that do not meet the amortized cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria.
Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value, and any dividends,
interest earned and remeasurement gains or losses on such financial assets are recognized in
other gains or losses. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 29: Financial
Instruments.
ii. Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortized
cost:
i) The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
ii) The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost, including cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables and refundable deposits at amortized cost, are measured at
amortized cost, which equals the gross carrying amount determined using the effective
interest method less any impairment loss. Exchange differences are recognized in profit or
loss.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of such a financial asset, except for:
i) Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets, for which interest income is
calculated by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortized cost of
such financial assets; and
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ii) Financial assets that are not credit impaired on purchase or origination but have
subsequently become credit impaired, for which interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of such financial assets in
subsequent reporting periods.
A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more of the following events have occurred:
i) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
ii) Breach of contract, such as a default;
iii) It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or undergo a financial
reorganization; or
iv) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
Cash equivalents include time deposits with original maturities within 3 months from the
date of acquisition, which are highly liquid, readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These cash equivalents are held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.
iii. Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election to designate investments
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation as at FVTOCI is not permitted if the
equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognized by an
acquirer in a business combination.
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in other equity. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments; instead, it will be transferred to
retained earnings.
Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognized in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
b) Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets at
amortized cost (including trade receivables) as well as contract assets.
Expected credit losses reflect the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. Lifetime ECLs represent the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECLs represent the portion of lifetime ECLs that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.
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For internal credit risk management purposes, the Group considers the following situations as
indication that a financial asset is in default (without taking into account any collateral held by
the Group):
i. Internal or external information show that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors.
ii. When a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
corroborative information to support a more lagged default criterion.
The impairment loss of all financial assets is recognized in profit or loss by a reduction in their
carrying amounts through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments
that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognized in other
comprehensive income and the carrying amounts of such financial assets are not reduced.
c) Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.
On derecognition of a financial asset at amortized cost in its entirety, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognized
in profit or loss. On derecognition of an investment in an equity instrument at FVTOCI, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognized in profit or loss, and the cumulative gain or loss which had been
recognized in other comprehensive income is transferred directly to retained earnings, without
recycling through profit or loss.
2) Equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
The repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognized in and deducted directly
from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issuance or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
3) Financial liabilities
a) Subsequent measurement
All financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
b) Derecognition of financial liabilities
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability derecognized and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognized in profit or loss.
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l.

Revenue recognition
The Group identifies contracts with customers, allocates the transaction price to the performance
obligations and recognizes revenue when performance obligations are satisfied.
For contracts entered into with the same customer (or related parties of the customer) at or near the
same time, those contracts are accounted for as a single contract if the goods or services promised in the
contracts are a single performance obligation.
1) Revenue from the sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods comes from sales of medicines. Sales of medicines are recognized
as revenue when the goods are delivered to the customer’s specific location because it is the time
when the customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods.
Trade receivables are recognized concurrently.
The Group grant the customer options to purchase additional goods under the contract. If these
options provide the customer with a material right, the customer pays the price of goods in advance,
and the Group recognizes the revenue when the goods are transferred in the future or when the
option expires. If the amount received exceeds the revenue to be recognized, the difference shall be
recognized as a contract liability.
2) Revenue from the rendering of services
Revenue from the rendering of services is to provide data analysis services to customers.
Consequently, the related revenue is recognized when services are rendered.

m. Lease
At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease.
1) The Group as lessor
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of a lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
Lease payments (less any lease incentives payable) from operating leases are recognized as income
on a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant leases.
When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element separately as a finance or an operating lease based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred
to the lessee. The lease payments are allocated to the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of a contract. If the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably,
each element is accounted for separately in accordance with its lease classification. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably to the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases; in which case,
the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
2) The Group as lessee
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases at the commencement
date of a lease, except for short-term leases and low-value asset leases accounted for applying a
recognition exemption where lease payments are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms.
- 22 -

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial measurement of lease
liabilities adjusted for lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs needed to restore the underlying assets, and less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.
Right-of-use assets are presented on a separate line in the consolidated balance sheets
Right-of-use assets are depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement dates to
the earlier of the end of the useful lives of the right-of-use assets or the end of the lease terms.
Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments. The lease
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in a lease, if that rate can be readily
determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate will
be used.
Subsequently, lease liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method,
with interest expense recognized over the lease terms. The Group remeasures the lease liabilities
with a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use-assets. However, if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use assets is reduced to zero, any remaining amount of the remeasurement is recognized in
profit or loss. Lease liabilities are presented on a separate line in the consolidated balance sheets.
n. Government grants
Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attached to them and that the grant will be received.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are receivable.
o. Employee benefits
1) Short-term employee benefits
Liabilities recognized in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related services.
2) Retirement benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognized as expenses when
employees have rendered services entitling them to the contributions.
p. Share-based payment arrangements
1) Equity-settled share-based payment arrangements and employee share options granted to employee
The fair value at the grant date of the employee share options is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of shares or options that are
expected to ultimately vest, with a corresponding increase in capital surplus - employee share
options. The expense is recognized in full at the grant date if the grants are vested immediately.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of employee share
options expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates is recognized in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital surplus - employee share options.
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2) Equity-settled share-based payment arrangement granted to technology transfer companies and
consultants
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at
the fair value of patent received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the services.
q. Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
1) Current tax
According to the Income Tax Act in the ROC, an additional tax on unappropriated earnings is
provided for as income tax in the year the shareholders approve to retain earnings.
Adjustments of prior years’ tax liabilities are added to or deducted from the current year’s tax
provision.
2) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences, unused loss carryforwards
and unused tax credits for research and development expenditures, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilized.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the assets to be recovered. A previously unrecognized deferred tax asset is also
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and recognized to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liabilities are settled or the assets are realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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3) Current and deferred taxes for the year
Current and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity; in which case, the current and
deferred taxes are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments,
estimations, and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The Group considers the possible impact of the recent development of the COVID-19 in Taiwan and its
economic environment implications when making its critical accounting estimates on cash flow projections,
growth rate, discount rate, profitability, etc. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are
revised if the revisions affect only that period or in the period of the revisions and future periods if the
revisions affect both current and future periods.
Critical Accounting Judgments
a. Externally acquired new drug research and development technology
Acquisition of research and development plans in untapped status not yet available for use is not subject
to amortization. At the end of each year, the Group compares the carrying amounts with the recoverable
amounts of those intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss under IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
b. Lease terms
In determining a lease term, the Group considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise or not to exercise an option, including any expected changes in facts and
circumstances from the commencement date until the exercise date of the option. Main factors
considered include contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods, significant leasehold
improvements undertaken over the contract term, the importance of the underlying asset to the lessee’s
operations, etc. The lease term is reassessed if a significant change in circumstances that are within
control of the Group occur.
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
a. Impairment of property, plant and equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets, and intangible
assets
The impairment of equipment was based on the recoverable amounts of those assets, which are the
higher of their fair value less costs of disposal and their value in use. Any changes in the market prices
or future cash flows will affect the recoverable amounts of those assets and may lead to the recognition
of additional impairment losses or the reversal of impairment losses.
b. Income taxes
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the carrying amount of deferred tax assets in relation to unused tax
losses was $1,529,356 thousand and $1,218,156 thousand, respectively. No deferred tax asset has been
recognized on tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
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6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
December 31
2021
Cash on hand
Checking accounts and demand deposits
Cash equivalents
Time deposits with original maturity of less than 3 months

$

2020

300
101,098

$

300
150,790

450,220

421,000

$ 551,618

$ 572,090

The market interest rates of the time deposits with original maturity of less than 3 months at the end of the
reporting period were as follows:
December 31

Time deposits

2021

2020

0.17%-0.4%

0.05%-0.4%

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
December 31
2021

2020

$ 195,700

$ 168,943

Financial assets at FVTPL - non-current
Foreign investment
Listed shares and emerging market shares

8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
December 31
2021

2020

$ 36,932

$ 34,053

Non-current
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
December 31
2021

2020

Domestic investments
Unlisted shares
Ordinary shares - TFBS Bioscience, Inc.

$ 28,352

$ 17,440

Foreign investments
Unlisted shares
Preference shares - RenBio Inc.

$

$ 16,613

Non-current
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8,580

These investments in equity instruments are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium to
long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the management elected to designate these investments in equity
instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognizing short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for
long-term purposes.

9. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST
December 31
2021

2020

$ 406,680
2,589

$ 629,000
2,569

$ 409,269

$ 631,569

Current
Domestic investments
Time deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months
Pledge deposits

The interest rates for time deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months ranged from 0.17% to
0.765% and 0.07% to 1.015% per annum, respectively, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
Refer to Note 31 for information relating to pledge deposits.

10. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
December 31
2021

2020

$ 157,779
-

$ 268,922
-

$ 157,779

$ 268,922

$

12,630
327
229

$

888
196
296

$

13,186

$

1,380

Trade receivables
At amortized cost
Gross carrying amount
Less: Allowance for impairment loss

Other receivables
Experimental fee refund receivable
Tax refund receivable
Receivable for materials
Others

The average credit period of the sales of goods is 60 days in the United States and 45 days after receipts in
Europe. No interest was charged.
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The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The
expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix approach considering the
past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for
general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecasted direction of economic conditions at the reporting date. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished according to
the Group’s different customer base.
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. For trade receivables that have been
written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivables due.
Where recoveries are made, these are recognized in profit or loss.
The following table details the loss allowance of trade receivables based on the Group’s provision matrix.
December 31, 2021
Not Past Due

Less than 60
Days

61 to 90
Days

91 to 120
Days

Over 120
Days

Total

Gross carrying amount
Loss allowance (Lifetime ECLs)

$ 157,779
-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$ 157,779
-

Amortized cost

$ 157,779

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$ 157,779

December 31, 2020
Not Past Due

Less than 60
Days

61 to 90
Days

91 to 120
Days

Over 120
Days

Total

Gross carrying amount
Loss allowance (Lifetime ECLs)

$ 268,922
-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$ 268,922
-

Amortized cost

$ 268,922

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$ 268,922

11. INVENTORIES
December 31
2021
Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

$

295,604
643,408
229,191

$ 1,168,203
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2020
$

340,579
798,757
120,231

$ 1,259,567

The nature of the cost of goods sold is as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Cost of inventories sold
Other operating cost
Amortization of intangible assets and milestone payment
Inventory write-downs

$ 160,863

$ 311,771

93,866
74,758
168,624

89,473
89,473

$ 329,487

$ 401,244

In 2021, partly work in progress inventories were expected not to fulfill the minimum requirement shelf life
stipulated in sales contract after completing the work progress. Therefore, the Group made an allowance for
inventory valuation losses of $74,758 thousand which included in other operating cost.
Except as mentioned in the previous paragraph, the cost of goods sold included inventory write-downs of
$1,767 thousand and $1,457 thousand, for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Some work-in-process inventories were produced with new manufacturing process, and the future
economic benefits are still uncertain before acquiring a quality certification from FDA. Hence, the Group
made an allowance for inventory valuation losses under research and development expenses.

12. SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements.

Investor
The Company

Investee
TaiMed Biologics USA Corp.

% of Ownership
December 31
2021
2020

Main Business
Research and development

100

Remark

100

*

Remark:
*

TaiMed Biologics USA Corp. (TMB USA) was incorporated in October 2007 in the United States. It is
engaged mainly in supporting clinical trials and selling new drugs in the United States of America.

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
December 31
2021
Assets used by the Group

$
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979,747

2020
$ 1,031,680

Assets Used by the Group

Land

Building

Instrument
Equipment

Furniture and
Office
Equipment

Balance at January 1, 2021
Additions
Disposal
Reclassification

$ 194,605
-

$ 492,715
400
-

$ 428,388
3,357
(410 )
287

$ 15,275
-

$

4,643
-

$

-

$1,135,626
3,757
(410 )
287

Balance at December 31, 2021

$ 194,605

$ 493,115

$ 431,622

$ 15,275

$

4,643

$

-

$1,139,260

Balance at January 1, 2021
Depreciation expense
Disposal

$

-

$ 51,357
26,822
-

$ 44,802
27,512
(11 )

$

3,144
1,244
-

$

4,643
-

$

-

$ 103,946
55,578
(11 )

Balance at December 31, 2021

$

-

$ 78,179

$ 72,303

$

4,388

$

4,643

$

-

$ 159,513

Carrying amount at December 31, 2021

$ 194,605

$ 414,936

$ 359,319

$ 10,887

$

-

$

-

$ 979,747

Balance at January 1, 2020
Additions
Disposals
Reclassification

$ 194,605
-

$ 359,169
1,700
131,846

$ 263,287
33,881
(3,756 )
134,976

$

9,332
4,863
1,080

$

4,643
-

$ 137,561
15,285
(152,846 )

$ 968,597
55,729
(3,756 )
115,056

Balance at December 31, 2020

$ 194,605

$ 492,715

$ 428,388

$ 15,275

$

4,643

$

-

$1,135,626

Balance at January 1, 2020
Depreciation expense
Disposals

$

-

$ 30,114
21,243
-

$ 25,293
22,639
(3,130 )

$

2,061
1,083
-

$

4,643
-

$

-

$ 62,111
44,965
(3,130 )

Balance at December 31, 2020

$

-

$ 51,357

$ 44,802

$

3,144

$

4,643

$

-

$ 103,946

Carrying amount at December 31, 2020

$ 194,605

$ 441,358

$ 383,586

$ 12,131

$

-

$

-

$1,031,680

Leasehold
Improvements

Property in
Construction

Total

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

The Group determined the recoverable amount of the relevant assets on the basis of their fair values less
costs of disposal. No impairment assessment was performed for the year ended December 31, 2021 and
2020 as there was no indication of impairment.
The above items of property, plant and equipment used by the Group are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives as follows:
Buildings
Main buildings
Electrical and mechanical system and others
Fire equipment
Instrument equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Leasehold improvements

50 years
8-39 years
5 years
6 years
5 years
5 years

Property, plant and equipment pledged as collateral for bank borrowings are set out in Note 31.

14. LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
a. Right-of-use assets
December 31
2021

2020

$ 30,880

$ 32,939

Carrying amount
Land
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December 31
2021

2020

Additions to right-of-use assets
Land

$

-

$

1,165

Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets
Land

$

2,059

$

2,058

b. Lease liabilities
December 31
2021

2020

$ 1,946
$ 29,377

$ 1,927
$ 31,324

Carrying amount
Current
Non-current
Range of discount rates for lease liabilities was as follows:
December 31

Land

2021

2020

0.9928%

0.9928%

c. Material lease-in activities and terms
The Group also leases land for the use of plants and offices with lease terms of 20 years. The lease
contract for land specifies that lease payments will be adjusted on the basis of changes in announced
land value prices. The Group does not have bargain purchase options to acquire the leasehold land and
buildings at the end of the lease terms.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Land

Building

Total

Cost
Balance at January 1 and December 31, 2021

$ 173,856

$

31,152

$ 205,008

Balance at January 1, 2021
Depreciation expense

$

-

$

1,662
623

$

1,662
623

Balance at December 31, 2021

$

-

$

2,285

$

2,285

Carrying amount at December 31, 2021

$ 173,856

$

28,867

Accumulated depreciation
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$ 202,723
(Continued)

Land

Building

Total

Cost
Balance at January 1 and December 31, 2020

$ 173,856

$

31,152

$ 205,008

Balance at January 1, 2020
Depreciation expense

$

-

$

1,039
623

$

1,039
623

Balance at December 31, 2020

$

-

$

1,662

$

1,662

Carrying amount at December 31, 2020

$ 173,856

$

29,490

Accumulated depreciation

$ 203,346
(Concluded)

Investment properties are depreciated using the straight-line method for 50 years over their estimated useful
lives.
The determination of fair value was performed by any independent qualified professional valuers measured
the fair value by using Level 3 inputs. The valuation was arrived at by reference to weighted average of
income approach and market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties approach.
December 31

Fair value

2021

2020

$ 212,137

$ 211,176

The maturity analysis of lease payments receivable under operating leases of investment properties at
December 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows:
December 31
2021
Year 1
Year 2
Year 3

$

5,006
4,961
4,547

$

4,921
-

$ 14,514

$

4,921

Investment properties pledged as collateral for bank borrowings are set out in Note 31.
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2020

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Bispecific
Antibodies
(TMB-370)

TMB-355

VRC07-523LS
(TMB-380)

TMB-200

Computer
Software

Total

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2021
Additions
Disposal
Effects of foreign currency exchange
differences

$ 1,085,974
-

$

Balance at December 31, 2021

$ 1,085,974

$

-

$

-

$

3,875

$

27,488

Balance at January 1, 2021
Amortization expense

$

193,450
93,866

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

4,157
4,534

$

197,607
98,400

Balance at December 31, 2021

$

287,316

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

8,691

$

296,007

Carrying amount at December 31, 2021

$

798,658

$

-

$

-

$

3,875

$

18,797

$

821,330

Balance at January 1, 2020
Additions
Disposal
Reclassification
Effects of foreign currency exchange
differences

$

810,112
275,862
-

$

20,686
-

$

$

4,197
-

$

9,922
238
16,956

$

844,917
285,314
(9,214 )
16,956

Balance at December 31, 2020

$ 1,085,974

$

20,686

$

-

$

3,988

$

27,116

Balance at January 1, 2020
Amortization expense

$

103,977
89,473

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

1,494
2,663

$

105,471
92,136

Balance at December 31, 2020

$

193,450

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

4,157

$

197,607

Carrying amount at December 31, 2020

$

892,524

$

20,686

$

-

$

3,988

$

22,959

$

940,157

-

20,686
3,501
(24,187 )

$

-

-

$

-

3,988
-

$

(113 )

27,116
372
-

$ 1,137,764
3,873
(24,187 )

-

(113 )
$ 1,117,337

Accumulated amortization

Cost

-

-

9,214
(9,214 )
-

(209 )

-

(209 )
$ 1,137,764

Accumulated amortization

Intangible assets arose from the acquisition cost of the exclusive rights to new drugs (refer to Note 33).
Among them, the TMB-355 was available for use when the FDA approved the BLA of the drug on March
7, 2018; thus, the Group amortizes the royalty based on the expected duration of the data protection by
using the straight-line method. In addition, the TMB-355 was available for use when the EMA approved to
sell on September 26, 2019; thus, the Group amortized the royalty based on the expected duration of the
data protection by using the straight-line method.
On March 5, 2021, the board of directors resolved to terminate the development plan of TMB-200 to
concentrate the use of available resources on developing VRC07-523LS. In November 2021, based on the
overall business strategy and resource concentration considerations, the board of directors resolved to
authorize the chairman to terminate TMB-370 at an appropriate time to focus on the development of the
combined method of TMB-365 and TMB-380.
As of December 31, 2021, bispecific antibodies and VRC07-523LS were in untapped status and not yet
available for use.
At the end of each year, the Group compares the carrying amount with the recoverable amount of those
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. There was no indication of
impairment as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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17. OTHER ASSETS
December 31
2021

2020

$ 22,228
9,121
3,543
3

$ 18,306
21,042
4,729
359

$ 34,895

$ 44,436

$

5,403
3,065

$

4,176
3,065

$

8,468

$

7,241

Current
Excess VAT paid
Prepayments for purchases
Prepayments
Others

Non-current
Prepayments for equipment
Refundable deposits

18. BORROWINGS
Long-term Borrowings
December 31
2021

2020

$ 536,000

$ 536,000

Secured borrowings
Bank loans

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the effective interest rates of the bank borrowings secured by the
Group’s freehold land and buildings (see Note 31) was 1.24%. Such loans are due in May 6, 2040 and June
24, 2040, respectively.

19. TRADE PAYABLES
December 31
2021

2020

Trade payable
Operating

$ 122,583
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$

6,161

20. OTHER PAYABLES
December 31
2021
Payables for supplier’s fees
Clinical trial expenses
Trial production expenses
Payables for materials
Royalties
Payables on equipment
Others

2020

$

26,798
19,883
6,969
1,053
15,197

$

148,462
83,619
48,071
80,883
4,416
21,273

$

69,900

$ 386,724

21. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
Defined Contribution Plans
The Group adopted a pension plan under the Labor Pension Act (LPA), which is a state-managed defined
contribution plan. Under the LPA, an entity makes monthly contributions to employees’ individual pension
accounts at 6% of monthly salaries and wages.
The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the United States of America are members of a state-managed
retirement benefit plan operated by the government of the United States of America. The subsidiary is
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the
specified contributions.

22. EQUITY
a. Ordinary shares
December 31

Number of shares authorized (in thousands)
Shares authorized
Number of shares issued and fully paid (in thousands)
Shares issued

2021

2020

300,000
$ 3,000,000
252,327
$ 2,523,270

300,000
$ 3,000,000
252,223
$ 2,522,230

Ordinary shares change is mainly due to employees’ exercise of their employee share options. Fully
paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of $10, carry one vote per share and carry a right to
dividends.
A total of 20,600 thousand shares of the Company’s shares authorized were reserved for the issuance of
employee share options.
The issuance of ordinary shares for obtaining new drug’s patents and management services are included
in the issued ordinary shares, and 27,060 shares have been issued for this purpose.
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b. Capital surplus
The capital surplus arising from shares issued in excess of par (including share premium from issuance
of ordinary shares) may be used to offset a deficit; in addition, when the Company has no deficit, such
capital surplus may be distributed as cash dividends or transferred to share capital (limited to a certain
percentage of the Company’s capital surplus and once a year).
The capital surplus from employee share options may not be used for any purpose.
c. Retained earnings and dividend policy
Under the dividend policy as set forth in the amended Articles, where the Company made profit in a
fiscal year, the profit shall be first utilized for paying taxes, offsetting losses of previous years, setting
aside as legal reserve 10% of the remaining profit, setting aside or reversing a special reserve in
accordance with the laws and regulations, and then any remaining profit together with any undistributed
retained earnings shall be used by the Company’s board of directors as the basis for proposing a
distribution plan, which should be resolved in the shareholders’ meeting for distribution of dividends
and bonus to shareholders. For the policies on distribution of compensation of employees and
remuneration of directors and supervisors before and after amendment, refer to Note 24(g) of employee
benefits expense.
In principle, cash dividends are limited up to 50% of total dividends distributed. To ensure the
Company has adequate cash for its present and future expansion plans, adjustment of this percentage
may be approved by the shareholders depending on the cash flows, net income and the need for future
expansion.
Appropriation of earnings to the legal reserve shall be made until the legal reserve equals the
Company’s paid-in capital. The legal reserve may be used to offset deficit. If the Company has no
deficit and the legal reserve has exceeded 25% of the Company’s paid-in capital, the excess may be
transferred to capital or distributed in cash.
Under Rule No. 1010012865 and Rule No. 1010047490 issued by the FSC and the directive titled
“Questions and Answers for Special Reserves Appropriated Following Adoption of IFRSs”, the
Company should appropriate or reverse to a special reserve.
The Company’s shareholders resolved in the shareholders’ meeting on August 26, 2021 to use the
capital surplus - additional paid-in capital in excess of par value of $3,920,669 thousand to offset the
accumulated deficit.
d. Other equity
1) Exchange differences on translation of the financial statements of foreign operations
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Balance at January 1
Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign
operations

$ (16,578)

$ (10,589)

(3,017)

(5,989)

Balance at December 31

$ (19,595)

$ (16,578)
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2) Unrealized gain (loss) on financial assets at FVTOCI
2021

2020

Balance at January 1
Recognized for the year
Unrealized gain (loss)

$ (1,024)

$ (1,174)

Balance at December 31

$ (16,375)

(15,351)

150
$ (1,024)

23. REVENUE
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from sale of goods
Revenue from rendering of services

$ 412,750
692

$ 721,878
607

$ 413,442

$ 722,485

December 31,
2021

December 31,
2020

January 1, 2020

$ 902,241

$ 788,328

$ 705,165

$

$

$

a. Contract balances

Contract liabilities
Sale of goods
Contract liabilities - current
Contract liabilities - non-current

24,337
877,904

$ 902,241

37,587
750,741

$ 788,328

21,917
683,248

$ 705,165

For trade receivables, see Note 10.
The changes in the balance of contract liabilities primarily result from the timing difference between the
Group’s performance and the respective customer’s payment; there is no other significant changes.
b. The Company signed an “Exclusive Distribution and Marketing Agreement for Ibalizumab
(TMB-355)” with Theratechnologies Inc. on March 18, 2016, which announced a 12-year collaboration
agreement to market and distribute Ibalizumab in the United States and Canada. Theratechnologies Inc.
paid US$1,000 thousand in March 2016 according to the agreement.
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The milestone payments of the agreement were as follows:
Milestone Date
Upfront payment

Execution date

Marketing approval
milestone payment
Commercial launch
milestone payment
New route of
administration
milestone payment
Sales milestone
payment

Marketing approval date

Transfer price

Sales date of drug

First commercial sale date
First commercial sale date
of new route of
administration
Milestone date for each net
sales achievement

Milestone Payment
US$1,000 thousand in cash and US$1,000
thousand in Theratechnologies Inc.’s ordinary
shares (to be received after the date on which
the first commercial sale is achieved)
US$2,000 thousand in Theratechnologies Inc.’s
ordinary shares
US$1,000 thousand in Theratechnologies Inc.’s
ordinary shares
US$3,000 thousand in cash and an additional
payment in cash without exceeding
US$50,000 thousand
From US$7,000 thousand to US$100,000
thousand in cash for each net sales
achievement
US$5,500 thousand in cash (to be received
quarterly according to the sales) and 52% of
net sales price

c. The Company signed an amended and restated agreement of the “Exclusive Distribution and Marketing
Agreement for Ibalizumab (TMB-355)” with Theratechnologies Inc. on March 6, 2017, which granted
Theratechnologies Inc. the exclusive rights to commercialize TMB-355 in the European markets.
According to the agreement, Theratechnologies Inc. issued and delivered 906,077 of Theratechnologies
Inc.’s ordinary shares to the Company (equivalent to US$3,000 thousand) in March 2017.
The milestone payments of the agreement were as follows:
Milestone Date
Upfront payment

Execution date

Marketing approval
milestone payment

Marketing approval date

Commercial launch
milestone payment

First commercial sale date

Sales milestone
payment

Milestone date for each net
sales achievement

Transfer price

Sale date of drug

Milestone Payment
906,077 ordinary shares of Theratechnologies
Inc. (equivalent to US$3,000 thousand)
50% of the development costs mandated by the
European Medicines Agency (EMA) to obtain
marketing approval
US$10,000 thousand in cash (US$5,000
thousand one year after launch; and another
US$5,000 one year after first reaching
European net sales of US$50,000 thousand
over four consecutive financial quarters)
From US$10,000 thousand to US$50,000
thousand in cash for each net sales
achievement
From 52% to 57% of net sales price

24. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
a. Interest income
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Bank deposits

$
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4,033

$

8,482

b. Other income
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Rental income
Others

$

3,166
919

$

4,945
31

$

4,085

$

4,976

c. Other gains and losses
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Net gain (loss) on fair value changes of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
Gains on disposals of property, plant and equipment
Net foreign exchange (losses) gains
Others

$ 26,757
11
(11,376)
(632)

$ (63,128)
1,374
2,470
(630)

$ 14,760

$ (59,914)

d. Finance cost
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Interest on bank loans
Interest on lease liabilities
Others

$

7,118
321
5

$

3,742
339
7

$

7,444

$

4,088

e. Depreciation and amortization
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investment properties
Intangible assets

$

An analysis of depreciation by function
Operating expenses
Other gains and losses
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55,578
2,059
623
98,400

$

44,965
2,058
623
92,136

$ 156,660

$ 139,782

$

57,637
623

$

47,023
623

$

58,260

$

47,646
(Continued)

For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
An analysis of amortization by function
Operating costs
Operating expenses

$

93,866
4,534

$

89,473
2,663

$

98,400

$

92,136
(Concluded)

f. Employee benefits expense
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Operating expenses
Other employee benefits
Salary
Insurance
Remuneration of director
Others
Defined contribution plans
Share-based payments

An analysis of employee benefits expense by function
Operating expenses

$ 110,743
7,934
3,974
12,143
134,794
4,693
10,222

$ 113,033
8,260
3,695
11,578
136,566
4,887
16,680

$ 149,709

$ 158,133

$ 149,709

$ 158,133

g. Compensation of employees and remuneration of directors
The Company accrued compensation of employees and remuneration of directors at the rates no less
than 1% and no higher than 2%, respectively, of net profit before income tax, compensation of
employees, and remuneration of directors.
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the bonus to employees and the remuneration of
directors were both zero since the Company had no distributable earnings in 2021 and 2020.
Information on the compensation of employees and remuneration of directors resolved by the
Company’s board of directors is available at the Market Observation Post System website of the Taiwan
Stock Exchange.
h. Gains or losses on foreign currency exchange
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Foreign exchange gains
Foreign exchange losses
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$ 18,669
(30,045)

$ 10,803
(8,333)

$ (11,376)

$

2,470

25. INCOME TAX
a. Income tax recognized in profit or loss
Major components of income tax expense (benefit) are as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Current tax
In respect of the current year
Deferred tax
Loss carryforwards

$ (66,212)

$ (24,651)

66,212

Income tax expense (benefit) recognized in profit or loss

$

24,651

-

$

-

b. Deductible temporary differences, unused loss carryforwards and unused investment credits for which
no deferred tax assets have been recognized in the consolidated balance sheets
December 31
2021
Loss carryforwards
Expire in 2021
Expire in 2022
Expire in 2023
Expire in 2024
Expire in 2025
Expire in 2026
Expire in 2027
Expire in 2028
Expire in 2029
Expire in 2030
Expire in 2031
No expire date

$

Investment credits
Research and development
Temporary differences
Investment loss
Unrealized gross sales profit with associates
Inventory write-downs
Clinical trial expenses
Foreign exchange
Amortization of intangible assets

$

138,071
188,124
261,308
327,099
464,802
225,499
526,961
243,888
214,441
30,847
860,102

$ 3,679,071

$ 3,481,142

$

693,701

$

441,739

$

227,427
192,177
76,525
37,929
22,877
4,819

$

237,162
99,325
44,688
63,452
10,613
(13,357)

$

561,754

$

441,883

c. Income tax assessments
The tax returns through 2019 have been assessed by the tax authorities.
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188,124
261,308
327,099
464,802
225,499
526,961
243,888
214,441
65,016
343,648
818,285

2020

26. NET LOSS PER SHARE
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Net loss for the year
Net loss used in the computation of net loss per share

$ (470,933)

$ (183,304)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (in thousands of shares)
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in computation of net
loss per share

252,276

252,208

Diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share in 2021 and 2020 because employee share
options were anti-dilutive due to the net loss.

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS
Employee Share Options

Issuance Date

Number of
Options (In
Thousands)

2011.12
2012.12
2014.01
2015.01
2016.01
2016.12
2018.01
2018.04
2018.12
2019.12
2020.11
2021.01
2021.12

1,500
1,935
1,642
1,603
1,064
859
883
164
995
830
17
759
626

Subscription
Share
Per Unit
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share

Option
Life

Options
Granted
Period

Exercisable
Percentage

10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years

Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1

Note
Note
Note
Note
Note
Note
Note
Note
Note
Note
Note
Note
Note

Note:

Options Granted Period

Exercisable
Percentage

The expiry of two years
The expiry of three years
The expiry of four years

50%
75%
100%

For any subsequent changes in the Company’s ordinary common shares, the exercise price and number of
options are adjusted accordingly.
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Information about employee share options granted in 2021 and 2020 was as follows:
2021
Number of
Options (In
Thousands)

2020

Weightedaverage
Exercise Price
(NT$)

Weightedaverage
Exercise Price
(NT$)

Number of
Options (In
Thousands)

Balance, beginning of year
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited

5,913
1,385
(104)
(780)

$ 150.78
78.74
45.25
157.53

6,408
17
(33)
(479)

$ 152.12
90.00
58.94
172.85

Balance, end of year

6,414

136.12

5,913

150.78

Options exercisable, end of year

4,412

150.37

4,258

150.35

The exercise price and number of options were adjusted accordingly for the changes in the Company’s
ordinary common shares.
The weighted-average share prices at the date of exercise of share options for the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020 were NT$71.63 and NT$85.09, respectively.
Information about outstanding options as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows:
December 31
2021

Range of
Exercise Price
(NT$)
Granted in 2011
Granted in 2012
Granted in 2014
Granted in 2015
Granted in 2016
Granted in 2016
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2019
Granted in 2020
Granted in 2021
Granted in 2021

$

33.3
45.6
75.6
139.2
237.0
166.5
186.5
310.0
160.5
120.0
90.0
85.2
70.9

Weightedaverage
Remaining
Contractual Life
(Years)
1 year
2 years
3 years
4 years
5 years
6 years
6 years 4 months
7 years
8 years
8 years 11 months
9 years
10 years
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2020

Range of
Exercise
Price (NT$)
$

33.3
45.6
75.6
139.2
237.0
166.5
186.5
310.0
160.5
120.0
90.0
-

Weightedaverage
Remaining
Contractual Life
(Years)
1 year
2 years
3 years
4 years
5 years
6 years
7 years
7 years 4 months
8 years
9 years
9 years 11 months
-

Options granted during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were priced using the Black-Scholes
pricing model and the inputs to the model were as follows:
Grant-date
Share Price
Exercise
(NT$)
Price (NT$)
Granted in 2011
Granted in 2012
Granted in 2014
Granted in 2015
Granted in 2016
Granted in 2016
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2019
Granted in 2020
Granted in 2021
Granted in 2021

$38.40
47.04
73.20
142.60
237.00
166.50
186.50
310.00
160.50
99.10
87.10
84.50
70.20

$33.3
45.6
75.6
139.2
237.0
166.5
186.5
310.0
160.5
120.0
90.0
85.2
70.9

Expected
Volatility

Expected
Life (Years)

Expected
Dividend
Yield

Risk-free
Interest
Rate

36%
50%
31.7%
26%
39%
32%
30%
35%
35%
32%
35%
35%
38%

5 years
7 years
7 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years

-

0.62%
1.02%
1.40%
0.92%
0.60%
0.84%
0.53%
0.63%
0.52%
0.50%
0.20%
0.20%
0.40%

Compensation costs of the above employee share options were $10,222 thousand and $16,680 thousand in
2021 and 2020, respectively.

28. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group needs funding to deal with sales and development of the new drugs. The Group manages its
capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to meet the demand of capital expenditures, research
and development expenses and other expenses for the next 12 months.
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Fair values of financial instruments
Financial instruments held by the Group which were not carried at fair value are stated at amounts that
approximate fair value; management believes the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognized in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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b. Fair value of financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis
1) Fair value hierarchy
December 31, 2021
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Financial assets at FVTPL
Foreign listed shares and
emerging market shares

$ 195,700

$

-

$

-

$ 195,700

$

-

$

-

$

8,580
28,352

$

8,580
28,352

$

-

$

-

$

36,932

$

36,932

Financial assets at FVTOCI
Investments in equity
instruments at FVTOCI
Foreign unlisted shares
Domestic unlisted shares

December 31, 2020
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Financial assets at FVTPL
Foreign listed shares and
emerging market shares

$ 168,943

$

-

$

-

$ 168,943

$

-

$

-

$

16,613
17,440

$

16,613
17,440

$

-

$

-

$

34,053

$

34,053

Financial assets at FVTOCI
Investments in equity
instruments at FVTOCI
Overseas unlisted shares
Domestic unlisted shares

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current and prior periods.
2) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial instruments
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Financial assets
Balance at January 1
Purchases
Recognized in other comprehensive income (included in
unrealized gain (loss) on financial assets at FVTOCI)

$ 34,053
18,230

Balance at December 31

$ 36,932
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(15,351)

$ 17,290
16,613
150
$ 34,053

c. Categories of financial instruments
December 31
2021

2020

$ 1,134,917
195,700
36,932

$ 1,477,026
168,943
34,053

734,310

935,762

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortized cost (1)
Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at FVTOCI
Financial liabilities
Amortized cost (2)

1) The balances included financial assets at amortized cost which comprise cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables, time deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months, and
refundable deposits.
2) The balances included financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, which comprise long-term
borrowings, trade and other payables (including related parties) and guarantee deposits received.
d. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include equity, receivables, payables and long-term
borrowings. The Group aims to manage the market risks relating to the operations of the Group to
achieve financial risk management objectives. These risks include market risk (including currency risk,
interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group seeks to minimize the
effects of these risks by identifying, evaluating and hedging the uncertainties.
The Group’s major financial activities are reviewed by the board of directors according to the policies
and internal control programs. The Group complies with the whole financial operating procedures of
financial risk management and division of responsibility in the period of executing financial plans.
1) Market risk
The Group’s activities exposed it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates (see (a) below) and interest rates (see (b) below).
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which these
risks were managed and measured.
a) Foreign currency risk
The Group had foreign currency transactions, which exposed the Group to foreign currency risk.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities (including those eliminated upon consolidation) are set out in Note 34.
Sensitivity analysis
The Group was mainly exposed to the USD and EUR.
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The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in New
Taiwan dollars against the foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
included only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
positive number below indicates an increase in pre-tax profit associated with New Taiwan
dollars appreciate 5% against the relevant currency.
USD Impact
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Profit or loss

$ 22,726

$

EUR Impact
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020

5,998

$

4,495

$

6,113

This was mainly attributable to the exposure to outstanding on USD and EUR, cash,
receivables, payables and other financial assets which were not hedged at the end of the
reporting period.
In management’s opinion, sensitivity analysis was unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the reporting period did not reflect the
exposure during the period.
b) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk due to demand deposits and time deposits at floating
interest rates. The changes in market rates will change the effective interest rate of financial
instruments and may result in fluctuations in future cash flows.
December 31
2021
Fair value interest rate risk
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
Cash flow interest rate risk
Financial assets

$

2020

859,489
567,323

$ 1,052,569
569,251

101,088

150,780

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below were determined based on the Group’s exposure to interest rates
for non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate assets, the
analysis was prepared assuming the amount of the assets outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 1 basis point increase or decrease was used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible changes in interest rates.
If interest rates had been 1 basis point higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s pre-tax profit for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 would have
increased/decreased by $10 thousand and $15 thousand, respectively, which was mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate cash in bank.
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c) Other price risk
The Group was exposed to equity price risk through its investments in listed equity securities.
The Group does not actively trade these investments. The Group’s equity price risk was mainly
concentrated on equity instruments operating in Biotechnology and Medical industry sector
quoted in Toronto Stock Exchange.
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below was determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
end of the reporting period.
If equity prices had been 5% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s pre-tax profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 would have
increased/decreased by $9,785 thousand and $8,447 thousand, respectively, which would have
been mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to variable fair value of its available-for-sale
financial assets. The Group’s pre-tax other comprehensive income for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020 would have increased/decreased by $1,847 thousand and $1,703
thousand, respectively, which would have been mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to
variable fair value of its financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.
2) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group. At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure of counterparties to
discharge an obligation could equal the amount of financial assets.
The Group adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. In order to mitigate
credit risk exposure, the Group has established an internal monitoring procedure to monitor the
condition of payment according to contracts and obtain sufficient credit condition of counterparties.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Group’s total trade receivables were derived from the
single client on which the Group’s credit risk is mainly concentrated.
3) Liquidity risk
The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring and maintaining a level of cash, cash equivalents
and high-liquidity securities deemed adequate to ensure the Group’s financial flexibility. The
Group’s management monitors the utilization of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.
The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of liquidity.
For the unused financing quota of the Group, refer to the description of the financing quota below.
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The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The tables had been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities from the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The tables included both interest and principal cash flows.
December 31, 2021
On Demand
or Less than
1 Month

1-3 Months

3 Months to
1 Year

1-5 Years

5+ Years

$ 136,750
$
8,994
$
-

$ 458,977
$ 22,486
$
-

Non-derivative
financial liabilities
Long-term borrowings
Lease liabilities
Non-interest bearing

$
$
$

554
187
24,722

$
$
$

1,108
375
42,781

$
$
$

4,985
1,686
2,397

Additional information about the maturity analysis of lease liabilities:

Lease liabilities

Less than
1 Year

1-5 Years

5-10
Years

10-15
Years

15-20
Years

$ 2,248

$ 8,994

$ 11,243

$ 11,243

$

20+ Years
-

$

-

December 31, 2020
On Demand
or Less than
1 Month

1-3 Months

$
554
$
187
$ 187,635

$
1,108
$
375
$ 118,754

3 Months to
1 Year

1-5 Years

5+ Years

$ 106,510
$
8,994
$
-

$ 495,864
$ 24,734
$
-

Non-derivative
financial liabilities
Long-term borrowings
Lease liabilities
Non-interest bearing

$
$
$

4,985
1,686
86,354

Additional information about the maturity analysis of lease liabilities:

Lease liabilities

Less than
1 Year

1-5 Years

5-10
Years

10-15
Years

$ 2,248

$ 8,994

$ 11,243

$ 13,491

- 49 -

15-20
Years
$

20+ Years
-

$

-

Financing quota
December 31
2021
Unsecured bank borrowings facility:
Amount used
Amount unused

$

Secured bank borrowings facility:
Amount used
Amount unused

2020

120,000

$

120,000

$ 120,000

$ 120,000

$ 536,000
130,000

$ 536,000
130,000

$ 666,000

$ 666,000

30. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the
Company, have been eliminated upon consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of
transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below.
a. Related party name and category
Related Party Name
Aaron Diamond AIDS Research Center
(ADARC)
Dr. David Ho
Testing Facility for Biological Safety
Bioscience, Inc. (TFBS)
RenBio, Inc. (RenBio)

Related Party Category
The CEO of ADARC is also the co-founder of the
Company
Co-founder of the Company
The Company is one of the management team
member of TFBS
The major shareholder of RenBio is also the major
shareholder of the Company

b. Payables to related parties
December 31
Line Item
Other payables

Related Party Category/Name
Others/ADARC
Others/TFBS

The outstanding trade payables to related parties are unsecured.
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2021

2020

$

4,959

$

6,019
-

$

4,959

$

6,019

c. Acquisition of financial assets
For the year ended December 31, 2021
Related Party
Category/Name
TFBS

Number of
Shares

Line Item
Financial asset at fair
value through other
comprehensive
income - noncurrent
Financial asset at fair
value through other
comprehensive
income - noncurrent

RenBio

Underlying Assets

Purchase
Price

442,260

Stock of TFBS Inc.

$

6,634

208,333

Stock of RenBio Inc.

$

11,596

d. Acquisition of other assets

Related Party
Category/Name
Others/ADARC

Line Item
Intangible assets

Purchase Price
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
$

3,501

$

-

e. Other transactions with related parties

Line Item
Consultant fees

For the Year Ended December 31
Related Party Category/Name
2021
2020
Others/Dr. David Ho
Others/RenBio
Others/ADARC

Services expense (recognized
Others/TFBS
as research and development
expenses)

$

6,810
-

$

7,337
7,336
1,927

$

6,810

$ 16,600

$

9,942

$

-

f. Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel were as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share-based payments

$ 34,241
811
8,353

$ 33,689
634
10,364

$ 43,405

$ 44,687

The remuneration of directors and key executives was determined by the remuneration committee based
on the performance of individuals and market trends.
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31. ASSETS PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL OR FOR SECURITY
The following assets have been applied to the deposits of leased land and line of credit application and
long-term borrowings:
December 31

Land
Property, plant and equipment, net
Investment properties
Pledge deposits

2021

2020

$ 194,605
414,936
202,723
2,589

$ 194,605
441,358
203,346
2,569

$ 814,853

$ 841,878

32. OTHER ITEMS
The Group is mainly engaged in research, development and sale of new AIDS drugs that have no conflict
with the treatment of COVID-19. Because COVID-19 and AIDS are categorized as viral infectious diseases
under the division of infectious disease of hospital, the number of new patients taking the Group’s new
AIDS drugs has been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, sales in recent years have not been
as good as expected. The Group continues to develop different types of injectable dosage forms and
licenses in other regions in order to expand the market and increase future sales.

33. SIGNIFICANT CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND UNRECOGNIZED COMMITMENTS
a. Significant contingent liabilities: None
b. Unrecognized commitments
In addition to those disclosed in other notes, significant commitments and contingencies of the Group as
of December 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:
1) Acquisition of new drugs’ exclusive rights and commitments
Items
1

Holders
Genentech Inc. (America)

Exclusive License
Agreements
TMB-355 Ibalizumab
(intravenous injection
formulation)

First License Fees
US$10,000
thousand

License Fees and
Other Commitments Per Milestone
1) US$5,000-US$10,000 thousand per milestone
2) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
(Note)
3) After achieving the coordination conditions in March 11,
2020, there is no payment obligation

2

Genentech Inc. (America)

TMB-355 Ibalizumab
(subcutaneous injection
treatment formulation)

Included in Item 1

Included in Item 1 (Note)

3

Genentech Inc. (America)

TMB-355 Ibalizumab
(subcutaneous injection
prevention formulation)

Included in Item 1

Included in Item 1 (Note)

4

Biogen Inc. (America)

Anti-CD4 monoclonal
antibodies

-

1) US$100-US$3,000 thousand per milestone
2) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
(Note)
3) No other payment obligations in the future after fulfilling
the reformed conditions starting from March 11, 2020

(Continued)
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Items
5

Holders
Rockefeller University
(America)

Exclusive License
Agreements
LM-52 (TMB-365)

First License Fees
US$50 thousand

License Fees and
Other Commitments Per Milestone
1) Patent maintenance expenditure increases annually from
US$20 thousand to US$80 thousand
2) US$200-US$2,000 thousand per milestone
3) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
4) Sublicensing royalty is based on a particular percentage of
each milestone licensed amount

6

7

Aaron Diamond AIDS
Research Center (America)

National Institute of Allergy
and Infectious Diseases

Bispecific Antibodies
(TMB-370)

VRC07-523LS
(TMB-380)

US$100 thousand
and 40 thousand
shares of
ordinary shares
or the
equivalent value
of cash

1) Particular amount of cash per milestone

US$140 thousand

1) US$20-US$10,000 thousand per milestone

2) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
3) Sublicensing royalty is based on a particular percentage of
each milestone licensed amount

2) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
8

Columbia University
(America)

TMB-200 COVID-19

US$250 thousand

1) US$500-US$6,000 thousand per milestone
2) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
3) Sublicensing royalty is based on a particular percentage of
each milestone licensed amount

(Concluded)
Items 1-4 TMB-355 exclusive license agreement
In September 2007, the Company entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with Genentech
Inc. (America), a corporation organized under the laws of the United States of America, for its
Anti-CD4 Antibody technique and patent. Under the terms of the exclusive agreement, the
Company obtained the exclusive rights to develop and commercialize TMB-355 and other anti-CD4
monoclonal antibodies in the treatment of human immunodeficiency virus (“HIV”) infection.
Before signing the agreement with the Company, Genentech Inc. (America) also signed an
Exclusive License Agreement for Anti-CD4 monoclonal antibodies with Biogen Inc., a corporation
organized under the laws of the United States of America. Consequently, the Company generally
accepted the agreement and will pay royalties to Biogen Inc. The royalties are based on research
progress. However, the patent authorized in the agreement expired on April 15, 2015.
The Company reached an agreement with Genentech and Biogen Inc. on the research and
development milestones of the new AIDS drug Trogarzo (TMB-355), European and American
listing milestones, and sales sharing royalty payments on March 11, 2020. The Company has
fulfilled the terms of the agreement by the first quarter of 2021. Hence, there will be no other
payment obligations in the future.
Item 5 LM-52
The subsidiary TMB USA signed the “LM-52 License Agreement” with Rockefeller University in
March 2012 which will be used in researching and developing TMB-355 Ibalizumab second
generation (named LM-52). The subsidiary TMB USA transferred the technology back to Taimed
Biologics Inc. in December 2013. The R&D program of combination therapy with TMB-365.
Item 6 Bispecific antibodies exclusive license agreement
In March 2017, the Company signed an Exclusive License Agreement for Bispecific Antibodies
with Aaron Diamond AIDS Research Center. This technique will be used for research and
development of the third generation of TMB-355. Based on the overall business strategy and
resource concentration considerations, the board of directors decided to authorize the chairman to
terminate the TMB-370 new drug R&D program at an appropriate time.
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Item 7 VRC07-523LS Global non-exclusive license agreement
The Group signed the “VRC07-523LS Global Non-exclusive License Agreement” with National
Institute of Health for its AIDS antibody technique. The technique will be used to research and
develop the R&D Program of combination therapy with TMB-365.
Item 8 TMB-200 COVID-19 Global exclusive license agreement
On August 25, 2020, the Group signed a Global Exclusive License of Monoclonal Antibodies
Agreement with Columbia University for the prevention and the treatment of COVID-19. The
technique will be used in researching, developing and producing the antibodies against COVID-19
virus. In addition, the board of directors resolved to terminate the development of TMB-200 on
March 5, 2021; instead, the board of directors invested in RenBio Inc. to participate in the
development of COVID-19 antibody cocktail treatments.
2) Contract manufacturing organization (CMO)
TMB-355
In 2012, the Company authorized Wuxi Biologics to produce TMB-355.
In 2018, the Company authorized Samsung Biologics to produce TMB-355.

34. EXCHANGE RATE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DENOMINATED IN
FOREIGN CURRENCIES
The following information was aggregated by the foreign currencies other than functional currencies of the
entities in the Group and the exchange rates between foreign currencies and respective functional currencies
were disclosed.
The significant assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies were as follows:
December 31, 2021
Foreign
Currency
(In Thousands)

Exchange Rate

Carrying
Amount

27.68 (USD:NTD)
31.32 (EUR:NTD)

$ 635,983
118,731

Financial assets
Monetary items
USD
EUR

$

22,976
3,791

$ 754,714
Non-monetary items
Financial assets at FVTPL - non-current
CAD
Financial assets at FVTOCI - non-current
USD
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9,052

21.62 (CAD:NTD)

$ 195,700

310

27.68 (USD:NTD)

$

8,580
(Continued)

Foreign
Currency
(In Thousands)

Exchange Rate

Carrying
Amount

27.68 (USD:NTD)
31.32 (EUR:NTD)

$ 181,460
28,838

Financial liabilities
Monetary items
USD
EUR

$

6,556
921

$ 210,298
(Concluded)
December 31, 2020
Foreign
Currency
(In Thousands)

Exchange Rate

Carrying
Amount

28.48 (USD:NTD)
35.02 (EUR:NTD)

$ 454,830
124,282

Financial assets
Monetary items
USD
EUR

$

15,970
3,549

$ 579,112
Non-monetary items
Financial assets at FVTPL - non-current
CAD

7,559

22.35 (CAD:NTD)

$ 168,943

583

28.48 (USD:NTD)

$

11,758
58

28.48 (USD:NTD)
35.02 (EUR:NTD)

$ 334,880
2,024

Financial assets at FVTOCI - non-current
USD

16,613

Financial liabilities
Monetary items
USD
EUR

$ 336,904
The significant (realized and unrealized) foreign exchange gains (losses) were as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
Foreign
Currency
USD
EUR

Exchange Rate
28.01 (USD:NTD)
33.16 (EUR:NTD)

2020
Net Foreign
Exchange Gain
(Loss)
$

1,729
(13,105)

$ (11,376)
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Exchange Rate

Net Foreign
Exchange Gain
(Loss)

29.549 (USD:NTD)
35.02 (EUR:NTD)

$ (2,770)
5,240
$

2,470

35. SEPARATELY DISCLOSED ITEMS
a. Information about significant transactions and investees:
1) Financing provided to others: None
2) Endorsements/guarantees provided: None
3) Marketable securities held: Table 1
4) Marketable securities acquired and disposed at costs or prices at least NT$300 million or 20% of the
paid-in capital: None
5) Acquisition of individual real estate at costs of at least NT$300 million or 20% of the paid-in
capital: None
6) Disposal of individual real estate at prices of at least NT$300 million or 20% of the paid-in capital:
None
7) Total purchases from or sales to related parties amounting to at least NT$100 million or 20% of the
paid-in capital: Table 2
8) Receivables from related parties amounting to at least NT$100 million or 20% of the paid-in
capital: Table 3
9) Trading in derivative instruments: None
10) Intercompany relationships and significant intercompany transactions: Table 4
11) Information on investees: Table 5
b. Information on investments in mainland China
1) Information on any investee company in mainland China, showing the name, principal business
activities, paid-in capital, method of investment, inward and outward remittance of funds,
ownership percentage, net income of investees, investment income or loss, carrying amount of the
investment at the end of the period, repatriations of investment income, and limit on the amount of
investment in the mainland China area: None
2) Any of the following significant transactions with investee companies in mainland China, either
directly or indirectly through a third party, and their prices, payment terms, and unrealized gains or
losses: None
a) The amount and percentage of purchases and the balance and percentage of the related payables
at the end of the year
b) The amount and percentage of sales and the balance and percentage of the related receivables at
the end of the year
c) The amount of property transactions and the amount of the resultant gains or losses
d) The balance of negotiable instrument endorsements or guarantees or pledges of collateral at the
end of the year and the purposes

- 56 -

e) The highest balance, the ending balance, the interest rate range, and total current period interest
with respect to the financing of funds
f) Other transactions that have a material effect on the profit or loss for the year or on the financial
position, such as the rendering or receipt of services
c. Information of major shareholders: list all shareholders with ownership of 5% or greater showing the
name of the shareholder, the number of shares owned, and percentage of ownership of each
shareholder: Table 6

36. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Information reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided. The Group
engages in developing and commercializing new drug, which constitute a single business. The measurement
basis of the information provided to the chief operating decision maker is the same as the consolidated
financial statements, so the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020 can be compared with reportable segment revenue and operation outcome for that period.
Additionally, the measured amounts of operating segment assets and liabilities were not regularly reviewed
by the Group’s chief operating decision maker.
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TABLE 1

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
MARKETABLE SECURITIES HELD
DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise)

Holding Company Name

TaiMed Biologics Inc.

Type and Name of
Marketable Securities
TFBS Bioscience, Inc.
Theratechnologies Inc.
RenBio Inc.

Note:

Relationship with the Holding
Company

Financial Statement Account

-

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The shareholder of RenBio is also Financial assets at fair value through other
the co-founder of the Company
comprehensive income

The fair value was measured under the exchange rate at the end of reporting period.
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Shares
2,006,520
2,369,582
500,000

December 31, 2021
Carrying
Percentage of
Amount
Ownership
$

28,352

6.64

195,700
8,580

2.49
2.68

Highest Shares
Held of the
Year

Note

28,352

2,006,520

-

195,700
8,580

2,369,582
500,000

Note
-

Fair Value
$

TABLE 2

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
TOTAL PURCHASES FROM OR SALES TO RELATED PARTIES AMOUNTING TO AT LEAST NT$100 MILLION OR 20% OF THE PAID-IN CAPITAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise)

Transaction Details
Company Name

TaiMed Biologics Inc.

Note:

Related Party

Relationship

Purchase/
Sale

TaiMed Biologics USA Corp. Parent company to subsidiary Sale

Amount
$ 496,146

% of
Total

Abnormal Transaction
Payment Terms

91.70 Credit on 120 days

The transaction above has been eliminated upon consolidation.
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Unit Price
$

-

Payment Terms
-

Notes/Accounts
Receivable (Payable)
Ending
% of
Balance
Total
$ 474,979

82.04

Note

-

TABLE 3

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
RECEIVABLES FROM RELATED PARTIES AMOUNTING TO AT LEAST NT$100 MILLION OR 20% OF THE PAID-IN CAPITAL
DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise)

Overdue
Company Name

TaiMed Biologics Inc.

Related Party

TaiMed Biologics USA Corp.

Relationship

Subsidiary

Ending Balance

Turnover
Rate

$ 474,979

1.1
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Amount

$

Actions Taken

-

-

Amount
Received in
Subsequent
Period
$

33,249

Allowance for
Impairment
Loss
$

-

TABLE 4

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
INTERCOMPANY RELATIONSHIPS AND SIGNIFICANT INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

Transactions Details
No.

0

Investee Company

TaiMed Biologics Inc.

Counterparty

Relationship
(Note A)

TaiMed Biologics USA Corp.

1

Financial Statement Account

Service expense
Sales revenue
Trade receivables
Other payables

Amount
(Note C)
$

47,485
496,146
474,979
47,841

Payment
Terms

% to Total Sales
or Assets
(Note D)

Note B
Note B
Note B
Note B

11.49
120.00
10.30
1.04

Note A: No. 1 represents the transactions from parent company to subsidiary.
No. 2 represents the transactions from subsidiary to parent company.
No. 3 represents the transactions between subsidiaries.
Note B: The sales prices and payment terms of intercompany sales are determined in accordance with agreements.
Note C: All the transactions above have been eliminated upon consolidation.
Note D: For assets and liabilities, the amount is shown as a percentage of consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2021; while revenue, costs and expenses are shown as a percentage of consolidated total operating revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2021.
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TABLE 5

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
INFORMATION ON INVESTEES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise)

Investor Company

TaiMed Biologics Inc.

Investee Company

TaiMed Biologics USA Corp.

Location

4790 Irvine Blvd. Suite 105-697 Irvine, CA 92620

Main Businesses and
Products

Research and development

Original Investment Amount
(Note B)
December 31, December 31,
2021
2020
$ 295,044

$ 295,044

Net Income
(Gross) of the
Investee
Carrying Value
(Note A)

As of December 31, 2021
Shares
9,100,000

%
100

$

-

$

9,735

Share of
Profits (Loss)
(Note A)
$

9,735

Highest Shares
Held of the
Year
9,100,000

Note

Note C

Note A: TaiMed Biologics USA Corp. was based on audited financial statements as of December 31, 2021.
Note B: The investment amounts were based on historical exchange rates.
Note C: The carrying amount is expressed as the original amount of investment reversed to zero. The carrying amount is $136,082 thousand, which is the credit amount of investment accounted for using the equity method because the unrealized profit of $256,620 thousand from TaiMed Biologics
USA Corp. was recognized.
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TABLE 6

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
INFORMATION OF MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
DECEMBER 31, 2021

Name of Major Shareholder

National Development Fund, Executive Yuan
Huihong Investment Co., Ltd.

Note:

Shares
Number of
Percentage of
Shares
Ownership (%)
39,932,000
18,115,895

15.82
7.18

The information of major shareholders presented in this table is provided by the Taiwan Depository &
Clearing Corporation based on the number of ordinary shares and preference shares held by
shareholders with ownership of 5% or greater, that have been issued without physical registration
(including treasury shares) by the Company as of the last business day for the current quarter. The share
capital in the consolidated financial statements may differ from the actual number of shares that have
been issued without physical registration because of different preparation basis.
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TaiMed Biologics Inc.
Financial Statements for the
Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 and
Independent Auditors’ Report

The descriptions of the key audit matters of the financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2021 are as follows:
Assessment of Impairment Loss of Long-term Assets
As shown on the balance sheets as of December 31, 2021, the total carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets (long-term assets) amounted to
NT$1,828,082 thousand, which accounted for 38% of the Company’s total assets. Factors such as
economic trends, market competition, and new technologies in drug research and development
might influence the future operation of the Company. Management performed an impairment test
according to IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” to determine whether there was any indication of
impairment through evaluating the expected economic benefits and recoverable amounts of the
relevant long-term assets. Since the assessment of impairment loss involves significant estimates
and judgments, the impairment of these long-term assets was considered to be a key audit matter.
We conducted tests of controls by taking into consideration the business environment and
reviewing the Company’s impairment evaluation process to obtain an understanding of the
Company’s asset impairment procedures and the design and implementation of related controls.
The corresponding audit procedures that we performed were as follows:
1.

We obtained the valuation model used in the impairment test of long-term assets and evaluated
the reasonableness of the assumptions and parameters (i.e., discount rates).

2.

We evaluated the key assumptions and parameters used by management in sensitivity analysis.

For a description of the estimates and judgments related to long-term assets, see Note 5 to the
accompanying financial statements. For other related disclosures, see Notes 13, 14, and 16.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities
Issuers, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance, including the audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the
Company’s financial reporting process.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the
Republic of China will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of
China, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:
1.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

2.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

3.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

4.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

5.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with statements that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2021 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
The engagement partners on the audits resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Yen-Chun
Chen and Yung-Hsiang Chao.

Deloitte & Touche
Taipei, Taiwan
Republic of China
March 11, 2022

Notice to Readers
The accompanying financial statements are intended only to present the financial position,
financial performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles and practices
generally accepted in the Republic of China and not those of any other jurisdictions. The standards,
procedures and practices to audit such financial statements are those generally applied in the
Republic of China.
For the convenience of readers, the independent auditors’ report and the accompanying financial
statements have been translated into English from the original Chinese version prepared and used
in the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between the English version and the original
Chinese version or any difference in the interpretation of the two versions, the Chinese-language
independent auditors’ report and financial statements shall prevail.
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TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

2021
Amount

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4 and 6)
Financial assets at amortized cost - current (Notes 4, 9 and 31)
Trade receivables (Notes 4 and 10)
Trade receivables - related parties (Notes 4 and 30)
Other receivables (Notes 4 and 10)
Inventories (Notes 4 and 11)
Other current assets (Note 17)

$

%

9
12
2
8
22
1

53

2,839,711

54

195,700
36,932
979,747
30,880
202,723
817,455
8,468

4
1
20
1
4
17
-

168,943
34,053
1,031,680
32,939
203,346
936,169
7,241

3
1
20
4
18
-

2,271,905

47

2,414,371

46

$ 4,789,750

100

$ 5,254,082

100

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - non-current (Notes 4 and 7)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - non-current (Notes 4 and 8)
Property, plant and equipment (Notes 4, 5, 13 and 31)
Right-of-use assets (Notes 4, 5 and 14)
Investment properties (Notes 4, 5 ,15 and 31)
Intangible assets (Notes 4, 5 and 16)
Other non-current assets (Notes 17 and 30)
Total non-current assets

485,326
409,269
104,011
474,979
13,186
998,417
32,657

10
9
2
10
21
1

2,517,845

$

%

477,335
631,569
124,282
424,300
1,380
1,139,336
41,509

Total current assets

TOTAL

2020
Amount

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Contract liabilities - current (Notes 4 and 23)
Trade payables (Note 19)
Other payables (Notes 4 and 20)
Other payables - related parties (Notes 4 and 30)
Lease liabilities - current (Notes 4, 5 and 14)
Other current liabilities

$

37,587
6,161
384,786
17,061
1,927
23,104

1
7
1

6

470,626

9

877,904
536,000
29,377
868
136,082

18
11
1
3

750,741
536,000
31,324
858
48,655

14
10
1
1

Total non-current liabilities

1,580,231

33

1,367,578

26

Total liabilities

1,848,246

39

1,838,204

35

2,523,270
925,137
(470,933)
(35,970)

53
19
(10)
(1)

2,522,230
4,831,919
(3,920,669)
(17,602)

48
92
(75)
-

2,941,504

61

3,415,878

65

$ 4,789,750

100

$ 5,254,082

100

Total current liabilities
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Contract liabilities - non-current (Notes 4 and 23)
Long-term borrowings (Notes 18 and 31)
Lease liabilities - non-current (Notes 4, 5 and 14)
Guarantee deposits received
Credit balance of investments accounted for using the equity method (Notes 4 and 12)

EQUITY
Ordinary shares
Capital surplus
Accumulated deficit
Other equity
Total equity
TOTAL

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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24,337
122,583
64,997
52,800
1,946
1,352

1
3
1
1
-

268,015

$

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Loss Per Share)

2021
Amount

2020
Amount

%

%

OPERATING REVENUE (Notes 4 and 23)

$ 541,074

100

$ 667,486

100

OPERATING COSTS (Notes 4, 11 and 24)
Cost of goods sold
Other operating costs

210,327
168,624

39
31

278,371
89,473

42
13

378,951

70

367,844

55

GROSS PROFIT

162,123

30

299,642

45

UNREALIZED LOSS (GAIN) ON TRANSACTION
WITH SUBSIDIARIES (Note 4)

(92,852)

(17)

7,547

1

(59,619)
(46,591)
(459,065)

(11)
(9)
(85)

(16,500)
(43,052)
(392,445)

(2)
(6)
(59)

(565,275)

(105)

(451,997)

(67)

(496,004)

(92)

(144,808)

(21)

3,995
4,085
14,700
(7,444)
9,735

1
1
3
(2)
2

7,983
4,976
(60,104)
(4,088)
12,737

1
1
(9)
(1)
2

25,071

5

(38,496)

(6)

(470,933)

(87)

(183,304)

(27)

Total operating costs

OPERATING EXPENSES (Notes 4, 11, 24 and 30)
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Total operating expenses
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS
NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES
(Notes 4 and 24)
Interest income
Other income
Other gains and losses
Finance costs
Share of profit of subsidiaries
Total non-operating income and expenses
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
INCOME TAX BENEFIT (Notes 4, 5 and 25)

-

NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR

(470,933)
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(87)

-

-

(183,304)
(27)
(Continued)

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Loss Per Share)

2021
Amount
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
Equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Notes 4 and 22)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations
(Notes 4 and 22)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of
income tax
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR
LOSS PER SHARE (Note 26)
Basic
Diluted

$ (15,351)

%

(3)

$

150

%

-

(3,017)

-

(5,989)

(1)

(18,368)

(3)

(5,839)

(1)

$ (489,301)

(90)

$ (189,143)

(28)

$(1.87)
$(1.87)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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2020
Amount

$(0.73)
$(0.73)

(Concluded)

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

Capital Surplus
(Notes 4, 22 and 27)
Employee
Share Premium Share Options

Ordinary Shares (Note 22)
Share (In
Thousand)
Amount
BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2020

252,190

$ 2,521,900

$ 4,682,163

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020

-

-

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2020, net of income tax

-

Share-based payments - vested employee share options

$ (3,737,365)

-

-

(183,304)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

16,680

-

-

-

16,680

33

330

2,150

-

-

-

1,945

252,223

2,522,230

4,684,313

147,606

(3,920,669)

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2021

-

-

-

-

(470,933)

Other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2021, net of income tax

-

-

-

-

-

Capital surplus used to offset accumulated deficit

-

-

-

3,920,669

-

-

-

Share-based payments - vested employee share options

-

-

-

10,222

-

-

-

10,222

104

1,040

5,102

(1,437)

-

-

-

4,705

252,327

$ 2,523,270

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

Share-based payments - exercised employee share options
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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(535)

(3,920,669)

$

768,746

$

156,391

$

(470,933)

$

(10,589)

$

(5,989)

(16,578)

(19,595)

(183,304)

150

(5,839)

-

(3,017)

(15,351)

$

$ 3,586,396

-

(1,024)

-

$

(1,174)

Total Equity

131,461

Share-based payments - exercised employee share options

$

Accumulated
Deficit
(Note 22)

Other Equity (Notes 4 and 22)
Exchange
Unrealized
Differences on
Gain (Loss) on
Translation of Financial Assets
the Financial
at Fair Value
Statements of
Through Other
Foreign
Comprehensive
Operation
Income

(16,375)

3,415,878
(470,933)
(18,368)

$ 2,941,504

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation expense
Amortization expense
Net (gain) loss on fair value changes of financial assets designated
as at fair value through profit or loss
Finance costs
Interest income
Compensation cost of employee share options
Share of profit of subsidiaries
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of intangible assets
Net gain on foreign currency exchange
Unrealized (loss) gain on transaction with subsidiaries
Write-down of inventories
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Trade receivables
Trade receivables - related parties
Other receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Contract liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables
Other payables - related parties
Other current liabilities
Cash used in operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Decrease in financial assets at amortized cost
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Payments for intangible assets
Decrease (increase) in prepayments for equipment
Net cash generated from (used in) investing activities
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2021

2020

$ (470,933)

$ (183,304)

58,260
98,400

47,646
92,136

(26,757)
7,444
(3,995)
11,515
(9,735)
(11)
24,187
24,961
92,852
76,525

63,128
4,088
(7,983)
12,929
(12,737)
(1,374)
9,214
(15,656)
(7,547)
1,457

7,070
(50,853)
(11,874)
64,394
8,852
113,913
116,786
(327,323)
35,739
(21,752)
(182,335)
4,063
(7,444)

(119,038)
94,445
10,175
(417,340)
39,846
83,163
(130,236)
205,612
(728)
(2,152)
(234,256)
7,964
(3,842)

(185,716)

(230,134)

(18,230)
222,300
(8,173)
410
(3,873)
(1,514)

(16,613)
289,977
(53,614)
2,000
(332,158)
1,245

190,920

(109,163)
(Continued)

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

2021
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Refundable deposits
Repayment of the principal portion of lease liabilities
Exercise of employee share options

$

10
(1,928)
4,705

2020

$ 536,000
(1,910)
1,945

Net cash generated from financing activities

2,787

536,035

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

7,991

196,738

477,335

280,597

$ 485,326

$ 477,335

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE
YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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(Concluded)

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(In Thousands New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
TaiMed Biologics Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on September 5, 2007 as a venture capital of the
government of the Republic of China (ROC), acting through the Development Fund of the Executive Yuan
and in conjunction with certain other investors injecting initial capital amounts.
The Company is a biotechnology company committed to have the expertise and capability in developing,
manufacturing and commercializing new drugs for the treatment and prevention of infectious diseases.
Since its inception, the Company has devoted substantial efforts toward developing new drugs, collecting
capital, recruiting and training of employees, etc.
The Company’s shares were traded on the Emerging Stock Market of the Taipei Exchange (TPEx) from
June 2010 to July 2015. Subsequently, in July 2015, the Company was approved to trade and has traded its
shares on the Over-The-Counter Stock Market of the TPEx since November 2015.
The financial statements are presented in the Company’s functional currency, the New Taiwan dollar.

2. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved by the Company’s board of directors on March 11, 2022.

3. APPLICATION OF NEW, AMENDED AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
a. Initial application of the amendments to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
International Accounting Standards (IAS), IFRIC Interpretations (IFRIC), and SIC Interpretations (SIC)
(collectively, the “IFRSs”) endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission
(FSC)
The initial application of the IFRSs endorsed and issued into effect by the FSC did not have material
impact on the Company’s accounting policies.
b. The IFRSs endorsed by the FSC for application starting from 2022
Effective Date
Announced by IASB

New IFRSs
“Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020”
Amendments to IFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual Framework”
Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use”
Amendments to IAS 37 “Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract”
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January 1, 2022 (Note 1)
January 1, 2022 (Note 2)
January 1, 2022 (Note 3)
January 1, 2022 (Note 4)

Note 1: The amendments to IFRS 9 will be applied prospectively to modifications and exchanges of
financial liabilities that occur on or after the annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2022. The amendments to IAS 41 “Agriculture” will be applied prospectively to
the fair value measurements on or after the annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2022. The amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoptions of IFRSs” will be applied
retrospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.
Note 2: The amendments are applicable to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on
or after the beginning of the annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2022.
Note 3: The amendments are applicable to property, plant and equipment that are brought to the
location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management on or after January 1, 2021.
Note 4: The amendments are applicable to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations on January 1, 2022.
As of the date the financial statements were authorized for issue, the Company has assessed that the
application of other standards and interpretations will not have a material impact on the Company’s
financial position and financial performance.
c. New IFRSs in issue but not yet endorsed and issued into effect by the FSC
Effective Date
Announced by IASB (Note 1)

New IFRSs
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution of Assets
between An Investor and Its Associate or Joint Venture”
IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”
Amendments to IFRS 17
Amendments to IFRS 17 “Initial Application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 Comparative Information”
Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current”
Amendments to IAS 1 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”
Amendments to IAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”
Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

To be determined by IASB
January 1, 2023
January 1, 2023
January 1, 2023
January 1, 2023
January 1, 2023 (Note 2)
January 1, 2023 (Note 3)
January 1, 2023 (Note 4)

Note 1: Unless stated otherwise, the above New IFRSs are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after their respective effective dates.
Note 2: The amendments will be applied prospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2023.
Note 3: The amendments are applicable to changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies that occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period beginning on or
after January 1, 2023.
Note 4: Except for deferred taxes that will be recognized on January 1, 2022 for temporary differences
associated with leases and decommissioning obligations, the amendments will be applied
prospectively to transactions that occur on or after January 1, 2022.
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1) Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
The amendments clarify that for a liability to be classified as non-current, the Company shall assess
whether it has the right at the end of the reporting period to defer settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting period. If such rights are in existence at the end of the
reporting period, the liability is classified as non-current regardless of whether the Company will
exercise that right. The amendments also clarify that, if the right to defer settlement is subject to
compliance with specified conditions, the Company must comply with those conditions at the end
of the reporting period even if the lender does not test compliance until a later date.
The amendments stipulate that, for the purpose of liability classification, the aforementioned
settlement refers to a transfer of cash, other economic resources or the Company’s own equity
instruments to the counterparty that results in the extinguishment of the liability. However, if the
terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by a transfer
of the Company’s own equity instruments, and if such option is recognized separately as equity in
accordance with IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation, the aforementioned terms would not
affect the classification of the liability.
2) Amendments to IAS 1 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”
The amendments specify that the Company should refer to the definition of material to determine its
material accounting policy information to be disclosed. Accounting policy information is material if
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments also clarify
that:
● Accounting policy information that relates to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions
is immaterial and need not be disclosed;
● The Company may consider the accounting policy information as material because of the nature
of the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial; and
● Not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material.
The amendments also illustrate that accounting policy information is likely to be considered as
material to the financial statements if that information relates to material transactions, other events
or conditions and:
a) The Company changed its accounting policy during the reporting period and this change
resulted in a material change to the information in the financial statements;
b) The Company chose the accounting policy from options permitted by the standards;
c) The accounting policy was developed in accordance with IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors” in the absence of an IFRS that specifically applies;
d) The accounting policy relates to an area for which the Company is required to make significant
judgments or assumptions in applying an accounting policy, and the Company discloses those
judgments or assumptions; or
e) The accounting is complex and users of the financial statements would otherwise not understand
those material transactions, other events or conditions.
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3) Amendments to IAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”
The amendments define that accounting estimates are monetary amounts in financial statements that
are subject to measurement uncertainty. In applying accounting policies, the Company may be
required to measure items at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead be
estimated. In such a case, the Company uses measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates to achieve the objective. The effects on an accounting estimate of a change in
a measurement technique or a change in an input are changes in accounting estimates unless they
result from the correction of prior period errors.
4) Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction”
The amendments clarify that the initial recognition exemption under IAS 12 does not apply to
transactions in which equal taxable and deductible temporary differences arise on initial
recognition. The Company will recognize a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilized)
and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with
leases and decommissioning obligations on January 1, 2022, and recognize the cumulative effect of
initial application in retained earnings at that date. The Company will apply the amendments
prospectively to transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations that occur on or
after January 1, 2022.
Except for the above impact, as of the date the financial statements were authorized for issue, the
Company is continuously assessing the possible impact that the application of other standards and
interpretations will have on the Company’s financial position and financial performance and will
disclose the relevant impact when the assessment is completed.

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a. Statement of compliance
The parent company only financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Regulations
Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers.
b. Basis of preparation
The parent company only financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for
financial instruments which are measured at fair value.
The fair value measurements, which are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the
fair value measurement inputs are observable and based on the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, are described as follows:
1) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
2) Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for an
asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and
3) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.
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When preparing these parent company only financial statements, the Company used the equity method
to account for its investments in subsidiaries and associates. In order for the amounts of the net profit
for the year, other comprehensive income for the year and total equity in the parent company only
financial statements to be the same with the amounts attributable to the owners of the Company in its
consolidated financial statements, adjustments arising from the differences in accounting treatments
between the parent company only basis and the consolidated basis were made to investments accounted
for using the equity method, the share of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries and associates and
the related equity items, as appropriate, in these parent company only financial statements.
c. Classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities
Current assets include:
1) Assets held primarily for the purpose of trading;
2) Assets expected to be realized within 12 months after the reporting period; and
3) Cash and cash equivalents unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Current liabilities include:
1) Liabilities held primarily for the purpose of trading;
2) Liabilities due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; and
3) Liabilities for which the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.
Assets and liabilities that are not classified as current are classified as non-current.
d. Foreign currencies
In preparing the Company’s financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the Company’s
functional currency (i.e., foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.
At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Exchange differences on monetary items arising from settlement or
translation are recognized in profit or loss in the period.
Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Exchange differences arising
from the retranslation of non-monetary items are included in profit or loss for the period except for
exchange differences arising from the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognized directly in other comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange differences
are also recognized directly in other comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
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For the purpose of presenting financial statements, the financial statements of the Company and its
foreign operations (including subsidiaries) that are prepared using functional currencies which are
different from the currency of the Company are translated into the presentation currency, the New
Taiwan dollar, as follows: Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period; and income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period. The resulting currency translation differences are recognized in other comprehensive
income. The exchange differences accumulated in equity, which resulted from the translation of the
assets and liabilities of the entities in the Company from functional currencies to the presentation
currency, are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
e. Inventories
Inventories consist of raw materials, finished goods and work in progress and are stated at the lower of
cost or net realizable value. Inventory write-downs are made by item. The net realizable value is the
estimated selling price of inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale. Inventories are recorded at the weighted-average cost on the balance sheet date.
f. Investments in subsidiaries
The Company uses the equity method to account for its investments in subsidiaries.
A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Company.
Under the equity method, an investment in a subsidiary is initially recognized at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognize the Company’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
subsidiary. The Company also recognizes the changes in the Company’s share of equity of subsidiaries
attributable to the Company.
When the Company’s share of loss of a subsidiary exceeds its interest in that subsidiary (which includes
any carrying amount of the investment accounted for using the equity method and long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Company’s net investment in the subsidiary), the Company
continues recognizing its share of further loss, if any.
The Company assesses its investment for any impairment by comparing the carrying amount with the
estimated recoverable amount as assessed based on the investee’s financial statements as a whole.
Impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. If the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases, the Company recognizes a reversal of the
impairment loss; the adjusted post-reversal carrying amount should not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been recognized (net of amortization or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognized in prior years. An impairment loss recognized on goodwill cannot be reversed in a
subsequent period.
Profit or loss resulting from downstream transactions is eliminated in full only in the parent company
only financial statements. Profit and loss resulting from upstream transactions and transactions between
subsidiaries is recognized only in the parent company only financial statements and only to the extent of
interests in the subsidiaries that are not related to the Company.
g. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation.
Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction are measured at cost. Cost includes
professional fees. Such assets are depreciated and classified to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for their intended use.
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Except for freehold land which is not depreciated, the depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
recognized using the straight-line method. Each significant part is depreciated separately. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effects of any changes in the estimates accounted for on a prospective basis.
On derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss.
h. Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation. Investment
properties also include land held for a currently undetermined future use.
Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment loss. Depreciation is recognized using the straight-line method.
On derecognition of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset is included in profit or loss.
i.

Intangible assets
1) Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are initially measured at cost
and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is recognized on a
straight-line basis. The estimated useful lives, residual values, and amortization methods are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in the estimates
accounted for on a prospective basis.
An intangible asset in untapped status not yet available for use is not subject to amortization. The
Company tests intangible assets for impairment under IAS 36, Impairment of Assets.
2) Derecognition of intangible assets
On derecognition of an intangible asset, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss.

j.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use asset, investment properties and intangible
assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use asset, investment properties and intangible assets, to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Corporate
assets are allocated to the individual cash-generating units on a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually and whenever there is an indication that the assets may be impaired.
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The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. If the recoverable
amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount, with the resulting
impairment loss recognized in profit or loss.
When an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the corresponding asset,
cash-generating unit or assets related to contract costs is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but only to the extent of the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognized on the asset, cash-generating unit or assets related to contract costs
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.
k. Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
1) Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade
date basis.
a) Measurement categories
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: Financial assets at FVTPL, financial
assets at amortized cost and equity instruments at FVTOCI.
i. Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when such financial assets are mandatorily
classified or designated as at FVTPL. Financial assets mandatorily classified as at FVTPL
include investments in equity instruments which are not designated as at FVTOCI and debt
instruments that do not meet the amortized cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria.
Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value, and any dividends,
interest earned and remeasurement gains or losses on such financial assets are recognized in
other gains or losses. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 29: Financial
Instruments.
ii. Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortized
cost:
i) The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
ii) The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost, including cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables and refundable deposits at amortized cost, are measured at
amortized cost, which equals the gross carrying amount determined using the effective
interest method less any impairment loss. Exchange differences are recognized in profit or
loss.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of such a financial asset, except for:
i) Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets, for which interest income is
calculated by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortized cost of
such financial assets; and
ii) Financial assets that are not credit impaired on purchase or origination but have
subsequently become credit-impaired, for which interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of such financial assets in
subsequent reporting periods.
A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more of the following events have occurred:
i) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
ii) Breach of contract, such as a default;
iii) It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or undergo a financial
reorganization; or
iv) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
Cash equivalents include time deposits with original maturities within 3 months from the
date of acquisition, which are highly liquid, readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These cash equivalents are held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.
iii. Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
On initial recognition, the Company may make an irrevocable election to designate
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation as at FVTOCI is not
permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration
recognized by an acquirer in a business combination.
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in other equity. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments; instead, it will be transferred to
retained earnings.
Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognized in profit or loss when
the Company’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
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b) Impairment of financial assets
The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets at
amortized cost (including trade receivables) as well as contract assets.
Expected credit losses reflect the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. Lifetime ECLs represent the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECLs represent the portion of lifetime ECLs that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.
For internal credit risk management purposes, the Company considers the following situations
as indication that a financial asset is in default (without taking into account any collateral held
by the Company):
i. Internal or external information show that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors.
ii. When a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Company has reasonable
and corroborative information to support a more lagged default criterion.
The impairment loss of all financial assets is recognized in profit or loss by a reduction in their
carrying amounts through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments
that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognized in other
comprehensive income and the carrying amounts of such financial assets are not reduced.
c) Derecognition of financial assets
The Company derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.
On derecognition of a financial asset at amortized cost in its entirety, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognized
in profit or loss. On derecognition of an investment in an equity instrument at FVTOCI, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognized in profit or loss, and the cumulative gain or loss which had been
recognized in other comprehensive income is transferred directly to retained earnings, without
recycling through profit or loss.
2) Equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
The repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognized in and deducted directly
from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issuance or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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3) Financial liabilities
a) Subsequent measurement
All financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
b) Derecognition of financial liabilities
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability derecognized and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognized in profit or loss.
l.

Revenue recognition
The Company identifies contracts with customers, allocates the transaction price to the performance
obligations and recognizes revenue when performance obligations are satisfied.
For contracts entered into with the same customer (or related parties of the customer) at or near the
same time, those contracts are accounted for as a single contract if the goods or services promised in the
contracts are a single performance obligation.
1) Revenue from the sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods comes from sales of medicines. Sales of medicines are recognized
as revenue when the goods are delivered to the customer’s specific location because it is the time
when the customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods.
Trade receivables are recognized concurrently.
The Company grant the customer options to purchase additional goods under the contract. If these
options provide the customer with a material right, the customer pays the price of goods in advance,
and the Company recognizes the revenue when the goods are transferred in the future or when the
option expires. If the amount received exceeds the revenue to be recognized, the difference shall be
recognized as a contract liability.
2) Revenue from the rendering of services
Revenue from the rendering of services is to provide data analysis services to customers.
Consequently, the related revenue is recognized when services are rendered.

m. Lease
At the inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease.
1) The Company as lessor
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of a lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
Lease payments (less any lease incentives payable) from operating leases are recognized as income
on a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant leases.
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When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Company assesses the classification of
each element separately as a finance or an operating lease based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred
to the lessee. The lease payments are allocated to the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of a contract. If the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably,
each element is accounted for separately in accordance with its lease classification. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases; in
which case, the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
2) The Company as lessee
The Company recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases at the commencement
date of a lease, except for short-term leases and low-value asset leases accounted for applying a
recognition exemption where lease payments are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms.
Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial measurement of lease
liabilities adjusted for lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs needed to restore the underlying assets, and less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.
Right-of-use assets are presented on a separate line in the balance sheets
Right-of-use assets are depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement dates to
the earlier of the end of the useful lives of the right-of-use assets or the end of the lease terms.
Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments. The lease
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in a lease, if that rate can be readily
determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate will
be used.
Subsequently, lease liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method,
with interest expense recognized over the lease terms. The Company remeasures the lease liabilities
with a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use-assets. However, if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use assets is reduced to zero, any remaining amount of the remeasurement is recognized in
profit or loss. Lease liabilities are presented on a separate line in the balance sheets.
n. Government grants
Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply
with the conditions attached to them and that the grant will be received.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Company with no future related costs are
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are receivable.
o. Employee benefits
1) Short-term employee benefits
Liabilities recognized in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related services.
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2) Retirement benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognized as expenses when
employees have rendered services entitling them to the contributions.
p. Share-based payment arrangements
1) Equity-settled share-based payment arrangements and employee share options granted to employee
The fair value at the grant date of the employee share options is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Company’s estimate of the number of shares or options that
are expected to ultimately vest, with a corresponding increase in capital surplus - employee share
options. The expense is recognized in full at the grant date if the grants are vested immediately.
At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of employee
share options expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates is recognized in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital surplus - employee share options.
2) Equity-settled share-based payment arrangement granted to technology transfer companies and
consultants
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at
the fair value of patent received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
3) Equity-settled share-based payment arrangements granted to the employees of a subsidiary
The grant by the Company of its equity instruments to the employees of a subsidiary under
equity-settled share-based payment options is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of
employee services received under the arrangement is measured by reference to the grant-date fair
value and is recognized over the vesting period as an addition to the investment in the subsidiary,
with a corresponding credit to capital surplus - employee share options.
q. Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
1) Current tax
According to the Income Tax Act in the ROC, an additional tax on unappropriated earnings is
provided for as income tax in the year the shareholders approve to retain earnings.
Adjustments of prior years’ tax liabilities are added to or deducted from the current year’s tax
provision.
2) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
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Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences, unused loss carryforwards
and unused tax credits for research and development expenditures, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilized.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Company is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the assets to be recovered. A previously unrecognized deferred tax asset is also
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and recognized to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liabilities are settled or the assets are realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
3) Current and deferred taxes for the year
Current and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity; in which case, the current and
deferred taxes are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments,
estimations, and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The Company considers the possible impact of the recent development of the COVID-19 in Taiwan and its
economic environment implications when making its critical accounting estimates on cash flow projections,
growth rate, discount rate, profitability, etc. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are
revised if the revisions affect only that period or in the period of the revisions and future periods if the
revisions affect both current and future periods.
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Critical Accounting Judgments
a. Externally acquired new drug research and development technology
Acquisition of research and development plans in untapped status not yet available for use is not subject
to amortization. At the end of each year, the Company compares the carrying amounts with the
recoverable amounts of those intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss under IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
b. Lease terms
In determining a lease term, the Company considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise or not to exercise an option, including any expected changes in facts and
circumstances from the commencement date until the exercise date of the option. Main factors
considered include contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods, significant leasehold
improvements undertaken over the contract term, the importance of the underlying asset to the lessee’s
operations, etc. The lease term is reassessed if a significant change in circumstances that are within
control of the Company occur.
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
a. Impairment of property, plant and equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets, and intangible
assets
The impairment of equipment was based on the recoverable amounts of those assets, which are the
higher of their fair value less costs of disposal and their value in use. Any changes in the market prices
or future cash flows will affect the recoverable amounts of those assets and may lead to the recognition
of additional impairment losses or the reversal of impairment losses.
b. Income taxes
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the carrying amount of deferred tax assets in relation to unused tax
losses was $1,378,209 thousand and $1,054,324 thousand, respectively. No deferred tax asset has been
recognized on tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
December 31
2021
Cash on hand
Checking accounts and demand deposits
Cash equivalents
Time deposits with original maturity of less than 3 months

$

2020

300
34,806

$

300
56,035

450,220

421,000

$ 485,326

$ 477,335

The market interest rates of the time deposits with original maturity of less than 3 months at the end of the
reporting period were as follows:
December 31

Time deposits
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2021

2020

0.17%-0.4%

0.05%-0.4%

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
December 31
2021

2020

$ 195,700

$ 168,943

Financial assets at FVTPL - non-current
Foreign investment
Listed shares and emerging market shares

8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
December 31
2021

2020

$ 36,932

$ 34,053

Non-current
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
December 31
2021

2020

Domestic investments
Unlisted shares
Ordinary shares - TFBS Bioscience, Inc.

$ 28,352

$ 17,440

Foreign investments
Unlisted shares
Preference shares - RenBio Inc.

$

$ 16,613

Non-current

8,580

These investments in equity instruments are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium to
long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the management elected to designate these investments in equity
instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognizing short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Company’s strategy of holding these investments for
long-term purposes.

9. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST
December 31
2021

2020

$ 406,680
2,589

$ 629,000
2,569

$ 409,269

$ 631,569

Current
Domestic investments
Time deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months
Pledge deposits
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The interest rates for time deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months ranged from 0.17% to
0.765% and 0.07% to 1.015% per annum, respectively, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
Refer to Note 31 for information relating to pledge deposits.

10. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
December 31
2021

2020

$ 104,011
-

$ 124,282
-

$ 104,011

$ 124,282

$

12,630
327
229

$

888
196
296

$

13,186

$

1,380

Trade receivables
At amortized cost
Gross carrying amount
Less: Allowance for impairment loss

Other receivables
Experimental fee refund receivable
Tax refund receivable
Receivable for materials
Others

The average credit period of the sales of goods is 120 days in the United States and 45 days after receipts in
Europe. No interest was charged.
The Company measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The
expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix approach considering the
past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for
general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecasted direction of economic conditions at the reporting date. As the Company’s
historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished according to
the Company’s different customer base.
The Company writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. For trade receivables that have been
written off, the Company continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivables
due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognized in profit or loss.
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The following table details the loss allowance of trade receivables based on the Company’s provision
matrix.
December 31, 2021
Not Past Due

Less than 60
Days

61 to 90
Days

91 to 120
Days

Over 120
Days

Total

Gross carrying amount
Loss allowance (Lifetime ECLs)

$ 104,011
-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$ 104,011
-

Amortized cost

$ 104,011

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$ 104,011

December 31, 2020
Not Past Due

Less than 60
Days

61 to 90
Days

91 to 120
Days

Over 120
Days

Total

Gross carrying amount
Loss allowance (Lifetime ECLs)

$ 124,282
-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$ 124,282
-

Amortized cost

$ 124,282

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$ 124,282

11. INVENTORIES
December 31
2021
Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

2020

$

295,604
643,408
59,405

$

340,579
798,757
-

$

998,417

$ 1,139,336

The nature of the cost of goods sold is as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Cost of inventories sold
Other operating cost
Amortization of intangible assets and milestone payment
Inventory write-down

$ 210,327

$ 278,371

93,866
74,758
168,624

89,473
89,473

$ 378,951

$ 367,844

In 2021, partly work in progress inventories were expected not to fulfill the minimum requirement shelf life
stipulated in sales contract after completing the work progress. Therefore, the Company made an allowance
for inventory valuation losses of $74,758 thousand which included in other operating cost.
Except as mentioned in the previous paragraph, the cost of goods sold included inventory write-downs of
$1,767 thousand and $1,457 thousand, for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Some work-in-process inventories were produced with new manufacturing process, and the future
economic benefits are still uncertain before acquiring a quality certification from FDA. Hence, the
Company made an allowance for inventory valuation losses under research and development expenses.
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12. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (CREDIT BALANCE)
Investments in Subsidiaries
December 31

TaiMed Biologics USA Corp.

2021

2020

$ (136,082)

$ (48,655)

Proportion of Ownership and Voting Right
December 31

TaiMed Biologics USA Corp.

2021

2020

100%

100%

The share of profit or loss of subsidiaries accounted for using the equity method in 2021 and 2020 was
calculated based on the subsidiaries’ financial statements which have been audited for the same periods.

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
December 31
2021
Assets used by the Company

$

2020

979,747

$ 1,031,680

Assets used by the Company

Land

Building

Instrument
Equipment

Furniture and
Office
Equipment

Leasehold
Improvements

Property in
Construction

Total

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2021
Additions
Disposal
Reclassification

$

194,605
-

$

492,715
400
-

$

428,388
3,357
(410 )
287

$

15,275
-

$

4,643
-

$

-

$ 1,135,626
3,757
(410 )
287

Balance at December 31, 2021

$

194,605

$

493,115

$

431,622

$

15,275

$

4,643

$

-

$ 1,139,260

Balance at January 1, 2021
Depreciation expense
Disposal

$

-

$

51,357
26,822
-

$

44,802
27,512
(11 )

$

3,144
1,244
-

$

4,643
-

$

-

$

103,946
55,578
(11 )

Balance at December 31, 2021

$

-

$

78,179

$

72,303

$

4,388

$

4,643

$

-

$

159,513

Carrying amount at December 31,
2021

$

194,605

$

414,936

$

359,319

$

10,887

$

-

$

-

$

979,747

Balance at January 1, 2020
Additions
Disposal
Reclassification

$

194,605
-

$

359,169
1,700
131,846

$

263,287
33,881
(3,756 )
134,976

$

9,332
4,863
1,080

$

4,643
-

$

$

968,597
55,729
(3,756 )
115,056

Balance at December 31, 2020

$

194,605

$

492,715

$

428,388

$

15,275

$

4,643

$

-

$ 1,135,626

Balance at January 1, 2020
Depreciation expense
Disposal

$

-

$

30,114
21,243
-

$

25,293
22,639
(3,130 )

$

2,061
1,083
-

$

4,643
-

$

-

$

Balance at December 31, 2020

$

-

$

51,357

$

44,802

$

3,144

$

4,643

$

-

$

Carrying amount at December 31,
2020

$

194,605

$

441,358

$

383,586

$

12,131

$

-

$

-

$ 1,031,680

Accumulated depreciation

Cost
137,561
15,285
(152,846 )

Accumulated depreciation
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62,111
44,965
(3,130 )
103,946

The Company determined the recoverable amount of the relevant assets on the basis of their fair values less
costs of disposal. No impairment assessment was performed for the year ended December 31, 2021 and
2020 as there was no indication of impairment.
The above items of property, plant and equipment used by the Company are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives as follows:
Buildings
Main buildings
Electrical and mechanical system and others
Fire equipment
Instrument equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Leasehold improvements

50 years
8-39 years
5 years
6 years
5 years
5 years

Property, plant, and equipment pledged as collateral for bank borrowings are set out in Note 31.

14. LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
a. Right-of-use assets
December 31
2021

2020

$ 30,880

$ 32,939

Carrying amount
Land

For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Additions to right-of-use assets
Land

$

-

$

1,165

Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets
Land

$

2,059

$

2,058

b. Lease liabilities
December 31
2021

2020

$ 1,946
$ 29,377

$ 1,927
$ 31,324

Carrying amount
Current
Non-current
Range of discount rates for lease liabilities was as follows:
December 31

Land
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2021

2020

0.9928%

0.9928%

c. Material lease-in activities and terms
The Company also leases land for the use of plants and offices with lease terms of 20 years. The lease
contract for land specifies that lease payments will be adjusted on the basis of changes in announced
land value prices. The Company does not have bargain purchase options to acquire the leasehold land
and buildings at the end of the lease terms.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Land

Building

Total

Cost
Balance at January 1 and December 31, 2021

$ 173,856

$

31,152

$ 205,008

Balance at January 1, 2021
Depreciation expense

$

-

$

1,662
623

$

1,662
623

Balance at December 31, 2021

$

-

$

2,285

$

2,285

Carrying amount at December 31, 2021

$ 173,856

$

28,867

$ 202,723

$ 173,856

$

31,152

$ 205,008

Balance at January 1, 2020
Depreciation expense

$

-

$

1,039
623

$

1,039
623

Balance at December 31, 2020

$

-

$

1,662

$

1,662

Carrying amount at December 31, 2020

$ 173,856

$

29,490

Accumulated depreciation

Cost
Balance at January 1, and December 31, 2020
Accumulated depreciation

$ 203,346

Investment properties are depreciated using the straight-line method for 50 years over their estimated useful
lives.
The determination of fair value was performed by any independent qualified professional valuers measured
the fair value by using Level 3 inputs. The valuation was arrived at by reference to weighted average of
income approach and market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties approach.
December 31

Fair value
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2021

2020

$ 212,137

$ 211,176

The maturity analysis of lease payments receivable under operating leases of investment properties at
December 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows:
December 31
2021
Year 1
Year 2
Year 3

$

2020

5,006
4,961
4,547

$

4,921
-

$ 14,514

$

4,921

Investment Properties pledged as collateral for bank borrowings are set out in Note 31.

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
TMB-355

Bispecific
Antibodies

Computer
Software

TMB-200

Total

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2021
Additions
Disposal

$ 1,085,974
-

$

Balance at December 31, 2021

$ 1,085,974

$

Balance at January 1, 2021
Amortization expense

$

193,450
93,866

Balance at December 31, 2021

$

Carrying amount at December 31, 2021

20,686
3,501
(24,187)

$

-

$

27,116
372
-

$ 1,133,776
3,873
(24,187)

-

$

-

$

27,488

$ 1,113,462

$

-

$

-

$

4,157
4,534

$

197,607
98,400

287,316

$

-

$

-

$

8,691

$

296,007

$

798,658

$

-

$

-

$

18,797

$

817,455

Balance at January 1, 2020
Additions
Disposal
Reclassification

$

810,112
275,862
-

$

20,686
-

$

$

9,922
238
16,956

$

840,720
285,314
(9,214)
16,956

Balance at December 31, 2020

$ 1,085,974

$

20,686

$

-

$

27,116

$ 1,133,776

Balance at January 1, 2020
Amortization expense

$

103,977
89,473

$

-

$

-

$

1,494
2,663

$

105,471
92,136

Balance at December 31, 2020

$

193,450

$

-

$

-

$

4,157

$

197,607

Carrying amount at December 31, 2020

$

892,524

$

20,686

$

-

$

22,959

$

936,169

Accumulated amortization

Cost
9,214
(9,214)
-

Accumulated amortization

Intangible assets arose from the acquisition cost of the exclusive rights to new drugs (refer to Note 33).
Among them, the TMB-355 was available for use when the FDA approved the BLA of the drug on March
7, 2018; thus, the Company amortizes the royalty based on the expected duration of the data protection by
using the straight-line method. In addition, the TMB-355 was available for use when the EMA approved to
sell on September 26, 2019; thus, the Company amortized the royalty based on the expected duration of the
data protection by using the straight-line method.
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On March 5, 2021, the board of directors resolved to terminate the development plan of TMB-200 to
concentrate the use of available resources on developing VRC07-523LS. In November 2021, based on the
overall business strategy and resource concentration considerations, the board of directors resolved to
authorize the chairman to terminate TMB-370 at an appropriate time to focus on the development of the
combined method of TMB-365 and TMB-380.
Except as mentioned in the previous paragraph, at the end of each year, the Company compares the carrying
amount with the recoverable amount of those intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. There was no indication of impairment as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

17. OTHER ASSETS
December 31
2021

2020

$ 22,228
9,121
1,306
2

$ 18,306
21,042
2,159
2

$ 32,657

$ 41,509

$

5,403
3,065

$

4,176
3,065

$

8,468

$

7,241

Current
Excess VAT paid
Prepayments for purchases
Prepayments
Others

Non-current
Prepayments for equipment
Refundable deposits

18. BORROWINGS
Long-term Borrowings
December 31
2021

2020

$ 536,000

$ 536,000

Secured borrowings
Bank loans

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the effective interest rates of the bank borrowings secured by the
Company’s freehold land and buildings (see Note 31) was 1.24%. Such loans are due in May 6, 2040 and
June 24, 2040, respectively.
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19. TRADE PAYABLES
December 31
2021

2020

Trade payable
Operating

$ 122,583

$

6,161

20. OTHER PAYABLES
December 31
2021
Payables for marketing fees
Clinical trial expenses
Trial production expenses
Payables for materials
Royalties
Payables on equipment
Others

2020

$

26,798
19,883
6,969
1,053
10,294

$

148,462
83,619
48,071
80,883
4,416
19,335

$

64,997

$ 384,786

21. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
Defined Contribution Plans
The Company adopted a pension plan under the Labor Pension Act (LPA), which is a state-managed
defined contribution plan. Under the LPA, an entity makes monthly contributions to employees’ individual
pension accounts at 6% of monthly salaries and wages.

22. EQUITY
a. Ordinary shares
December 31

Number of shares authorized (in thousands)
Shares authorized
Number of shares issued and fully paid (in thousands)
Shares issued

2021

2020

300,000
$ 3,000,000
252,327
$ 2,523,270

300,000
$ 3,000,000
252,223
$ 2,522,230

Ordinary shares change is mainly due to employees’ exercise of their employee share options. Fully
paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of $10, carry one vote per share and carry a right to
dividends.
A total of 20,600 thousand shares of the Company’s shares authorized were reserved for the issuance of
employee share options.
The issuance of ordinary shares for obtaining new drug’s patents and management service are included
in the issued ordinary shares, and 27,060 thousand shares have been issued for this purpose.
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b. Capital surplus
The capital surplus arising from shares issued in excess of par (including share premium from issuance
of ordinary shares) may be used to offset a deficit; in addition, when the Company has no deficit, such
capital surplus may be distributed as cash dividends or transferred to share capital (limited to a certain
percentage of the Company’s capital surplus and once a year).
The capital surplus from employee share options may not be used for any purpose.
c. Retained earnings and dividend policy
Under the dividend policy as set forth in the amended Articles, where the Company made profit in a
fiscal year, the profit shall be first utilized for paying taxes, offsetting losses of previous years, setting
aside as legal reserve 10% of the remaining profit, setting aside or reversing a special reserve in
accordance with the laws and regulations, and then any remaining profit together with any undistributed
retained earnings shall be used by the Company’s board of directors as the basis for proposing a
distribution plan, which should be resolved in the shareholders’ meeting for distribution of dividends
and bonus to shareholders. For the policies on distribution of compensation of employees and
remuneration of directors and supervisors before and after amendment, refer to Note 24(g) of employee
benefits expense.
In principle, cash dividends are limited up to 50% of total dividends distributed. To ensure the
Company has adequate cash for its present and future expansion plans, adjustment of this percentage
may be approved by the shareholders depending on the cash flows, net income and the need for future
expansion.
Appropriation of earnings to the legal reserve shall be made until the legal reserve equals the
Company’s paid-in capital. The legal reserve may be used to offset deficit. If the Company has no
deficit and the legal reserve has exceeded 25% of the Company’s paid-in capital, the excess may be
transferred to capital or distributed in cash.
Under Rule No. 1010012865 and Rule No. 1010047490 issued by the FSC and the directive titled
“Questions and Answers for Special Reserves Appropriated Following Adoption of IFRSs”, the
Company should appropriate or reverse to a special reserve.
The Company’s shareholders resolved in the shareholders’ meeting on August 26, 2021 to use the
capital surplus - additional paid-in capital in excess of par value of $3,920,669 thousand to offset the
accumulated deficit.
d. Other equity
1) Exchange differences on translation of the financial statements of foreign operations
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Balance at January 1
Exchange differences on translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations

$ (16,578)

$ (10,589)

(3,017)

(5,989)

Balance at December 31

$ (19,595)

$ (16,578)
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2) Unrealized gain (loss) on financial assets at FVTOCI
2021

2020

Balance at January 1
Recognized for the year
Unrealized gain (loss)

$ (1,024)

$ (1,174)

Balance at December 31

$ (16,375)

(15,351)

150
$ (1,024)

23. REVENUE
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from sale of goods
Revenue from rendering of services

$ 540,382
692

$ 666,879
607

$ 541,074

$ 667,486

December 31,
2021

December 31,
2020

January 1,
2020

$ 902,241

$ 788,328

$ 705,165

$

$

$

a. Contract balances

Contract liabilities
Sale of goods
Contract liabilities - current
Contract liabilities - non-current

24,337
877,904

$ 902,241

37,587
750,741

$ 788,328

21,917
683,248

$ 705,165

For trade receivables, see Note 10.
The changes in the balance of contract liabilities primarily result from the timing difference between the
Company’s performance and the respective customer’s payment; there is no other significant changes.
b. The Company signed an “Exclusive Distribution and Marketing Agreement for Ibalizumab
(TMB-355)” with Theratechnologies Inc. on March 18, 2016, which announced a 12-year collaboration
agreement to market and distribute Ibalizumab in the United States and Canada. Theratechnologies Inc.
paid US$1,000 thousand in March 2016 according to the agreement.
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The milestone payments of the agreement were as follows:
Milestone Date
Upfront payment

Execution date

Marketing approval
milestone payment
Commercial launch
milestone payment
New route of
administration
milestone payment
Sales milestone
payment

Marketing approval date

Transfer price

Sales date of drug

First commercial sale date
First commercial sale date
of new route of
administration
Milestone date for each net
sales achievement

Milestone Payment
US$1,000 thousand in cash and US$1,000
thousand in Theratechnologies Inc.’s ordinary
shares (to be received after the date on which
the first commercial sale is achieved)
US$2,000 thousand in Theratechnologies Inc.’s
ordinary shares
US$1,000 thousand in Theratechnologies Inc.’s
ordinary shares
US$3,000 thousand in cash and an additional
payment in cash without exceeding
US$50,000 thousand
From US$7,000 thousand to US$100,000
thousand in cash for each net sales
achievement
US$5,500 thousand in cash (to be received
quarterly according to the sales) and 52% of
net sales price

c. The Company signed an amended and restated agreement of the “Exclusive Distribution and Marketing
Agreement for Ibalizumab (TMB-355)” with Theratechnologies Inc. on March 6, 2017, which granted
Theratechnologies Inc. the exclusive rights to commercialize TMB-355 in the European markets.
According to the agreement, Theratechnologies Inc. issued and delivered 906,077 of Theratechnologies
Inc.’s ordinary shares to the Company (equivalent to US$3,000 thousand) in March 2017.
The milestone payments of the agreement were as follows:
Milestone Date
Upfront payment

Execution date

Marketing approval
milestone payment

Marketing approval date

Commercial launch
milestone payment

First commercial sale date

Sales milestone
payment

Milestone date for each net
sales achievement

Transfer price

Sale date of drug
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Milestone Payment
906,077 ordinary shares of Theratechnologies
Inc. (equivalent to US$3,000 thousand)
50% of the development costs mandated by the
European Medicines Agency (EMA) to obtain
marketing approval
US$10,000 thousand in cash (US$5,000
thousand one year after launch; and another
US$5,000 thousand one year after first
reaching European net sales of US$50,000
thousand over four consecutive financial
quarters)
From US$10,000 thousand to US$50,000
thousand in cash for each net sales
achievement
From 52% to 57% of net sales price

24. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
a. Interest income
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Bank deposits

$

3,995

$

7,983

b. Other income
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Rental income
Others

$

3,166
919

$

4,945
31

$

4,085

$

4,976

c. Other gains and losses
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Net gain (loss) on fair value changes of financial assets at fair
value through profit
Net foreign exchange (losses) gains
Gains on disposals of property, plant and equipment
Others

$ 26,757
(11,436)
11
(632)

$ (63,128)
2,280
1,374
(630)

$ 14,700

$ (60,104)

d. Finance cost
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Interest on bank loans
Interest on lease liabilities
Others

$

7,118
321
5

$

3,742
339
7

$

7,444

$

4,088

e. Depreciation and amortization
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investment properties
Intangible assets

$

55,578
2,059
623
98,400

$ 156,660
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$

44,965
2,058
623
92,136

$ 139,782

For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
An analysis of depreciation by function
Operating expenses
Other gains and losses

An analysis of amortization by function
Operating costs
Operating expenses

$

57,637
623

$

47,023
623

$

58,260

$

47,646

$

93,866
4,534

$

89,473
2,663

$

98,400

$

92,136

f. Employee benefits expense
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Operating expenses
Other employee benefits
Salary
Insurance
Remuneration of director
Meal expenses
Others

$

Defined contribution plans
Share-based payments

An analysis of employee benefits expense by function
Operating expenses

85,872
7,864
3,974
2,186
2,994
102,890
3,879
11,515

$

78,585
8,260
3,695
2,020
2,697
95,257
3,632
12,929

$ 118,284

$ 111,818

$ 118,284

$ 111,818

g. Compensation of employees and remuneration of directors
The Company accrued compensation of employees and remuneration of directors at the rates no less
than 1% and no higher than 2%, respectively, of net profit before income tax, compensation of
employees, and remuneration of directors.
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the bonus to employees and the remuneration of
directors were both zero since the Company had no distributable earnings in 2021 and 2020.
Information on the compensation of employees and remuneration of directors resolved by the
Company’s board of directors is available at the Market Observation Post System website of the Taiwan
Stock Exchange.
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h. Gains or losses on foreign currency exchange
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Foreign exchange gains
Foreign exchange losses

$ 18,609
(30,045)

$ 10,613
(8,333)

$ (11,436)

$

2,280

25. INCOME TAX
a. Income tax recognized in profit or loss
Major components of income tax expense (benefit) are as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Current tax
In respect of the current year
Deferred tax
Loss carryforwards

$ (68,730)

$ (24,035)

68,730

Income tax expense (benefit) recognized in profit or loss

$

24,035

-

$

-

b. Deductible temporary differences, unused loss carryforwards and unused investment credits for which
no deferred tax assets have been recognized in the balance sheets
December 31
2021
Loss carryforwards
Expire in 2021
Expire in 2022
Expire in 2023
Expire in 2024
Expire in 2025
Expire in 2026
Expire in 2027
Expire in 2028
Expire in 2029
Expire in 2030
Expire in 2031

$

Investment credits
Research and development
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188,124
261,308
327,099
464,802
225,499
526,961
243,888
214,441
65,016
343,648

2020

$

138,071
188,124
261,308
327,099
464,802
225,499
526,961
243,888
214,441
30,847
-

$ 2,860,786

$ 2,621,040

$

$

693,701

441,739

December 31
2021
Temporary differences
Investment loss
Unrealized gross sales profit with associates
Inventory write-downs
Clinical trial expenses
Foreign exchange
Amortization of intangible assets

2020

$

227,427
192,177
76,525
37,929
22,877
4,819

$

237,162
99,325
44,688
63,452
10,613
(13,357)

$

561,754

$

441,883

c. Income tax assessments
The tax returns through 2019 have been assessed by the tax authorities.

26. NET LOSS PER SHARE
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Net loss for the year
Net loss used in the computation of net loss per share

$ (470,933)

$ (183,304)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (in thousands of shares)
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in computation of net
loss per share

252,276

252,200

Diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share in 2021 and 2020 because employee share
options were anti-dilutive due to the net loss.
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27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS
Employee Share Options

Issuance Date

Number of
Options (In
Thousands)

2011.12
2012.12
2014.01
2015.01
2016.01
2016.12
2018.01
2018.04
2018.12
2019.12
2020.11
2021.01
2021.12

1,500
1,935
1,642
1,603
1,064
859
883
164
995
830
17
759
626

Subscription
Share
Per Unit
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share
1 share

Option
Life

Options Granted
Period

Exercisable
Percentage

10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years

Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1

Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1
Note 1

Note 1:
Options Granted Period

Exercisable
Percentage

The expiry of two years
The expiry of three years
The expiry of four years

50%
75%
100%

For any subsequent changes in the Company’s ordinary common shares, the exercise price and number of
options are adjusted accordingly.
Information about employee share options granted in 2021 and 2020 was as follows:
2021
Number of
Options (In
Thousands)

2020

Weightedaverage
Exercise Price
(NT$)

Number of
Options (In
Thousands)

Weightedaverage
Exercise Price
(NT$)

Balance, beginning of year
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited

5,913
1,385
(104)
(780)

$ 150.78
78.74
45.25
157.53

6,408
17
(33)
(479)

$ 152.12
90.00
58.94
172.85

Balance, end of year

6,414

136.12

5,913

150.78

Options exercisable, end of year

4,412

150.37

4,258

150.35

The exercise price and number of options were adjusted accordingly for the changes in the Company’s
ordinary common shares.
The weighted-average share prices at the date of exercise of share options for the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020 were NT$71.63 and NT$85.09, respectively.
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Information about outstanding options as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows:
December 31
2021

Range of
Exercise Price
(NT$)
Granted in 2011
Granted in 2012
Granted in 2014
Granted in 2015
Granted in 2016
Granted in 2016
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2019
Granted in 2020
Granted in 2021
Granted in 2021

$

33.3
45.6
75.6
139.2
237.0
166.5
186.5
310.0
160.5
120.0
90.0
85.2
70.9

2020

Weightedaverage
Remaining
Contractual Life
(Years)
1 year
2 years
3 years
4 years
5 years
6 years
6 years 4 months
7 years
8 years
8 years 11 months
9 years
10 years

Weightedaverage
Remaining
Contractual Life
(Years)

Range of
Exercise Price
(NT$)
$

33.3
45.6
75.6
139.2
237.0
166.5
186.5
310.0
160.5
120.0
90.0
-

1 year
2 years
3 years
4 years
5 years
6 years
7 years
7 years 4 months
8 years
9 years
9 years 11 months
-

Options granted during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were priced using the Black-Scholes
pricing model and the inputs to the model were as follows:
Grant-date
Share Price
(NT$)
Granted in 2011
Granted in 2012
Granted in 2014
Granted in 2015
Granted in 2016
Granted in 2016
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2018
Granted in 2019
Granted in 2020
Granted in 2021
Granted in 2021

$38.40
47.04
73.20
142.60
237.00
166.50
186.50
310.00
160.50
99.10
87.10
84.50
70.20

Exercise
Price
(NT$)
$33.3
45.6
75.6
139.2
237.0
166.5
186.5
310.0
160.5
120.0
90.0
85.2
70.9

Expected
Volatility

Expected
Life
(Years)

Expected
Dividend
Yield

Risk-free
Interest
Rate

36%
50%
31.7%
26%
39%
32%
30%
35%
35%
32%
35%
35%
38%

5 years
7 years
7 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years
2-4 years

-

0.62%
1.02%
1.40%
0.92%
0.60%
0.84%
0.53%
0.63%
0.52%
0.50%
0.20%
0.20%
0.40%

Compensation costs of the above employee share options were $11,515 thousand and $12,929 thousand in
2021 and 2020, respectively. In addition, the compensation costs recognized by the Company’s overseas
subsidiary were $(1,293) thousand and $3,751 thousand in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

28. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company needs funding to deal with sales and development of the new drugs. The Company manages
its capital to ensure that entities in the Company will be able to meet the demand of capital expenditures,
research and development expenses and other expenses for the next 12 months.
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The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Fair values of financial instruments
Financial instruments held by the Company which were not carried at fair value are stated at amounts
that approximate fair value; management believes the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognized in the financial statements approximate their fair values.
b. Fair value of financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis
1) Fair value hierarchy
December 31, 2021
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Financial assets at FVTPL
Foreign listed shares and
emerging market shares

$ 195,700

$

-

$

-

$ 195,700

$

-

$

-

$

8,580
28,352

$

8,580
28,352

$

-

$

-

$

36,932

$

36,932

Financial assets at FVTOCI
Investments in equity
instruments at FVTOCI
Foreign unlisted shares
Domestic unlisted shares

December 31, 2020
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Financial assets at FVTPL
Foreign listed shares and
emerging market shares

$ 168,943

$

-

$

-

$ 168,943

$

-

$

-

$

16,613
17,440

$

16,613
17,440

$

-

$

-

$

34,053

$

34,053

Financial assets at FVTOCI
Investments in equity
instruments at FVTOCI
Foreign unlisted shares
Domestic unlisted shares

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current and prior periods.
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2) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial instruments
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Financial assets
Balance at January 1
Purchases
Recognized in other comprehensive income (included in
unrealized gain (loss) on financial assets at FVTOCI)

$ 34,053
18,230

Balance at December 31

$ 36,932

$ 17,290
16,613

(15,351)

150
$ 34,053

c. Categories of financial instruments
December 31
2021

2020

$ 1,489,836
195,700
36,932

$ 1,661,931
168,943
34,053

777,248

944,866

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortized cost (1)
Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at FVTOCI
Financial liabilities
Amortized cost (2)

1) The balances included financial assets at amortized cost, which comprise cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables (including related parties), time deposit, with original maturity of more
than 3 months and refundable deposits.
2) The balances included financial liabilities at amortized cost, which comprise long-term borrowings,
trade and other payables (including related parties) and guarantee deposits received.
d. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Company’s major financial instruments include equity investments, receivables, payables, and
long-term borrowings. The Company aims to manage the market risks relating to the operations of the
Company to achieve financial risk management objectives. These risks include market risk (including
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Company seeks
to minimize the effects of these risks by identifying, evaluating, and hedging the uncertainties.
The Company’s major financial activities are reviewed by the board of directors according to the
policies and internal control programs. The Company complies with the whole financial operating
procedures of financial risk management and division of responsibility in the period of executing
financial plans.
1) Market risk
The Company’s activities exposed it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates (see (a) below) and interest rates (see (b) below).
There has been no change to the Company’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which these
risks were managed and measured.
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a) Foreign currency risk
The Company had foreign currency transactions, which exposed the Company to foreign
currency risk. The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary
assets and monetary liabilities (including those eliminated on consolidation) are set out in
Note 34.
Sensitivity analysis
The Company was mainly exposed to the U.S. dollars and EUR dollars.
The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in New
Taiwan dollars against the foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
included only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
positive number below indicates an increase in pre-tax profit associated with New Taiwan
dollars appreciate 5% against the relevant currency.
USD Impact
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Profit or loss

$ 22,726

$

EUR Impact
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020

5,998

$

4,495

$

6,113

This was mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on U.S. dollars and EUR dollars cash,
receivables, other payables and other financial assets which were not hedged at the end of the
reporting period.
In management’s opinion, sensitivity analysis was unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the reporting period did not reflect the
exposure during the period.
b) Interest rate risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk due to demand deposits and time deposits at
floating interest rates. The changes in market rates will change the effective interest rate of
financial instruments and may result in fluctuations in future cash flows.
December 31
2021
Fair value interest rate risk
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
Cash flow interest rate risk
Financial assets

$
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2020

859,489
567,323

$ 1,052,569
569,251

34,796

56,025

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below were determined based on the Company’s exposure to interest
rates for non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate assets,
the analysis was prepared assuming the amount of the assets outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 1 basis point increase or decrease was
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
If interest rates had been 1 basis point higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Company’s pre-tax profit for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 would have
increased/decreased by $3 thousand and $6 thousand, respectively, which was mainly
attributable to the Company’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate cash in bank.
c) Other price risk
The Company was exposed to equity price risk through its investments in listed equity
securities. The Company does not actively trade these investments. The Company’s equity price
risk was mainly concentrated on equity instruments operating in Biotechnology and Medical
industry sector quoted in Toronto Stock Exchange.
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below was determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
end of the reporting period.
If equity prices had been 5% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Company’s pre-tax profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 would have
decreased/increased by $9,785 thousand and $8,447 thousand, respectively. The Company’s
pre-tax other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 would
have increased/decreased by $1,847 thousand and $1,703 thousand, respectively, which would
have been mainly attributable to the Company’s exposure to variable fair value of its financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.
2) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Company. At the end of the reporting period, the Company’s maximum
exposure to credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the Company due to failure of
counterparties to discharge an obligation, could equal the carrying amount of financial assets.
The Company adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. In order to
mitigate credit risk exposure, the Company has established an internal monitoring procedure to
monitor the condition of payment according to contracts and obtain sufficient credit condition of
counterparties.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s total trade receivables were derived from the
top two clients on which the Company’s credit risk is mainly concentrated.
3) Liquidity risk
The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring and maintaining a level of cash, cash
equivalents and high-liquidity securities deemed adequate to ensure the Company’s financial
flexibility. The Company’s management monitors the utilization of bank borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.
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The Company relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of liquidity.
For the unused financing quota of the Company, refer to the description of the financing quota
below.
The following table details the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The tables had been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities from the earliest date on which the Company can be
required to pay. The tables included both interest and principal cash flows.
December 31, 2021
On Demand
or Less than
1 Month

1-3 Months

3 Months to
1 Year

1-5 Years

5+ Years

$ 136,750
$
8,994
$
-

$ 458,977
$ 22,486
$
-

Non-derivative
financial liabilities
Long-term borrowings
Lease liabilities
Non-interest bearing

$
$
$

554
187
20,620

$
$
$

1,108
375
41,980

$
$
$

4,985
1,686
2,397

Additional information about the maturity analysis of lease liabilities:

Lease liabilities

Less than
1 Year

1-5 Years

5-10
Years

10-15
Years

15-20
Years

$ 2,248

$ 8,994

$ 11,243

$ 11,243

$

20+ Years
-

$

-

December 31, 2020
On Demand
or Less than
1 Month

1-3 Months

$
554
$
187
$ 198,205

$
1,108
$
375
$ 117,288

3 Months to
1 Year

1-5 Years

5+ Years

$ 106,510
$
8,994
$
-

$ 495,864
$ 24,734
$
-

Non-derivative
financial liabilities
Long-term borrowings
Lease liabilities
Non-interest bearing

$
$
$

4,985
1,686
86,354

Additional information about the maturity analysis of lease liabilities:

Lease liabilities

Less than
1 Year

1-5 Years

5-10
Years

10-15
Years

$ 2,248

$ 8,994

$ 11,243

$ 13,491
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15-20
Years
$

20+ Years
-

$

-

Financing quota
December 31
2021
Unsecured bank borrowings facility:
Amount used
Amount unused

$

Secured bank borrowings facility:
Amount used
Amount unused

2020

120,000

$

120,000

$ 120,000

$ 120,000

$ 536,000
130,000

$ 536,000
130,000

$ 666,000

$ 666,000

30. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
Besides information disclosed elsewhere in the other notes, details of transactions between the Company
and other related parties are disclosed below.
a. Related party name and category
Related Party Name
Aaron Diamond AIDS Research Center
(ADARC)
Dr. David Ho
TaiMed Biologics USA, Corp.
RenBio, Inc. (RenBio)
Testing Facility for Biological Safety
Bioscience, Inc (TFBS)

Related Party Category
The CEO of ADARC is also the co-founder of the
Company
Co-founder of the Company
Subsidiary of the Company
The major shareholder of RenBio is also the major
shareholder of the Company
The Company is one of the management team
member of TFBS

b. Net revenue
December 31
Line Item
Net revenue

Related Party Category/Name
Subsidiaries/TaiMed Biologics USA, Corp.

2021

2020

$ 496,146

$ 526,704

c. Receivables from related parties
December 31
Line Item
Trade receivables
- related parties

Related Party Category/Name
Subsidiaries/TaiMed Biologics USA, Corp.
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2021

2020

$ 474,979

$ 424,300

d. Payables to related parties
December 31
Line Item
Other payables

Related Party Category/Name
Subsidiaries/TaiMed Biologics USA, Corp.
Others/TFBS

2021

2020

$

47,841
4,959

$

17,061
-

$

52,800

$

17,061

The outstanding trade payables from related parties are unsecured.
e. Acquisition of financial assets
For the year ended December 31, 2021
Related Party
Category/Name
TFBS

Line Item
Financial asset at fair
value through other
comprehensive
income - noncurrent
Financial asset at fair
value through other
comprehensive
income - noncurrent

RenBio

Number of
Shares

Underlying
Assets

Purchase
Price

442,260

Stock of TFBS
Inc.

$

6,634

208,333

Stock of RenBio
Inc.

$

11,596

f. Acquisition of other assets

Related Party
Category/Name
Others/ADARC

Line Item
Intangible assets

Purchase Price
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
$

3,501

$

-

g. Other transactions with related parties

Line Item

Related Party Category/Name

Services expense (recognized Subsidiaries/TaiMed Biologics
as research and
USA, Corp.
development expenses)
Others/TFBS

Consultant fees

Others/Dr. David Ho
Others/RenBio
Others/ADARC

- 50 -

For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
$

47,485

$

9,942

61,597
-

$

57,427

$

61,597

$

6,810
-

$

7,337
7,336
1,927

$

6,810

$

16,600

h. Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel were as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
2020
Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share-based payments

$ 19,671
324
8,353

$ 18,943
297
10,364

$ 28,348

$ 29,604

The remuneration of directors and key executives was determined by the remuneration committee based
on the performance of individuals and market trends.

31. ASSETS PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL OR FOR SECURITY
The following assets have been applied to the deposits of leased land, line of credit application, and
long-term borrowings.
December 31

Land
Property, plant and equipment, net
Investment properties
Pledge deposits

2021

2020

$ 194,605
414,936
202,723
2,589

$ 194,605
441,358
203,346
2,569

$ 814,853

$ 841,878

32. OTHER ITEMS
The Company is mainly engaged in research, development and sale of new AIDS drugs that have no
conflict with the treatment of COVID-19. Because COVID-19 and AIDS are categorized as viral infectious
diseases under the division of infectious disease of hospital, the number of new patients taking the
Company’s new AIDS drugs has been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, sales in recent
years have not been as good as expected. The Company continues to develop different types of injectable
dosage forms, and licenses in other regions in order to expand the market and increase future sales.

33. SIGNIFICANT CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND UNRECOGNIZED COMMITMENTS
a. Significant contingent liabilities: None
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b. Unrecognized commitments
In addition to those disclosed in other notes, significant commitments and contingencies of the Group as
of December 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:
1) Acquisition of new drugs’ exclusive rights and commitments
Items
1

Holders
Genentech Inc. (America)

Exclusive License
Agreements
TMB-355 Ibalizumab
(intravenous injection
formulation)

First License Fees
US$10,000
thousand

License Fees and
Other Commitments Per Milestone
1) US$5,000-US$10,000 thousand per milestone
2) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
(Note)
3) After achieving the coordination conditions in March 11,
2020, there is no payment obligation

2

Genentech Inc. (America)

TMB-355 Ibalizumab
(subcutaneous injection
treatment formulation)

Included in Item 1

Included in Item 1 (Note)

3

Genentech Inc. (America)

TMB-355 Ibalizumab
(subcutaneous injection
prevention formulation)

Included in Item 1

Included in Item 1 (Note)

4

Biogen Inc. (America)

Anti-CD4 monoclonal
antibodies

-

1) US$100-US$3,000 thousand per milestone
2) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
(Note)
3) No other payment obligations in the future after fulfilling
the reformed conditions starting from March 11, 2020

5

Rockefeller University
(America)

LM-52 (TMB-365)

US$50 thousand

1) Patent maintenance expenditure increases annually from
US$20 thousand to US$80 thousand
2) US$200-US$2,000 thousand per milestone
3) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
4) Sublicensing royalty is based on a particular percentage of
each milestone licensed amount

6

7

Aaron Diamond AIDS
Research Center
(America)

National Institute of Allergy
and Infectious Diseases

Bispecific Antibodies
(TMB-370)

VRC07-523LS
(TMB-380)

US$100 thousand
and 40 thousand
shares of
ordinary shares
or the equivalent
value of cash

1) Particular amount of cash per milestone

US$140 thousand

1) US$20-US$10,000 thousand per milestone

2) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
3) Sublicensing royalty is based on a particular percentage of
each milestone licensed amount

2) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
8

Columbia University
(America)

TMB-200 COVID-19

US$250 thousand

1) US$500-US$6,000 thousand per milestone
2) Sales royalty is based on a particular percentage of sales
3) Sublicensing royalty is based on a particular percentage of
each milestone licensed amount

Items 1-4 TMB-355 exclusive license agreement
In September 2007, the Company entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with Genentech
Inc. (America), a corporation organized under the laws of the United States of America, for its
Anti-CD4 Antibody technique and patent. Under the terms of the exclusive agreement, the
Company obtained the exclusive rights to develop and commercialize TMB-355 and other anti-CD4
monoclonal antibodies in the treatment of human immunodeficiency virus (“HIV”) infection.
Before signing the agreement with the Company, Genentech Inc. (America) also signed an
Exclusive License Agreement for Anti-CD4 monoclonal antibodies with Biogen Inc., a corporation
organized under the laws of the United States of America. Consequently, the Company generally
accepted the agreement and will pay royalties to Biogen Inc. The royalties are based on research
progress. However, the patent authorized in the agreement expired on April 15, 2015.
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The Company reached an agreement with Genentech and Biogen Inc. on the research and
development milestones of the new AIDS drug Trogarzo (TMB-355), European and American
listing milestones, and sales sharing royalty payments on March 11, 2020. The Company has
fulfilled the terms of the agreement by the first quarter of 2021. Hence, there will be no other
payment obligations in the future.
Item 5 LM-52
The subsidiary TMB USA signed the “LM-52 License Agreement” with Rockefeller University in
March 2012 which will be used in researching and developing TMB-355 Ibalizumab second
generation (named LM-52). The subsidiary TMB USA transferred the technology back to the
Company in December 2013. The R&D program of combination therapy with TMB-365.
Item 6 Bispecific Antibodies exclusive license agreement
In March 2017, the Company signed an Exclusive License Agreement for Bispecific Antibodies
with Aaron Diamond AIDS Research Center. This technique will be used for research and
development of the third generation of TMB-355. Based on the overall business strategy and
resource concentration considerations, the board of directors decided to authorize the chairman to
terminate the TMB-370 new drug R&D program at an appropriate time.
Item 7 VRC07-523LS Global non-exclusive license agreement
The subsidiary TMB USA signed the “VRC07-523LS Global Non-exclusive License Agreement”
with National Institute of Health for its AIDS antibody technique. The technique will be used to
research and develop the R&D Program of combination therapy with TMB-365.
Item 8 TMB-200 COVID-19 Global exclusive license agreement
On August 25, 2020, the Company signed a Global Exclusive License of Monoclonal Antibodies
Agreement with Columbia University for the prevention and the treatment of COVID-19. The
technique will be used in researching, developing and producing the antibodies against COVID-19
virus. In addition, the board of directors resolved to terminate the development of TMB-200 on
March 5, 2021; instead, the board of directors invested in RenBio Inc. to participate in the
development of COVID-19 antibody cocktail treatments.
2) Contract manufacturing organization (CMO)
TMB-355
In 2012, the Company authorized Wuxi Biologics to produce TMB-355.
In 2018, the Company authorized Samsung Biologics to produce TMB-355.

34. EXCHANGE RATE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DENOMINATED IN
FOREIGN CURRENCIES
The following information was aggregated by the foreign currencies other than functional currencies of the
Company entities and the exchange rates between foreign currencies and respective functional currencies
were disclosed.
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The significant assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies were as follows:
December 31, 2021
Foreign
Currency
(In Thousands)

Exchange Rate

Carrying
Amount

27.68 (USD:NTD)
31.32 (EUR:NTD)

$ 635,983
118,731

Financial assets
Monetary items
USD
EUR

$

22,976
3,791

$ 754,714
Non-monetary items
Financial assets at FVTPL - non-current
CAD
Financial assets at FVTOCI - non-current
USD

9,052

21.62 (CAD:NTD)

$ 195,700

310

27.68 (USD:NTD)

$

6,556
921

27.68 (USD:NTD)
31.32 (EUR:NTD)

$ 181,460
28,838

8,580

Financial liabilities
Monetary items
USD
EUR

$ 210,298
December 31, 2020
Foreign
Currency
(In Thousands)

Exchange Rate

Carrying
Amount

28.48 (USD:NTD)
35.02 (EUR:NTD)

$ 454,830
124,282

Financial assets
Monetary items
USD
EUR

$

15,970
3,549

$ 579,112
Non-monetary items
Financial assets at FVTPL - non-current
CAD
Financial assets at FVTOCI - non-current
USD
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7,559

22.35 (CAD:NTD)

$ 168,943

583

28.48 (USD:NTD)

$

16,613

Foreign
Currency
(In Thousands)

Exchange Rate

Carrying
Amount

28.48 (USD:NTD)
35.02 (EUR:NTD)

$ 334,880
2,024

Financial liabilities
Monetary items
USD
EUR

$

11,758
58

$ 336,904
Non-monetary items
Investments accounted for using the equity
method
USD

1,708

28.48 (USD:NTD)

$

48,655

The significant (realized and unrealized) foreign exchange gains (losses) were as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31
2021
Foreign
Currency
USD
EUR

Exchange Rate

2020
Net Foreign
Exchange Gain
(Loss)

28.01 (USD:NTD)
33.16 (EUR:NTD)

$

1,669
(13,105)

$ (11,436)

Exchange Rate

Net Foreign
Exchange Gain
(Loss)

29.549 (USD:NTD)
35.02 (EUR:NTD)

$ (2,960)
5,240
$

2,280

35. SEPARATELY DISCLOSED ITEMS
a. Information about significant transactions and investees:
1) Financing provided to others: None
2) Endorsements/guarantees provided: None
3) Marketable securities held: Table 1
4) Marketable securities acquired and disposed at costs or prices at least NT$300 million or 20% of the
paid-in capital: None
5) Acquisition of individual real estate at costs of at least NT$300 million or 20% of the paid-in
capital: None
6) Disposal of individual real estate at prices of at least NT$300 million or 20% of the paid-in capital:
None
7) Total purchases from or sales to related parties amounting to at least NT$100 million or 20% of the
paid-in capital: Table 2
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8) Receivables from related parties amounting to at least NT$100 million or 20% of the paid-in
capital: Table 3
9) Trading in derivative instruments: None
10) Information on investees: Table 4
b. Information on investments in mainland China
1) Information on any investee company in mainland China, showing the name, principal business
activities, paid-in capital, method of investment, inward and outward remittance of funds,
ownership percentage, net income of investees, investment income or loss, carrying amount of the
investment at the end of the period, repatriations of investment income, and limit on the amount of
investment in the mainland China area: None
2) Any of the following significant transactions with investee companies in mainland China, either
directly or indirectly through a third party, and their prices, payment terms, and unrealized gains or
losses: None
c. Information of major shareholders: List all shareholders with ownership of 5% or greater showing the
name of the shareholder, the number of shares owned, and percentage of ownership of each
shareholder: Table 5
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TABLE 1

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
MARKETABLE SECURITIES HELD
DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise)

Holding Company Name

TaiMed Biologics Inc.

Type and Name of Marketable
Securities
TFBS Bioscience, Inc.
Theratechnologies Inc.
RenBio Inc.

Note:

Relationship with the Holding
Company
The shareholder of the company is also
the co-founder of the Company

Financial Statement Account

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The fair value was measured under the exchange rate at the end of reporting period.
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Shares
2,006,520
2,369,582
500,000

December 31, 2021
Carrying
Percentage of
Amount
Ownership
$

28,352

6.64

195,700
8,580

2.49
2.68

Fair Value
$

Note

28,352

-

195,700
8,580

Note
-

TABLE 2

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
TOTAL PURCHASES FROM OR SALES TO RELATED PARTIES AMOUNTING TO AT LEAST NT$100 MILLION OR 20% OF THE PAID-IN CAPITAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise)

Transaction Details
Buyer

TaiMed Biologics Inc.

Note:

Related Party

TaiMed Biologics USA Corp.

Relationship

Parent company to subsidiary

Purchase/
Sale
Sale

Amount
$ 496,146

The transaction above has been eliminated on consolidation.
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% of
Total

Abnormal Transaction
Payment Terms

91.70 Credit on 120 days

Unit Price
$

-

Payment Terms
-

Notes/Accounts
Receivable (Payable)
Ending
% of
Balance
Total
$ 474,979

82.04

Note

-

TABLE 3

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
RECEIVABLES FROM RELATED PARTIES AMOUNTING TO AT LEAST NT$100 MILLION OR 20% OF THE PAID-IN CAPITAL
DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise)

Overdue
Company Name

TaiMed Biologics Inc.

Related Party

TaiMed Biologics USA Corp.

Relationship

Subsidiary

Ending Balance

Turnover
Rate

$ 474,979

1.1
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Amount

$

Actions Taken

-

-

Amount
Received in
Subsequent
Period
$

33,249

Allowance for
Impairment
Loss
$

-

TABLE 4

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
INFORMATION ON INVESTEES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise)

Investor Company

TaiMed Biologics Inc.

Investee Company

TaiMed Biologics USA Corp.

Location

4790 Irvine Blvd. Suite 105-697 Irvine, CA 92620

Main Businesses and
Products

Research and development

Original Investment Amount
(Note B)
December 31, December 31,
2021
2020
$ 295,044

$ 295,044

Net Income
(Gross) of the
Investee
Carrying Value
(Note A)

As of December 31, 2021
Shares
9,100,000

%
100

$

-

$

9,735

Share of
Profits (Loss)
(Note A)
$

9,735

Note

Note C

Note A: TaiMed Biologics USA Corp. was based on audited financial statements as of December 31, 2021.
Note B: The investment amounts were based on historical exchange rates.
Note C: The carrying amount is expressed as the original amount of investment reversed to zero. The carrying amount is $136,082 thousand, which is the credit amount of investment accounted for using the equity method because the unrealized profit of $256,620 thousand from TaiMed Biologics
USA Corp. was recognized.
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TABLE 5

TAIMED BIOLOGICS INC.
INFORMATION OF MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
DECEMBER 31, 2021

Name of Major Shareholder

National Development Fund, Executive Yuan
Huihong Investment Co., Ltd.

Note:

Shares
Number of
Percentage of
Shares
Ownership (%)
39,932,000
18,115,895

15.82
7.18

The information of major shareholders presented in this table is provided by the Taiwan Depository &
Clearing Corporation based on the number of ordinary shares and preference shares held by
shareholders with ownership of 5% or greater, that have been issued without physical registration
(including treasury shares) by the Company as of the last business day for the current quarter. The share
capital in the consolidated financial statements may differ from the actual number of shares that have
been issued without physical registration because of different preparation basis.

- 61 -

